Mechanisms of Hormone-Independence in Human Breast Cancer Cells

by

Amanda Coutts

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of Doctorate of Philosophy

> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Faculty of Medicine University of Manitoba

> > (c) October, 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your Ne Votre rélérence

Our file. Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-51634-2

Canadä

THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES ***** COPYRIGHT PERMISSION PAGE

Mechanisms of Hormone-Independence in Human Breast Cancer Cells

BY

Amanda Coutts

A Thesis/Practicum submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University

of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of

Doctor of Philosophy

Amanda Coutts©1999

Permission has been granted to the Library of The University of Manitoba to lend or sell copies of this thesis/practicum, to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and to Dissertations Abstracts International to publish an abstract of this thesis/practicum.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither this thesis/practicum nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

1

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. L.C. Murphy for her support and mentorship during the course of my studies and completion of my PhD. In addition I would like to thank the members of my PhD thesis committee, Dr. J. Davie, Dr. K. Wrogemann, Dr. R. Shiu and Dr. C. Lazier. Thanks to all the members of Dr. Murphy's lab (past and present), especially Helmut Dotzlaw, Etienne Leygue and Helene Bergen, for their excellent technical assistance, support and helpful discussions. In addition I would like to thank Dr. J. Davie and the members of his laboratory for support, advice and collaboration and all the members of the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.

Thank you Steve for all your continued support and encouragement. Thanks to my friends and family for their patience and understanding and to Warren (and Samantha!) for his computer expertise!

I would also like to thank the University of Manitoba, Manitoba Health Research Council and the Women's Health Research Foundation for support.

Abstract

Breast cancer is a hormonally responsive cancer and hormones, including estrogen, are required for breast cancer growth. The evolution of breast cancer into an estrogenindependent growth phenotype is thought to be an important step in the progression of breast cancer to hormone-independence and endocrine therapy resistance. Understanding the factors that contribute to the development of an estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype is of major importance in terms of breast cancer therapeutics. Resistance to endocrine therapies may be due to a number of factors, including loss of estrogen receptor-alpha (ER- α) expression, but most tumours that have developed resistance to endocrine therapy remain ER- α positive. The mechanisms responsible for the development of estrogen-independence in the presence of continued expression of ER-a are poorly understood. In order to address this, a breast cancer cell model of apparent estrogen-independence was developed. An estrogennonresponsive cell line, T5-PRF, was developed from T5 (ER- α positive and estrogenresponsive) human breast cancer cells by chronically depleting the cells of estrogen in longterm culture. The T5-PRF cells are insensitive to the growth-stimulatory effects of estrogen while still retaining expression of the ER- α .

The tissue matrix consists of linkages and interactions of the nuclear matrix (NM), cytoskeleton and extracellular matrix. This system is a dynamic structural and functional component of the cell that maintains and coordinates cell function and gene expression. The ER- α is localized to the NM and studies suggest that alterations in NM proteins may influence gene expression. Three proteins (identified as cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19) present in the NM-intermediate filament (NM-IF) fraction were found to be regulated by estrogen in T5

human breast cancer cells. However, T5-PRF, estrogen-nonresponsive cells, overexpressed these three proteins compared to T5 cells, and these proteins were no longer regulated by estrogen in T5-PRF cells. Treating T5 cells with antiestrogens resulted in a significant reduction in these proteins, while no effect was seen in T5-PRF cells, supporting the conclusion that these three NM-IF proteins are regulated by estrogen in T5 human breast cancer cells and may play a role in estrogen action in human breast cancer cells.

T5-PRF cells were also found to have significantly increased ligand-independent ER- α transcriptional activity. In addition, an ER- α mRNA variant with an inframe deletion of exons 3 and 4 was detected in T5-PRF, but not T5, human breast cancer cells. Recombinant expression of this ER- α variant in T5 human breast cancer cells increased estrogen-dependent and -independent reporter gene expression, suggesting that the presence of this ER- α mRNA variant may contribute to an estrogen-independent growth phenotype. Furthermore, T5-PRF human breast cancer cells contained elevated mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity. The MAPK signal transduction pathway can be activated by estrogen in human breast cancer cells and may be involved in the regulation of ER- α transcriptional activity through both ligand-dependent and -independent pathways, suggesting that increased activity of MAPK may contribute to the ligand-independent activity of the ER- α in T5-PRF cells.

In conclusion, T5-PRF human breast cancer cells contain several changes compared to parental T5 cells, which may all contribute to an estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype and affect the transcriptional activity/regulation of the ER- α .

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Abstract	ü
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	x
List of Abbreviations	xi
Introduction	1
Breast Cancer	1
Significance	1
Risk factors	1
Treatment	5
Steroid hormone receptors	8
Structure of the estrogen receptor	8
ER-a mRNA and protein regulation	12
RNA splicing	14
Factors influencing ER- α activity	16
Ligand	16
Estrogen	16
Antiestrogen	18
Nonsteroidal antiestrogens	20
Steroidal antiestrogens	22
Hormone-responsive elements	23
ER-a associated proteins	26
Heat-shock proteins	28
Basal transcription factors/coactivators	29
Corepressors	36
Other associated proteins	38
Phosphorylation	40
Role of hormones in breast cancer	43
Estrogen and breast cancer	44
Protein kinases in breast cancer	46
Mitogen-activated protein kinases	48
Growth factors and their receptors	51
Tissue matrix system	54
Nuclear matrix	56
Cytoskeleton	57
Hormone-independence	57
Hormone-nonresponsive growth	59
Variant ER-a mRNAs	63
Single Exon deleted	66
Multiple exon deleted and other deleted	68

Insertions/duplications	69
Truncations	70
Expression of variant ER- α proteins	70
Functional significance of variant ER- α mRNA	72
Ligand-independent activation of the ER- α	77
Loss of ER-a expression	81
Tamoxifen stimulated growth	84
Alterations in autocrine/paracrine interactions	88
Supersensitivity to estrogen	91
Research Aim	92
Materials and Methods	93
Reagents	93
Cell Culture	96
Growth curves	97
Receptor assays	97
Isolation of nuclear matrix-intermediate filament fraction	99
Preparation of nuclear matrix-intermediate filament samples	100
for electron microscopy	
SDS-PAGE, Coomassie staining and quantitation	101
Protein purification	101
Two-dimensional electrophoresis	102
Western blotting and immune detection	103
NM-IF samples	103
Lamin and ER- α detection	104
Cell extracts	104
ER-a detection	104
MAPK detection	105
PD 98059 treated ER- α detection	106
Transient transfections and CAT assays	107
Long-Range ER-a RT-PCR	108
Identification of PCR products	110
Construction of variant ER- α expression vector	111
In vitro transcription and translation	112
Ligand binding assay using TnT reaction products	112
Gel shift assay	113
MAPK assay	114
Results	116
Identification of estrogen regulated NM-IF proteins	116
Kationale	116
Kesults	116
Variant ER- α expression in estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF	140
human breast cancer cells	
Rationale	140

Results	140
MAPK activity in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	161
Rationale	161
Results	162
Discussion	174
Estrogen regulated NM-IF proteins	174
Variant ER-a expression in estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF	178
human breast cancer cells	
MAPK activity in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	184
Conclusions	188
References	193

.

List of Figures

,

Figure	Title	Page
1.	Breast cancer incidence and mortality rates	2
2.	ER- α mRNA structure and protein functional domains	10
3.	Schematic drawing of estrogen, nonsteroidal antiestrogens and steroidal antiestrogens	19
4.	The MAPK signalling cascade	47
5.	Schematic diagram of variant ER- α cDNA compared to wild-type (WT-ER- α) cDNA	67
6.	Effect of estrogen and antiestrogen on proliferation of T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	118
7.	NM-IF protein profile in T5 human breast cancer cells	121
8.	Electron microscopy of NM-IF preparation	122
9.	Association of ER-a with the NM-IF	124
10.	NM-IF in estrogen-replete and estrogen-deplete conditions	126
11.	Estrogen dose-response effects on NM-IF protein levels in acute estrogen-depleted T5 cells	128
12.	Immune detection of lamin proteins	1 30
13.	Effects of fetal calf serum on NM-IF proteins	131
14.	Effects of antiestrogens on NM-IF proteins in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	133
15.	Dose-dependent effects of antiestrogen on NM-IF proteins in T5 human breast cancer cells	134
16.	Whole cell extracts of T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	135

17.	Two-dimensional electrophoresis of T5 and T47D column fractions	137
18.	Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of T5 whole cell extracts	138
19.	ER-a positive versus ER-a negative NM-IF protein composition	139
20.	Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assay	141
21.	ER-a transcriptional activity	143
22.	Progesterone receptor levels	145
23.	Long-range ER-a RT-PCR	146
24.	Sequence and structure of exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α	148
25.	In vitro transcription/translation and Western blotting of ERd3-4 protein	149
26.	Ligand binding of <i>in vitro</i> transcribed/translated wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 protein	150
27.	Gel mobility shift assay	152
28.	Ex vivo expression of ERd3-4 protein	154
29.	Activity of ERd3-4 in ER- α negative human breast cells	155
30.	Activity of ERd3-4 in T5 human breast cancer cells	158
31.	In vitro basal MAPK activity	163
32.	Western blot of MAPK protein levels under basal conditions	165
33.	In vitro no serum MAPK activity	166
34.	Western blot of MAPK protein levels under no serum conditions	167

35.	Western blot analysis of MAPK protein levels after PD 98059 treatment	169
36.	T5-PRF ER- α transcriptional activity in the presence of PD 98059	170
37.	T5 ER- α transcriptional activity in the presence of PD 98059	171
38.	Effect of MEK inhibitor PD 98059 on ER- α levels in T5 and T5-PRF cells	172
39.	Model for estrogen-dependent and estrogen-independent human breast cancer cells	192

List of Tables

Table	Title	Page
1.	Estrogen-responsive genes and EREs	24
2.	ER-a mutations and polymorphisms in human breast tumours	65
3.	ER- α levels in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells	119
4.	Fold CAT activity in breast cells	157
5.	T5 transfected with ERd3-4 cumulative data	160
6.	Comparison of T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cell lines	189

List of Abbreviations

Acronyms/Abbreviations:

16a-OH	16alpha-Hydroxyestrone
AF	Activation function
AIB1	Amplified in breast cancer 1
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AP-1	Activator protein-1
AT, HAT	Acetyltransferase, histone AT
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bp	Base pair
BRCA1/2	Breast cancer 1/2
С	Carboxyl
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAT	Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase
CBP	CREB binding protein (CBP/p300)
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary
СК	Cytokeratin
СМ	Dulbecco's modified essential medium with 5% FCS
CS	Phenol red free dulbecco's modified essential medium with
	5% charcoal stripped fetal calf serum
СТ	Cholera toxin
СТР	Cytosine triphosphate
DBD	DNA binding domain
DMEM	Dulbecco's minimal essential medium
DNA, cDNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid, complementary DNA
DT	Doubling time
E2, estradiol	17B-Estradiol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF, EGFR	Epidermal growth factor, EGF receptor
ER, ER-a, ER-b, vER	Estrogen receptor, ER-alpha, ER-beta, variant ER
ERE	Estrogen-responsive element
ERAP140	Estrogen receptor-associated protein 140
ERF-1	Estrogen receptor factor 1
ERK	Extracellular signal-related kinase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FCS, CS-FCS	Fetal calf serum, charcoal stripped-FCS
GF	Growth factor
GR, GRIP	Glucocorticoid receptor, GR-interacting protein
Grb2	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2
GTP	Guanosine 5'-triphosphate

h	Human
HBD	Hormone binding domain
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HMG1	High mobility group protein 1
hnRNP	Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein
hs	Horse serum
Hsp	Heat-shock protein
Hydroxytamoxifen, TOT	4-trans-monohydroxytamoxifen
ICI	Imperial Chemical Industries, ICI 164,384
IEF	Isoelectric focusing
IF	Intermediate filament
IGF, IGF-IR	Insulin-like growth factor, IGF-I receptor
LBD	Ligand binding domain
m	Mouse
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEK	Mitogen-activated ERK-activating kinase
M,	Relative molecular mass
N	Amino
N-CoR	Nuclear receptor corepressor
NM	Nuclear matrix
NM-IF	Nuclear matrix-intermediate filament
NR	Nuclear receptor interaction domain (LXXLL, L= lysine,
	X= any amino acid)
Ρ	Phosphate
PD	PD 98059
p/CIP	p300/CBP interacting protein
PCAF	p300/CBP associated factor
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PL.	Pore-lamina
PPAR-γ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma
PR	Progesterone receptor
PRF	Phenol red free
RAP46	Receptor associated protein 46
RAR-a	Retinoic-acid receptor-alpha
ŔFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
RIP140	Receptor-interacting protein 140
RNA, mRNA, pre-mRNA	Ribonucleic acid, messenger RNA, precursor-mRNA
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
RXR	Retinoid-X-receptor
sem	Standard error of the mean
SH2	Src-homology 2

SMRT	Silencing mediator of retinoid and thyroid receptors
SOS	Son of sevenless
SRC-1	Steroid receptor coactivator-1
snRNP	Small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle
TBP, TAF	TATA-box binding protein, TBP-associated factor
TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF	Transcription factor II B/D/E/F
TGF, TGFa, TGFß	Transforming growth factor, TGF alpha, TGF beta
TIF	Transcription intermediary family
tk	Thymidine kinase
TLC	Thin-layer chromatography
TnT	In vitro transcription/translation
TR	Thyroid hormone receptor
WT	Wild-type

Amino acids:

Ala	Alanine
Arg	Arginine
Asn	Asparagine
Asp	Aspartic acid
Glu	Glutamic acid
Gly	Glycine
Ile	Isoleucine
Leu	Leucine
Lys	Lysine
Met	Methionine
Pro	Proline
Ser	Serine
Thr	Threonine
Tvr	Tyrosine
Val	Valine

Chemicals:

AEBSF	4-[2-Aminoethyl]benzenesulfonyl flouride hydrochloride
BES	N,N,bis (2-Hydroxyethyl)-2-aminoethanesulfonic acid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAPS	3-[Cyclohexylamino]-1]propanesulfonic acid
CHAPS	3-[(3-Cholamindopropyl)dimethyl-ammonio]-1- propanesulfonate
DMBA	7,12-Dimethyl-benz[a]anthracene
DNAse I	Deoxyribonuclease I
EDTA	Disodium ethylenediamine tetraacetate disodium salt
EGTA	[Ethylenebis (oxyethylenenitrilo)]tetraacetic acid

HCI	Hydrochloric acid
Hepes	N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulphonic acid)
IBMX	Isobutylmethylxanthine
KCl	Potassium chloride
KH ₂ PO ₄	Potassium phosphate monobasic
MBP	Myelin basic protein
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
MMLV-RT	Moloney murine leukemia virus-reverse transcriptase
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NaHCO ₃	Sodium bicarbonate
Na ₂ HPO ₄	Sodium phosphate dibasic
NaH,PO	Sodium phosphate monobasic
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NMU	N-nitrosomethylurea
ONPG	o-Nitrophenyl β-D-galacto-pyranoside
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PNK	Polynucleotide kinase
PD 98059	2'-Amino-3'-methoxyflavone
R5020	Promegestone
RNAsin	Ribonuclease inhibitor
SDS, SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecylsulfate, SDS-polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
ТРА	12-O-Tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
Tris	Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
Triton X-100	Octyl phenoxy polyethoxythethanol
Tween 20	Polyoxyethylene-sorbitan monolaurate
ZnCl ₂	Zinc chloride
Nucleotides:	
G	Guanine
Α	Adenine
Т	Thymine
C	Cytosine
Units:	
cm ²	Centimeters squared
fmol	Femtomoles
g, mg, µg, ng	Grams, milligrams, micrograms, nanogram

Hour

Kilobases

h

kb

•

kDa	Kilodaltons
L, mL, µL	Litre, millilitre, microlitre
°C	Degrees Celsius
mm	Millimeter
M, mM, μM, nM	Moles/litre (Molar), millimolar, micromolar, nanomolar
pmol	Picomole
rpm	Revolutions per minute
Ŭ	Units
V	Volts
vol	Volume
wt	Weight

-

Introduction

Breast Cancer

Significance

Breast cancer, the most common cancer among women, is the second leading cause of cancer death among all women and the leading cause of death among women aged 40-55 (1,2). A woman's overall lifetime chance of developing breast cancer is one in eight (1). Breast cancer incidence continues to rise and this year alone in Canada approximately 19,312 new cases of breast cancer will be diagnosed and there will be approximately 5,267 deaths due to breast cancer (3) (Figure 1). This is a worldwide health problem. For example, in 1996, 910,000 new breast cancer cases were diagnosed and 376,000 women died from breast cancer worldwide (4).

Risk Factors

While often controversial, there are factors associated with an increased risk of developing breast cancer and probably the most accepted risk factor is gender, with male breast cancers accounting for less than 1% of the overall breast cancer incidence (5). A woman's age is an important risk factor, with 78% of breast cancers occurring in women over 50 years of age (1). Hormone exposure, especially estrogen exposure, is an established risk factor and early menarche and late menopause are associated with an increased risk, while surgical menopause (bilateral oophorectomy) is associated with a decreased risk of breast cancer incidence (6,7). While still controversial, the use of oral contraceptives has been associated with an increased risk of breast cancer. A recent analysis of studies on hormonal contraceptive use and breast cancer incidence demonstrated that for current users there was



Figure 1. Breast cancer incidence and mortality rates. Rates are expressed as per 100,000 Canadian women and are adjusted for age. Data for 1994-1998 are estimated. Source: National Cancer Institute, 1998.

a small increase in risk (relative risk 1.24) but breast cancer risk decreases during the 10 years after discontinuing contraceptive use until the risk becomes the same as those women that have never used oral contraceptives (8). The use of hormone replacement therapy by postmenopausal women increases a woman's risk of breast cancer 2-3% per year of use (9). Adipose tissue is the major source of estrogen in the postmenopausal woman and increased weight gain during postmenopausal years has been linked to increasing risk of breast cancer incidence (10). Conversely, premenopausal women who are overweight have a slightly lower risk of breast cancer incidence, likely due to the fact that premenopausal obesity is associated with amenorrhea, which could lower total estrogen exposure (10,11). Nulliparity and late first pregnancy are associated with increased risk, while an early first pregnancy is associated with a reduced risk of breast cancer development, thought to be due to the degree of differentiation of the breast tissue (9,12). The level of exposure to steroid hormones during the prenatal period may also influence the risk of breast cancer (13).

Family history plays a significant role in breast cancer risk and a woman whose mother or sister developed breast cancer at an early age is most at risk. While 95% of human breast cancers are sporadic, 5% are hereditary and inherited forms of breast cancer tend to develop at an earlier age (30s and 40s) (14,15). Mutations in specific genes have been identified which are believed to be involved in genetic susceptibility to breast cancer. The first breast cancer susceptibility gene discovered was BRCA1 (breast cancer 1) located on chromosome 17q21 (16). Approximately one in 200 women will inherit a mutated BRCA1 gene and these women will have an 80-90% chance of developing breast cancer as well as an increased risk of developing ovarian cancer (17). Although the function of BRCA1 is not clear, there is evidence to suggest that it may be involved in the negative regulation of mammary epithelial cell growth (18,19). No mutations in BRCA1 have been found in sporadic breast cancers, despite an intensive search, leading to questions regarding its role in the majority of breast cancers (20). It may be that mutations occur in non-coding regions that were not examined or that mutations in some other regulatory protein that affects the level and/or function of BRCA1 may be more important in these types of breast cancers. A second breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2, has been identified and is localized to chromosome 13q12-13 (21). Again, the function of BRCA2 in breast cancer development is unclear, but studies suggest that it may be a protein involved in deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) repair (22,23). While it is not yet known what the normal function of either of the proteins, corresponding to the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes, is or how mutations in these genes lead to the development of breast cancer, researchers have estimated that together BRCA1 and BRCA2 may account for 40-50% of all hereditary breast cancers (24).

Women who have had a prior cancer in one breast have a 2-3 fold greater risk of developing a new breast cancer in the other breast (25,26). Exposure to ionizing radiation has also been associated with increased risk of breast cancer development, especially exposure in younger women (27).

Lifestyle factors such as diet, alcohol consumption and exercise, are thought to influence breast cancer risk. The incidence of breast cancer is highest among women in Canada, the United States and Northern Europe and much lower in Japan and Hong Kong. When women from low risk populations migrate to higher risk areas, within two or three generations the breast cancer incidence rates increase, suggesting the importance of lifestyle and/or environmental factors in breast cancer risk (28). The relationship between dietary fat and breast cancer risk has been examined, with several studies suggesting no relationship (29,30), while others suggest the type of fat intake may influence breast cancer risk (31,32). Alcohol consumption may also be a risk factor, but again, the relationship is not clear and some studies assessing alcohol intake and breast cancer risk suggest no association (33) while others suggest there is an increased risk associated with alcohol consumption (34,35).

Although there have been many factors associated with an increased risk for breast cancer, and hormonal and hereditary factors play a clear role, approximately 75% of women with breast cancer have no measurable risk factors (36), demonstrating our lack of understanding regarding the factors involved in the etiology of breast cancer.

Treatment

Breast cancer is viewed as a systemic disease and the majority of treatments involve a whole body approach. Surgical procedures to attempt to remove the tumour mass are the first line in managing this disease. Adjuvant treatment is frequently given to patients after the initial surgery to remove the tumour mass. The most commonly used adjuvant therapies are chemotherapy, irradiation and hormone therapy. Steroid hormone receptor levels are determined to aid in treatment choice and the level of estrogen receptor (ER) and/or progesterone receptor (PR) is also correlated with prognosis, in that tumours with higher receptor levels generally have a more favourable prognosis (37). While endocrine therapies such as aromatase inhibitors (38,39), gonadotropin releasing hormone analogues (40), progestins (41) and antiprogestins (42,43) can be successfully used to treat breast cancer, for the purposes of this thesis I will discuss only the antiestrogens in terms of endocrine therapies of breast cancer.

At the time of clinical detection approximately 70% of primary breast cancers contain ER levels equal to or above 10 femtomoles (finol)/milligram (mg) protein and are thus considered ER positive (37). Antiestrogen therapy for human breast cancer targets the ER and as such generally requires that the breast cancer cells depend on estrogen for proliferation. Tamoxifen (Nolvadex), an antiestrogen, is presently the most popular choice of hormonal therapy for ER positive patients. Tamoxifen acts by binding to the ER and in certain tissues such as the breast, results in blocking the growth stimulatory effects of estrogen (44). Tamoxifen is a nonsteroidal partial antiestrogen in that in certain tissues, such as the uterus (45), bone (46) and the cardiovascular system (47), it can act as an estrogen mimic. The effects of tamoxifen are cytostatic and therefore use must be prolonged in order to effectively suppress tumour growth (48). Tamoxifen has been used extensively to treat both advanced breast cancer and as treatment in early-stage disease and is successful in treating both pre- and post-menopausal women (49-51). Tamoxifen is used as adjuvant treatment following surgery and also as a palliative treatment in women with advanced breast cancer (44). Tamoxifen is successful in increasing overall and disease-free survival especially in patients over 50 (50,51) and the use of tamoxifen also appears to prevent the development of second breast cancers (50,52). Tamoxifen is generally well tolerated with most side-effects limited to its antiestrogenic qualities (50,51).

More recent research has been done to study the potential benefit of using tamoxifen as a prophylactic measure in those women who do not presently have clinically detectable breast cancer, but are at high risk for its development. The fact that tamoxifen use for the treatment of primary breast cancer resulted in a decreased incidence of contralateral breast cancer spawned the idea that tamoxifen may be a potential breast cancer preventative agent (52). The Breast Cancer Prevention Trial recently released the exciting data that tamoxifen treatment for 4 years caused a 45% reduction in tumour incidence in women who were at increased risk for breast cancer development, compared to women who were taking placebo (53). While tamoxifen offered a significant protective role in terms of breast cancer development, the fact that it is an estrogen agonist in the uterus, and is associated with an increased risk of endometrial cancer (53), is of concern. Raloxifene is another partial antiestrogen that maintains some of the advantageous estrogenic properties of tamoxifen on the bone and cardiovascular system, but has the added advantage that it has no known estrogenic effects in the uterus or breast. Currently a trial is underway to evaluate the use of raloxifene as a breast cancer chemopreventative agent (54).

At the time of clinical detection approximately 70% of human breast tumours are classified as ER positive and of these approximately 60% will respond to endocrine therapy (37,55). Therefore, approximately 40% of ER positive primary tumours are resistant to endocrine therapy and even of those tumours that initially respond, the majority will ultimately become resistant. Hormone-independence is a sign of a more aggressive phase of the disease and is obviously a problem in terms of efficacy of antiestrogen treatment (56,57). Patients who develop tumours resistant to tamoxifen therapy will often respond to a second line of endocrine treatment (58). Other "pure" antiestrogens have been developed that apparently do not exhibit ER agonist behaviour (59,60). These pure steroidal antiestrogens, such as Imperial Chemical Industries (ICI) 164,384 and ICI 182,780, can inhibit the growth of breast

cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* (59,60). Clinical evidence supports the use of these steroidal antiestrogens and patients have shown a response to ICI 182,780 after becoming tamoxifen resistant (61,62).

Steroid hormone receptors

Steroid hormones modulate a multitude of diverse biological activities including, development and growth, cell differentiation and metabolism, as well as pathological conditions. The ability of cells and tissues to respond to steroid hormones is due to the presence of the corresponding hormone receptor. The nuclear receptor superfamily of ligand-dependent transcription factors includes not only the receptors for the steroid hormones, but receptors for a range of other hormones, vitamins, and orphan receptors whose ligands have not yet been identified (63). This superfamily is characterized by conservation in both structure and function among the various receptors (63). The biological effect of ligand binding to its cognate receptor is governed by multiple points along a pathway to ultimately culminate in changes in gene expression. A complex interplay amongst all the factors must occur, in a cell- and tissue-specific manner, in order to result in regulated expression of hormone-responsive genes and much research has been aimed at understanding the multiple events involved in the control of steroid receptor function.

Structure of the estrogen receptor

The ER is a member of the steroid/thyroid hormone receptor superfamily (63). The ER family is comprised of the classical ER, hereafter referred to as ER- α , and the newly discovered ER- β (64,65). For the purpose of this thesis I will discuss only those features that are pertinent in terms of ER- α structure and function.

The full length complementary (c) DNA for ER- α was first cloned and sequenced from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells (66-68). The gene was found to span over 140 kilobases (kb) of DNA and contain 8 exons (Figure 2) and 7 introns encoding a protein of approximately 66 kilodaltons (kDa) (67,69). The 7 introns of the human (h) ER- α gene are extremely large and range in size from approximately 3.5 to greater than 32 kb (69). The original cDNA clone (HEO) for hER- α contained a point mutation in the hormone binding domain (glycine at position 400 substituted with valine) (69) producing a protein that has a decreased affinity for estradiol at 25°C, but not at 4°C (70).

The hER- α messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) is approximately 6.2 kb with a 232 nucleotide long 5'-untranslated region and a 4,305 nucleotide long 3'-untranslated region (67,68). Three different promoters have been identified in the hER- α gene that are responsible for generating mRNA transcripts that differ in the length and sequence of the 5'-untranslated region. The promoter P1 is located upstream of the mRNA cap site (+1) and generates an mRNA with a 5'-untranslated region of 232 bases (67), P0 is located several kb further upstream of P1 (approximately -1900) and results in a 5'-untranslated region of 178 bases (71), while a third, restricted in use to the liver, is found approximately 12 kb upstream of the mRNA cap site (72). In human breast cancer cells, the P1 promoter is predominantly used with approximately 10-30% of transcripts originating from the P0 promoter (73,74). In normal human mammary epithelium the P1 promoter appeared to be exclusively used, leading to the suggestion that in human breast cancer cells, where apparent overexpression of ER- α occurs, both promoters, P0 and P1, are used, whereas in normal breast cells only P1 would



ER- α protein



Figure 2. ER- α mRNA structure and protein functional domains.

Functions corresponding to specific domains are listed below the protein structure. Nucleotide and amino acid numbering is according to (67).

be functional (73). However, other researchers found both promoters were used in human breast cancer cell lines as well as in normal breast tissue (74,75).

Many studies have revealed distinct functional units of the ER- α encoded by specific exons of the gene (Figure 2). The amino (N)-terminal domain is referred to as the A/B domain and associated with this region is a constitutive, hormone-independent transcriptional activation function (AF-1) (76). The next domain, C, contains the DNA binding domain (DBD) (77) which consists of two zinc-binding motifs that are responsible for binding to, and recognition of, hormone-responsive elements (HREs) in the promoter regions of responsive genes (78,79). Using two-dimensional nuclear magnetic resonance techniques, Schwabe and coworkers have described the solution structure of the hER- α DBD (78). The two zincbinding motifs of the DBD fold to form a single structural unit consisting of two perpendicular helices. At the N-terminus of each helix is a loop with a zinc ion held at the base by four cysteine residues (78). This group has examined the crystal structure of the hER- α DBD bound to DNA to demonstrate that residues found in the first zinc finger interact with bases in the DNA, while residues in both zinc fingers make contacts to phosphates in the DNA backbone (79). Domain C also contains a dimerization domain and residues in the second zinc-binding motif are involved in dimerization (79,80). Domain D is the hinge region (77) which contains regions thought to be involved in nuclear localization (81). The hormone binding domain (HBD) is located in the E region (77), which also contains a strong region involved in receptor dimerization (80) and a second, ligand-dependent, transcriptional activation function (AF-2) (76). More recently a third putative transactivation domain (AF-2a) has been identified that encompasses amino acids 282-351 of the hER- α (82). A

hormone-inducible nuclear localization function has also been reported for the HBD (81) and it also contains regions involved in binding to heat shock protein (hsp)90 (83). The carboxyl (C)-terminal, domain F, has no clear function and while it is not absolutely required for transcriptional activity (77), deletion of this domain (amino acids 555-595) in hER- α affects the transcriptional response to both estrogen and the antiestrogens hydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384 in some cell types (84).

ER-a mRNA and protein regulation

The level of any particular protein is under complex control and is a result of transcription of the corresponding gene, level of cellular mRNA, translation of the mRNA into protein and stability of the translated protein. Levels of cellular mRNA are controlled by both its rates of synthesis and degradation and regulation of mRNA stability is an important aspect in the control of gene expression (85).

Regulation of ER- α levels has been shown to occur at both transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels. In MCF-7 cells estrogen treatment has been shown to result in a down-regulation of ER- α protein and mRNA expression (86-88). After estrogen treatment, transcription from the hER- α gene exhibits a marked transient decrease, to an almost undetectable level after 2 hours of treatment, followed by an increased level of transcription, despite the fact that mRNA levels remain low (86,88). This suggests that the mechanisms of ER- α downregulation may be due to both decreased transcription and posttranscriptional mechanisms.

Studies suggest that the ER- α may have a direct role in the regulation of its levels. Researchers have shown that hydroxytamoxifen has no effect on hER- α mRNA levels alone, but is able to reverse estrogen-induced down-regulation (87.88). Studies have also demonstrated that the effect of estradiol on hER- α levels is likely not dependent on new protein synthesis, as the protein synthesis inhibitor cyclohexamide did not prevent estrogeninduced suppression of ER- α levels (88). Santagati *et al* demonstrated that oligonucleotides corresponding to the 5' end of the hER-a mRNA were able to interfere with estrogen-induced hER- α protein downregulation in MCF-7 cells and the hER- α was able to specifically bind to these oligonucleotides in vitro (89). These results suggest a direct role of the receptor in regulating its levels, perhaps via autologous downregulation of the ER- α gene by transcriptional repression (89). Conversely, in ER- α negative HeLa (human cervical carcinoma) cells, transiently expressed hER- α did not display any negative transcriptional regulation of a reporter gene containing an oligonucleotide effective in suppressing ER- α levels, suggesting other mechanisms of regulation may be involved (89). More recent work has demonstrated that in MCF-7 cells estrogen decreases the ER- α mRNA half-life (90). This effect is dependent on ongoing translation and may be mediated by an estrogen-regulated nuclease activity associated with ribosomes (90).

Researchers have also examined the role of other signal transduction pathways on ER- α levels and found that 12-0-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA), an activator of protein kinase C (PKC), or the calcium ionophore A23187, resulted in a decrease in hER- α protein and mRNA levels in MCF-7 cells (91,92). TPA was found to decrease hER- α mRNA halflife, independent of new protein synthesis, but dependent on ongoing RNA synthesis, suggesting the requirement for a catalytic RNA species or an RNA-protein complex (92). These data suggest that both TPA and estradiol may act through similar mechanisms to result in ER- α down-regulation.

Researchers have demonstrated that the steroidal antiestrogens ICI 164,384 and ICI 182,780 decrease ER- α levels, likely due to decreased stability of the ER- α protein (93,94).

More recent research has demonstrated that estrogen regulation of hER- α protein levels may occur through a proteasome-dependent degradation pathway (94a). Additionally, estrogen treatment does not always result in down-regulation of ER- α levels. For example, in T47D human breast cancer cells that express low levels of ER- α , estrogen treatment has been shown to result in an increase in ER- α mRNA levels (87).

RNA splicing

Splicing of precursor (pre)-mRNA is a nuclear process in which the non-coding introns are removed from the pre-mRNA and the remaining coding exonic sequences are joined (95). Splicing is catalyzed by the spliceosome, a large complex composed of small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles (snRNPs) and non-snRNP proteins (including serine-arginine-rich (SR) proteins) which assemble onto the pre-mRNA template in an ordered fashion (95,96). What controls and organizes splicing in the nucleus is poorly understood. It has been shown that within the nucleus splicing factors localize to discrete-domains (speckles) with a nucleus typically containing 20-40 of these speckles (95). It appears that only a small amount of available splicing factors are found associated with active sites of transcription suggesting that splicing factors may be actively recruited to sites of transcription (97).

Alternative splicing, whereby one or more exons may be included and/or removed from the final mRNA transcript, occurs in numerous genes and can be regulated in a tissuespecific manner, but the mechanisms that regulate it are unknown (98). The level of splicing factors can vary in a tissue-specific manner (99) and Caceres and coworkers have demonstrated that when the levels of the antagonistic splicing factors SF2/ASF (a member of the SR protein family) and heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) A1 were varied, the alternative splicing pattern of several reporter genes was altered, demonstrating that the intracellular levels of splicing factors can influence splicing patterns (100).

SR proteins are believed to play a role in splice site selection and in spliceosome assembly. A region of basic amino acids within the C-terminal serine/arginine rich domain (RS-domain) of the SR proteins is necessary for targeting SR proteins to nuclear speckles (101). RS-domains are phosphorylated and phosphorylation of the SR proteins has been shown to alter their subnuclear-localization (95). Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of SR proteins as well as snRNP proteins is important functionally and is required for formation of a functional spliceosome and completion of the splicing reaction (102). Using minigene constructs containing CD44 pre-mRNA, Konig et al demonstrated that exonic RNA elements can couple signal transduction to alternative splicing. These researchers demonstrated cellspecific activation of alternative splicing and that activation of Ras or PKC signalling pathways could also activate alternative splicing of the minigene constructs (103). These researchers hypothesize that this coupling of signalling pathways to alternative splicing may be how tissue-specific splice patterns occur and more importantly how splice patterns may be switched during physiological and pathophysiological conditions. The kinases and phosphatases that are important in vivo for splicing and factors involved in its regulation are unknown. Alternative splicing of the hER-a gene has been demonstrated in many laboratories,

including Dr. L.C. Murphy's, and will be discussed in detail in a later section.

Factors influencing ER-a activity

The biological response to receptor activation is ultimately a culmination of multiple effector systems. The basal state of ER- α activity is a state in which no defined activation systems, such as ligand, are initiated or present. Ligand-activated transcription will depend on multiple parameters, including; nature of ligand (agonist versus antagonist), cell-, promoter- and tissue-type, as well as the balance of proteins present that can act to influence receptor activity. In addition, ligand-independent activation of the receptor can occur through non-classical effector pathways. The following section will discuss some of the mechanisms involved in determining the activity of the ER- α . While an attempt has been made to classify these, it should be noted that each can influence overall activity and can overlap to influence each other.

Ligand

Estrogen

The natural ligand for the ER- α is estrogen and 17 β -estradiol (estradiol) is considered the major estrogen in the female (104). Estradiol binds tightly to the ER- α with an equilibrium binding constant (Kd) in the range of 10⁻⁹-10⁻¹⁰ M (moles/litre) (105). As described previously, studies have localized the ligand-binding portion of the ER- α to the C-terminus of the receptor. The classic model of steroid function was that ligand binding activated the receptor, resulting in translocation to the nucleus, DNA binding and gene activation (106). More current research has demonstrated that ER- α (including human) resides in the nucleus even in the absence of hormone (107,108). Experiments in yeast have suggested that estradiol binding to the hER- α may also not be a prerequisite for *in vivo* DNA binding at higher receptor concentrations (109), but in mammalian cells, does result in tight association of the receptor complex with DNA and nuclear structures, including the nuclear matrix (110,111). Binding of hormone to the receptor has been shown to alter the conformation of the receptor and this conformational change is required for transcriptional activation of the ER- α (112,113). Researchers suggest that the role of ligand may be to overcome the effects of inhibitory factors complexed to the ER- α , such as heat shock proteins, and promote interactions of the receptor with coactivators and the general transcription machinery (113,114). These interactions and their potential role in ER- α activity will be discussed in greater detail in a later section.

Recently, the 3-dimensional structure of the estrogen/hER- α /LBD (amino acids serine 301-threonine 553) complex has been solved (115). The LBD is folded into a three-layered structure, comprised mainly of antiparallel α -helices (helices H3-H12). Estrogen was shown to bind in a hydrophobic cavity formed by several secondary structures (including parts of H3 (methionine 342-leucine 354), H6 (tryptophan 383-arginine 394), H8 (valine 418-leucine 428), H11 (methionine 517-methionine 528) and H12 (leucine 539-histidine 547), and a small two-stranded antiparallel β -sheet (leucine 402-leucine 410)). The binding of hormone occurs through specific hydrogen bonds and complementarity of the binding cavity to the non-polar estrogen. Estrogen binds diagonally across the cavity between helices 11, 3 and 6. Hydrogen bonds formed between estrogen and hER- α /LBD occur at glutamine 353 (within H3), arginine 394 (within H6) and histidine 524 (within H11) and non-polar contacts occur with isoleucine 424 (within H8), glycine 521 (within H11) and leucine 525 (within H11). Helix 12

fits over this LBD cavity against H3, H5/6 and H11, forming a lid over the cavity, exposing the AF-2 function of the ER- α and residues important in its function. The structure of the antiestrogen, raloxifene, complexed with the hER- α /LBD was also solved. Raloxifene binds to the same sites as estrogen but the bulky-side chain of the antiestrogen (Figure 3) displaces H12 causing it to protrude out of the LBD pocket. Additionally, the bulky side chain common to other steroidal and non-steroidal antiestrogens (Figure 3) would be expected to result in a similar displacement of H12 (115). This is significant, since H12 is essential for AF-2 function and coactivator interactions as will be discussed in a proceeding section. These researchers also noted that the lysine at position 362 (the analogous residue of mouse (m)ER- α has been shown to be required for estrogen-dependent transactivation and coactivator recruitment (116)) is buried by the raloxifene induced re-orientation of H12 (115). This study provides a structural basis for the antagonistic actions of antiestrogens and confirms previous work demonstrating structural alterations of the ER- α complex with estrogen versus antiestrogen (112,113).

Antiestrogen

Antiestrogens are defined according to their abilities to act as either partial agonists (i.e., nonsteroidal antiestrogens such as tamoxifen) or complete antagonists (i.e., steroidal 'pure' antiestrogens such as ICI 164,384) (117). Both classes of antiestrogens have in common a bulky side-chain (Figure 3) important for their antiestrogenic activity (118,119) and compete with estradiol for high-affinity binding to the ER- α , leading to cell cycle blockade of breast cancer cells *in vitro* (59,120,121) and reduced breast tumour growth *in vivo* (49,62). Despite these commonalities, the mechanisms of action of the two classes of


ICI 164,384





Tamoxifen

ICI 182,780





4-Hydroxytamoxifen

Raloxifene



Figure 3. Schematic drawing of estrogen, nonsteroidal antiestrogens and steroidal antiestrogens. The position of the 7 α -substituted position of estradiol is shown. Adapted from (117,119).

antiestrogens appear to differ.

Nonsteroidal antiestrogens

Tamoxifen, as discussed earlier, is the most widely used clinical antiestrogen. 4-*trans*-Hydroxytamoxifen (hydroxytamoxifen), thought to be the clinically active metabolite of tamoxifen, competitively inhibits estradiol binding to the hER- α with an affinity 3-fold higher than estradiol (121,122). Hydroxytamoxifen inhibits the growth of ER- α positive human breast cancer cells *in vitro*, causing a reversible blockade of the cell cycle (120). Hydroxytamoxifen exhibits some agonist activities, which are dependent on the cell type and promoter context (123).

The complex of hydroxytamoxifen bound ER- α retains the ability to bind DNA but in many cases is unable to form a transcriptionally active ER- α (80,123). Studies have demonstrated that the conformation of the hER- α complexed with hydroxytamoxifen differs from that of estradiol complexed with hER- α (112). *In vitro* assays have demonstrated that hydroxytamoxifen/hER- α /ERE complexes migrate more slowly than the estrogen/hER- α /ERE complex (80,124). In addition, studies have demonstrated that in cell contexts where the AF-2 activity of the hER- α is not required hydroxytamoxifen can function as a partial agonist, whereas in AF-2 cell and promoter requiring contexts AF-2 activity is blocked and hydroxytamoxifen functions as an antiestrogen (112,123,125). It is thought that it is the inability of antiestrogens like tamoxifen to induce a transcriptionally active conformation that results in the inability to activate transcription (112,113). Indeed, as discussed previously, the recent elucidation of the structure of the raloxifene complexed ER- α LBD supports this hypothesis and provides a structural basis for the lack of transcription on antagonistic promoters in that the AF-2 region of the hER- α LBD is significantly altered in structure (115). Further, more recent studies provide evidence to suggest that the antagonistic effects of tamoxifen reside in its ability to recruit corepressor proteins to the ER- α complex as will be discussed in more detail in a following section.

The expression of growth promoting factors such as, epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor alpha (TGFa), and the insulin-like growth factors (IGF) -I and -II or growth inhibitory factors such as members of the TGF8 family, is thought to play a role in the growth of both normal and cancerous breast tissue (126). Tamoxifen-induced changes in the levels of these growth factors may also be involved in its antiproliferative effects. Tamoxifen can inhibit the estrogen-induced production of TGFa by human breast cancer cells (127) and tamoxifen treatment can lower TGF α production in some ER- α positive, but not ER- α negative, human breast tumours (128). IGF-1 is a mitogen for human breast cancer cells in vitro (126) and circulating levels of IGF-I are decreased in breast cancer patients during tamoxifen therapy (129). TGF β is growth inhibitory to human breast cancer cells in culture regardless of ER- α status (130,131) and it has been reported that there are increases in serum levels of TGFB2 and increases in TGFB1 in the stroma of breast tumour biopsies from tamoxifen treated ER- α negative and positive breast cancer patients (131,132). Researchers have hypothesized that TGFB may act in a paracrine fashion to alter the growth of ER- α positive or ER- α negative breast cancer cells and could explain why a small portion $(\sim 10\%)$ of ER- α negative patients respond to tamoxifen therapy (44,132,133). Paradoxically, overexpression of TGF\$1 in tumour biopsies has been associated with disease progression (134) and more recently, researchers have demonstrated that antibodies that blocked TGF β signalling, did not block tamoxifen-mediated growth inhibition of MCF-7 and T47D human breast cancer cells (135), leading to questions regarding the role of TGF β as a mediator of tamoxifen inhibition of breast cancer growth.

Steroidal antiestrogens

The use of tamoxifen in breast cancer therapy is limited by the eventual development of resistance to treatment (136). This led to the search for novel antiestrogens with enhanced antagonist, and less agonist, action and the development of a series of steroidal antiestrogens, such as ICI 164,384 and ICI 182,780 (59) (Figure 3). The steroidal antiestrogens have 7α alkylamide side-chains that are important for their antiestrogenic activity (119). The steroidal antiestrogens compete with estrogen for binding to the ER- α and result in cell cycle blockade (59,120). ICI 164,384 and ICI 182,780 are apparently devoid of agonist activity *in vivo* (59,60,137-139) and *in vitro* (59,60,140).

The mechanism by which these compounds interfere with ER- α activity is unclear. The steroidal antiestrogens rapidly reduce ER- α protein levels in cultured cells, including MCF-7 cells, uterine tissue, and human breast tumours (61,93,94,141). Experiments have demonstrated that the steroidal antiestrogen-induced decrease in mER- α protein is not due to alterations in mRNA levels, but is a result of increased turnover of the mER- α protein, with the half-life reduced from approximately 5 hours in the presence of estrogen to less than 1 hour in the presence of ICI 164,384 (93). *In vitro* experiments have demonstrated that the steroidal the ability of ER- α (human and mouse) to bind to DNA (142,143) but other studies have failed to demonstrate an inhibition of DNA binding of ER- α from various sources, including human breast cancer cells, in the presence of steroidal antiestrogens (112,114,124,143,144). Arbuckle and coworkers have demonstrated using in vitro translated mER-o, that the presence of steroidal antiestrogen during translation inhibited receptor DNA binding activity (143). Researchers suggest that the steroidal antiestrogens act to prevent the formation of ER- α receptor dimers but cannot interfere with preformed dimers, which may explain the conflicting data on ER- α obtained from different sources, including the use of in vitro translated hER-a incubated with ICI 164.384 after, versus during, translation (142-144). Additional support for this hypothesis comes from the fact that in the presence of steroidal antiestrogens, DNA binding of mER-a was restored using an ER-a antibody that restored DNA binding to dimerization-deficient receptor mutants (142,143). It is thought that the reduction in the cellular ER- α levels in the presence of steroidal antiestrogens is likely a result of impaired receptor dimerization which leads to a less stable protein (93). Additional evidence suggests that the steroidal antiestrogens may interfere with receptor function by preventing nuclear uptake which was also suggested to lead to an increase in ER- α degradation (145).

Hormone-responsive elements

The ER- α binds to DNA as a dimer (80) and in most cases gene activation requires interaction of the hormone receptor complex to regulatory DNA sequences, generally located in the 5'-promoter region of target genes. A comparison of hormone-responsive elements (HREs) from several estrogen-responsive genes has revealed what is termed a 'consensus' nucleotide sequence for the estrogen-responsive element (ERE) (Table 1). This 13 base pair (bp) sequence is organized as a palindrome with two unequally conserved half-sites separated

Table 1. Estrogen-responsive genes and EREs*

Gene	Species	Estrogen-responsive element
<u>Consensus</u>	5	'-GGTCAnnnTGACC-3'
Vitellogenin Al	Xenopus	GGTCAnnnTGACC
Vitellogenin A2	Xenopus	GGTCAnnnTGACC
Vitellogenin B1a	Xenopus	AGTTAnnnTGACC
Vitellogenin B1b	Xenopus	AGTCAnnnTGACC
pS2	Human	GGTCAnnnTGGCC
PR E1(-2480/-2459) Rabbit	GTACAnnnTGACC
E2(-433/-419)	Rabbit	GGTCAnnnCGATT
E3(+698/+723)	Rabbit	GGTCGnnnTGACT
Uteroglobin	Rabbit	GGTCAnnnTGCCC
Ovalbumin	Chicken	TGACC

* this table represents examples of estrogen-responsive genes and their EREs and is not an exhaustive list. References (146,148,150-152,154). by three non-conserved nucleotides (5'-GGTCAnnnTGACC-3') (146) and functions as an enhancer in a position- and orientation-independent manner (147). Most estrogen-regulated genes do not contain a perfect consensus ERE, but instead contain one or more EREs that are imperfect palindromes in that they diverge from the consensus sequence by one or more nucleotides, while others may contain multiple half-site EREs. For example, in the estrogenresponsive Xenopus vitellogenin B1 gene, three EREs are located in the promoter region (-596/-42) (148). Deletion of the ERE (-555/-543) is dispensable for hormone-responsive reporter gene activity in MCF-7 cells, while the other two (-334/-322 and -314/-302) are required for estrogen-inducibility (148). The two imperfect EREs located at position -334 and -302 have been shown to synergize with each other and with upstream activator elements, or a consensus ERE, in synthetic promoters (147,149). The chicken ovalbumin gene contains within its promoter a series of four half-palindromic motifs that act synergistically (150) and the gene for human pS2 contains a single copy of an imperfect palindromic ERE (151). The PR is induced by estrogen and three ERE elements have been identified within the rabbit PR. gene. Interestingly, of the three, only one is able to activate a heterologous gene in transfection experiments alone, and this ERE is located at a position (+698/+723) that overlaps with the initiation of translation (152). The other two EREs located further upstream, were inactive alone, but when placed in tandem were able to activate transcription (152). It has also been demonstrated in vitro that EREs can act synergistically with additional copies of EREs (149,153) and can act synergistically with HREs of other steroid receptors (154) and with DNA-binding sites for other transcription factors (149). As well, nonclassical EREs consisting of Sp1-DNA binding elements may function as estrogen-responsive elements

(154a). While in most cases ER- α is thought to bind DNA as a homodimer (80), it can bind as a monomer to a half-palindromic ERE *in vitro* (155) and can form heterodimers with the recently identified ER- β (156).

Generally, it is believed that in order for ER- α to exert its effects on a target gene, direct binding of the receptor to regulatory elements in the promoter region are required, but studies have demonstrated that the ability of steroid hormone receptors to modulate transcription does not necessarily require the receptors bind DNA. PRc, an N-terminally truncated hPR isoform lacking the first zinc-finger of the DBD, has no transcriptional activity of its own but has been shown to enhance progestin-induced transcriptional activity (157). ER- α can activate transcription from AP-1 (activator protein 1) dependent promoters through a DNA binding-independent pathway (158,159). At these sites the hER- α DBD is not required for estrogen-induced transcriptional activation, but direct interaction of ER- α with c-jun and c-fos (AP-1) proteins is the likely mechanism (158,159). More recently, researchers have demonstrated the existence of a DNA response element for the antiestrogen raloxifene, an estrogen agonist in bone, in the TGF β 3 gene (160). These researchers found that removal of the DBD of the hER- α did not prevent activation of the TGF β 3 gene by raloxifene and further demonstrated that an adapter protein is likely required (160).

ER-a associated proteins

The hER- α , as previously described, contains three domains thought to be involved in transcriptional activation, two of which have been studied in detail. These, AF-1 and AF-2, function in a cell-, promoter-, and tissue-specific fashion and are regions involved in interactions with ER- α accessory proteins (76,77,125). Studies have demonstrated that AF-1 is a ligand-independent, constitutive activation function, while the activity of AF-2 is liganddependent (123,161). In some situations the activity of AF-1 or AF-2 predominate, and in others, the activities of both AF-1 and AF-2 are required (76,77,125). In addition, the AF-2 domain contains a highly conserved α -helix (Helix 12) that is required for ligand-dependent transcriptional activation (162,163). As discussed previously, the recent elucidation of the structure of the estrogen versus antiestrogen bound ER- α LBD revealed that the region essential for AF-2 function is significantly displaced in the presence of antiestrogen (115).

'Squelching' experiments first suggested that AF-containing regions of hormone receptors, including the ER- α , required additional cellular factors for efficient transcriptional activation. Studies demonstrated that estrogen-dependent hER- α activation could compete transcriptional activation by PR and glucocorticoid receptors (GR) (164). In addition, using hER- α mutants, researchers demonstrated that inhibition of progestin-induced transcription could be achieved using the AF function containing N-terminal A/B or LBD of hER- α and did not require the DBD (164). Indeed, studies have demonstrated that AF regions of steroid hormone receptors, including the ER- α , interact with a number of proteins that are thought to regulate transcriptional activation.

There have been numerous proteins identified that interact with the ER- α and are believed to be involved in regulating some aspect of receptor function. It is likely that many more interacting proteins will be discovered before we can fully understand the role they play in regulating transcription by steroid hormone receptors such as ER- α . For the purpose of clarity this section is broken down into heat-shock proteins, basal transcription factors/coactivators, corepressors and other associated proteins.

Heat-shock proteins

The ER- α can be recovered from estrogen-free cell cytosols in an inactive multimeric complex (165,166). This complex contains ER- α associated with a group of proteins, that may include, heat-shock proteins (hsp 90, hsp70, hsp27) and p59 (166-168). Hsp90, a molecular chaperone involved in the correct folding of newly translated proteins (169), is ubiquitously expressed and found mainly in the cytoplasm with low levels in the nucleus (166,170). Chemical cross-linking of steroid-free hER- α from intact MCF-7 cells has demonstrated an association of the receptor with hsp90 and p59 (168) and hsp90 is thought to interact with several regions throughout the ligand binding and DNA-binding domains of hER- α (83). *In vivo* studies have shown that the interaction between hsp90 and hER- α resulted in nuclear localization of hsp90 in the absence of ligand and a decrease in the level of nuclear hsp90 occurred in the presence of estrogen or tamoxifen (170). While the precise role of hsp90 is unclear, it is believed to maintain steroid hormone receptors inactive in the absence of hormone and may enable efficient response to hormone (166), although it is not absolutely necessary for hER- α hormone-dependent transcriptional activation (171).

Hsp70 has been detected in hER- α complexes isolated using various biochemical techniques (167) but other researchers have not detected an association of hsp70 with hER- α (168) and it is thought that while hsp70 is likely a component of the nonactivated receptor complex, it may not make direct contacts with the receptor itself (166). The association of hsp70 with hER- α containing complexes was found to be significantly reduced following treatment with hydroxytamoxifen or estrogen but not with ICI 182,780 (167). *In vitro* electrophoretic mobility shift assays using recombinant hER- α demonstrated that hsp70 may

play a role in hER- α DNA interactions (167), while other *in vitro* studies using calf uterine ER- α suggest it does not (172). These differences may be due to species- and source-specific differences of the ER- α used in these studies.

A 29 kDa protein has also been found in association with the ER- α , which is likely hsp27 (173,174). The function of hsp27 in ER- α action is unknown, but hsp27 levels are associated with ER- α expression and are low in normal breast tissue and high in estrogenresponsive breast tumours (175), suggesting it may play an important role in ER- α function.

While the function of these proteins is unclear, it is thought that in the absence of hormone they may maintain the receptor in a transcriptionally inert state and additional proteins may also exist that are involved in ligand-free repression of hER- α (166,171).

Basal transcription factors/coactivators

Receptor binding to its HRE is, in most cases, a prerequisite for gene regulation, but alone it is not sufficient. Evidence suggests that steroid hormone receptors interact with both general and sequence-specific transcription factors, directly or indirectly, to influence transcription at the target promoter. In cases where the direct interaction of the ER- α with the target DNA sequence is not required (i.e., AP-1 and raloxifene response elements) it is clear that the requirement for another protein(s) likely exists. It has also been demonstrated *in vitro* that the mER- α can directly contact the basal transcription machinery and enhance the formation of stable pre-initiation complexes at target promoters to increase transcription in a cell-free system (176). The LBD of the hER- α has been shown to interact *in vitro* with TFIIB, a component of the basal transcription apparatus (177). TBP (TATA-box binding protein) has been demonstrated to interact with both the AF-1 and AF-2 domains of hER- α *in vitro* (178). A specific subpopulation of TFIID containing TAF (TBP-associated factor) $_{\rm B}$ 30 is required by hER- α for *in vitro* transcriptional activation and it was demonstrated that TAF_{II}30 could interact *in vitro* with AF-2, but not AF-1, of hER- α (179). The *in vitro* interaction of hER- α with TFIIB, TAF_{II}30 or TBP has been shown to occur in the presence or absence of estrogen (179,180).

While the ability of the receptor to regulate transcription may require direct contacts with components of the transcription initiation complex, indirect or direct contacts with coactivators or transcription intermediary factors are also important. That cofactors are required for steroid hormone receptor transactivation was first suggested by 'squelching' experiments as discussed (164). Subsequently, a steroid receptor coactivator protein, SRC-1, has been identified that enhances hER-or transcription in the presence of estrogen (181). SRC-1 was able to reverse the 'squelching' between hER- α and hPR in transfection experiments, confirming it to be a limiting cofactor required for efficient transactivation (181). SRC-1 binds to the ligand binding/AF-2 domain of hER- α in vitro in the presence of estrogen but not in the absence of estrogen or in the presence of tamoxifen, ICI 164,384 or ICI 182,780 (182). A truncated hER- α lacking amino acids 534-595, that is not transcriptionally active, does not interact with SRC-1 in vitro (182), but the transcriptional activity of a transiently expressed hER-a containing point mutations that disrupt AF-2, but not ligandbinding, activity was still enhanced by SRC-1 in HepG2 (human hepatocellular carcinoma) cells from a reporter gene containing three imperfect EREs, demonstrating that AF-2 activity is not required for SRC-1 coactivation *in vivo* in this cell and promoter context (183). Transiently expressed SRC-1 has also been shown to enhance the agonist activity of hydroxytamoxifen on hER- α expressed in HepG2 cells (183). An *in vitro* interaction of the N-terminal of hER- α and SRC-1 has also been demonstrated and in Rat-1 cells the constitutive activity of the AF-1 region of the hER- α (amino acids 1-182) could be blocked by microinjection of SRC-1 antibodies (184). Additionally, the AF-1 activity of hER- α transiently expressed in HeLa cells can be stimulated with SRC-1 (185). Together these data suggests that SRC-1 can functionally interact with both the N- and C-terminal portions of the hER- α .

SRC-1 binds not only steroid hormone receptors, but also TBP and TFIIB, suggesting it may tether nuclear hormone receptors to the basal transcription machinery (186). SRC-1 has been shown to contain histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity (187), linking the recruitment of coactivators to the chromatin and alterations in chromatin structure as a mechanism for transcriptional activity. Acetylation of specific lysine residues within the Nterminal tail of histones is thought to mediate alterations in chromatin structure and the acetylation of the histone tails has been demonstrated to correlate with transcriptional activation (188-190).

Subsequent studies have demonstrated that SRC-1 belongs to a family of related proteins (SRC-1/p160) (191). Transcription intermediary family 2 (TIF2) is a member of the SRC-1 family, and in transient transfection analyses increases estrogen-activated hER- α transcriptional activity and interacts in an estrogen-dependent manner with the LBD of hER- α in vitro and the full length hER- α in vivo (192). The mouse homologue of TIF2 (GR-

interacting protein 1, GRIP1) has been demonstrated to function as a coactivator for the AF-1 region of the hER- α transiently expressed in HeLa cells (185). AIB1 (amplified in breast cancer 1), another member of the SRC-1 family, was cloned from chromosomal regions amplified in some breast and ovarian cancers and has been shown to be overexpressed in some breast tumour biopsy samples relative to normal breast tissue and in some ER- α positive, not negative, human breast cancer cell lines (193). AIB1 enhanced estrogen-dependent hER- α transcriptional activation and was shown to interact *in vitro* with hER- α in a ligand-dependent fashion (193). Interestingly, AIB1 is identical in sequence to a protein, ACTR, which contains acetyltransferase (AT) activity, suggesting that AIB1 may be able to acetylate histones when recruited to chromatin (193,194).

Other ER- α interacting proteins have been identified that can likely function as more general coactivator proteins for a variety of transcription factors. For example, Verrier *et al* have demonstrated that high mobility group protein 1 (HMG1) binds to hER- α *in vitro* (195) and that baculovirus expressed hER- α does not bind to an ERE *in vitro* even in the presence of estradiol, but does bind in the presence of HMG1 (195). HMG1 was not able to stimulate hER- α transcription *in vitro* in the presence of estrogen, but the addition of TAF_u30 in the presence of HMG1 stimulated transcription 20-fold in the absence of estrogen and a further 5-fold in the presence of estrogen (195). HMG1 is a ubiquitously expressed protein believed to play a role in chromatin decondensation and transcriptional activation and is a substrate for AT activity (196-198).

CREB binding protein (CBP) and p300 (CBP/p300) are related nuclear phosphoproteins that can act as a coactivator for the ER- α . CBP/p300 has been shown to

interact with the hER- α in an estrogen-dependent manner *in vitro* (199) and can enhance both estrogen-stimulated and basal hER- α -dependent transcriptional activity in transient transfection analyses (200). CBP/p300 has AT activity and can acetylate nuclear histones as well as the basal transcription factors TFIIF and TFIIE β *in vitro* (201,202). In a recent study, Martinez-Balbas *et al* were able to demonstrate that the AT domain of CBP can stimulate transcription *in vivo* and there was a direct correlation with the *in vitro* ability of CBP to acetylate histones and *in vivo* transcriptional activation (189). CBP/p300 can interact *in vitro* with the SRC-1 related protein p/CIP and immunodepletion studies have demonstrated that p/CIP is required for hER- α action *in vivo* (203). Additionally, p/CIP can interact with hER- α in a ligand-dependent manner *in vitro* (203). CBP/p300 can also bind to SRC-1 (199) and both CBP/p300 and SRC-1 can interact with the histone acetylase PCAF (p300/CBPassociated factor) and in this way multiple proteins with AT activity are likely recruited to the chromatin template (187,204).

Additionally, other putative ER- α coactivator proteins have been identified whose role in ER- α function has not been clearly established. RIP140 (receptor-interacting protein 140), interacts with the mER- α LBD *in vitro* in the presence of estrogen, but not the antiestrogens tamoxifen, ICI 164,384 and ICI 182,780 (205,206). Mutations in the AF-2 domain that abolish transcriptional activity also prevented or decreased the interaction of RIP140 with mER- α in the presence of estrogen *in vivo* (206,207). These data suggest a role for RIP140 in ER- α ligand-dependent transcriptional activity, but a function for RIP140 as a coactivator has not been clearly established. In transient transfection experiments in mammalian cells RIP140 has some coactivator activity and can increase mouse and human ER- α transcription in the presence of estrogen approximately 2-4 fold, but increasing levels of RIP140 result in repression of receptor activity (116,206,208). Similarly, an ER- α interacting protein, TIF1 has been identified and shown to require the AF-2 domain for *in vitro* estradiol-dependent interaction with the hER- α (209) and in transient expression systems can interact *in vivo* with hER- α in the presence of estrogen (210) but a role as a coactivator protein has not been established. Recently, Brx, a novel 170 kDa protein related to the Dbl oncogene, has been shown to interact with the hER- α *in vitro* in the presence and absence of estradiol and required the LBD for *in vitro* interaction (211). Overexpression of Brx in Ishikawa endometrial cells resulted in a ligand-dependent increase in transcriptional activity of transiently expressed hER- α , suggesting this protein may also function as an ER- α coactivator (211).

The precise interaction sites on the ER- α with coactivators is unknown. As discussed, mutations in the AF-2 region of the receptor LBD impairs the ability of several coactivators to interact with ER- α . Replacement of a lysine at position 366 with alanine in mER- α (corresponds to lysine 362 in hER- α) reduces AF-2 function and the ability of SRC-1, TIF1 and TIF2 to interact with mER- α , but had no effect on RIP140 binding *in vitro* (116). Mutation of residues within the AF-2 (methionine 543, leucine 544, leucine 539) of the hER- α prevented *in vitro* interaction of TIF2 (192). Mutation of any one of three residues (lysine 362, valine 376 and glutamic acid 542) within the AF-2 of the hER- α have been shown to abolish transcriptional activity and diminish *in vitro* binding of GRIP1 (212). It has been postulated that coactivators bind to a small hydrophobic cleft formed by the AF-2 region of hormone-activated receptor via positioning of helix 12 against the scaffold of helices 3, 5 and 6 (212). Together with the recently elucidated structure of estrogen or raloxifene bound hER- α /LBD, it would appear that specific residues either exposed or buried depending on the ligand-induced conformation will be important in determining coactivator binding as well as which coactivators (if multiple are present within the cell) can interact with the receptor. Interestingly, more recent research has demonstrated that *in vitro* individual coactivator proteins interact differently with the LBD of the hER- α and can compete with each other for *in vitro* interaction (208). This would suggest that *in vivo* competition between different ER- α interacting proteins could occur and furthermore suggests that different intracellular levels of these proteins could determine ER- α activity.

The AF-2 domain of ER- α recognizes a specific motif, termed the NR box (203,213) that is found within the SRC-1/p160 family of coactivators (TIF2/GRIP1; AIB1/p/CIP/ACTR; SRC-1) (193,203,213) and also within proteins such as TIF1 and RIP140 and other coactivator proteins such as CBP and p300 (203). Recent studies indicate that two NR box motifs of a single SRC-1 are required for interaction with heterodimers of retinoid-X receptors (RXRs) and retinoic-acid receptor- α (RAR- α) (214). Additionally, the crystal structure of a homodimer of ligand-bound peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR- γ) LBD complexed with SRC-1 (amino acids 623-710 containing NR box motifs 1 and 2) revealed that each NR box motif of SRC-1 bound to one PPAR- γ molecule of the homodimer (215). This may be a general feature of steroid hormone receptors and suggests that nuclear receptor homo or heterodimers have the ability to contact multiple NR box containing proteins. The findings that both the N- and C-terminal (AF-1 and AF-2) regions

of the hER- α can interact at least *in vitro* with coactivator proteins supports this and suggests that multiple proteins could interact simultaneously with different regions of the ER- α . Additionally, research suggests that the AF-1, as well as the AF-2, function through coactivator proteins. Interestingly, the AF-1 activity of hER- α has been shown to be capable of functioning through p160 proteins including, SRC-1, TIF1 and GRIP1 (185,216), and it was found that AF-1 of hER- α interacts with a region of GRIP1 distinct from that of AF-2 (185). This would suggest that the ER- α is capable of multiple contacts with an individual coactivator protein as well as the potential for simultaneous interactions with more than one coactivator. It is likely through these multiple interactions that a variety of functionally different receptor complexes can be recruited in a ligand- and cell-specific manner.

Corepressors

The corepressor proteins, N-CoR (nuclear receptor corepressor) and SMRT (silencing mediator of retinoid and thyroid receptors), were first identified as interacting with the thyroid hormone receptor (TR) and RAR to repress the activity of unliganded receptors (217,218). In addition, homodimers of TR or TR-RXR heterodimers have been shown to be required for corepressor binding and two receptor C-termini are required for corepressor binding on DNA, demonstrating a requirement for receptor dimers for transcriptional repression (219). As in the case of coactivators, a strong link between chromatin structure and the function of corepressor proteins has been made. Corepressors have been shown to exist in a complex containing the corepressor protein Sin3 and the histone deacetylases (HDAC) RPD3 or HDAC1 (220-223). Heinzel *et al* demonstrated that all three components of the complex of N-CoR, Sin3 and RPD3 are essential for transcriptional repression *in vivo* (220). The

deacetylation of the histone tails is thought to compact the chromatin to repress gene expression and recruitment of deacetylases to the chromatin by repressor proteins is thought to mediate their effects on gene expression (220,221).

In vitro hER- α has been shown to interact with N-CoR and SMRT in a ligandindependent manner (183,224), and in immunoprecipitates from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, N-CoR was shown to interact with the hER- α strongly in the presence of tamoxifen and weakly in ligand-free conditions (184). Microinjecting antibodies against N-CoR and SMRT in MCF-7 cells converted tamoxifen to an agonist but this had no effect on the response to estrogen as measured by transfection of an estrogen-responsive reporter gene (184). Conversely, the partial agonist activity of tamoxifen on hER- α has been shown to be suppressed by either N-CoR or SMRT overexpression (183,225). More recently, an N-CoR binding protein, SAP30, has been identified which is required for N-CoR mediated repression of tamoxifen bound hER- α (226). Together these data suggest that the antagonistic activity of tamoxifen may be due to its ability to recruit corepressor containing complexes to the transcription complex and the partial agonism seen in some cases may be due to decreased levels or interaction of antagonist-bound receptor with corepressors.

In HepG2 cells transiently expressed SMRT was also able to decrease basal hER- α activity by 60% and *in vitro* ligand-independent interactions between hER- α and SMRT have been demonstrated (183). Interestingly, agents that can activate the ER- α in the absence of ligand (i.e., EGF and PKC activation) were shown to decrease the interaction of N-CoR with hER- α in MCF-7 cells in the presence of tamoxifen and tamoxifen was unable to inhibit this ligand-independent activity (184).

The data support a model in which the ER- α when bound by antagonist (or perhaps in the absence of ligand) interacts with the corepressor complex to effectively mask the transcriptional activation functions. Once the receptor interacts with agonist-ligand (or is activated by ligand-independent pathways) the corepressor interactions are relieved, allowing interactions with coactivator complexes. More recently, some interesting data have been published to suggest that the nature of the ERE itself can alter the conformation of hER- α *in vitro* (227). This adds another layer of complexity to ER- α regulation and further suggests that the promoter itself may be able to 'guide' corepressor/coactivator interactions by altering the structure of the ER- α .

Other associated proteins

Other researchers have identified proteins capable of interacting with the ER- α and in some cases effects on ER- α activity have been demonstrated. Recent studies have demonstrated that cyclin D1, an important component of the cell cycle machinery, is capable of activating endogenous ER- α transcriptional activity in T47D human breast cancer cells in the absence and presence of estrogen, as well as transiently expressed hER- α in HeLa cells (228). Additionally, *in vitro* binding of cyclin D1 to the E/F region of the hER- α was demonstrated, supporting the hypothesis that cyclin D1 acts through direct physical contacts with the ER- α (228).

The transcription factor Sp1 and hER-α have been shown to interact *in vitro* in a ligand-independent fashion and enhance Sp1-DNA binding. Transcriptional enhancement by hER-α of an Sp1 binding site-containing Hsp27 promoter construct was demonstrated to be

ligand-dependent, but interestingly, did not require the ER-a-DNA binding domain (229).

Estrogen receptor-associated protein 140 (ERAP140) was isolated from MCF-7 cells as a protein that bound to the LBD of hER- α (182) and RAP46 (receptor associated protein 46) is a protein that interacts with hER- α in a ligand-independent manner *in vitro* (230). No clear function for either of these ER- α interacting proteins has been identified.

A 27 kDa protein, L7/SPA, has been identified using a yeast two-hybrid screening strategy, that interacts with hER- α hinge/LBD and was found to enhance the transcription of tamoxifen, but not estrogen or ICI 164,384, occupied hER- α (225).

A 55 kDa protein, that binds to the ER- α , is thought to aid the nuclear transport of the ER- α in the goat uterus (231). This protein can also interact with the cytoskeletal elements actin and tubulin, suggesting a role of the cytoskeleton in nuclear transport of ER- α (231).

Landel and coworkers isolated proteins that interacted with hER- α from MCF-7 and chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell extracts (167). In addition to the ER- α associated protein hsp70, a protein of 55 kDa was identified as a protein disulfide isomerase and two proteins, p48 and p45, were also described, whose identities are unknown. While the function of these proteins is not known, the researchers did demonstrate that maximum interaction of hER- α with an ERE *in vitro* occurred in the presence of all four proteins (167).

It is clear that numerous proteins that may be able to interact *in vivo* with the ER- α have been identified and it is likely that more ER- α interacting proteins will be identified before we can fully understand the role these proteins play in ER- α function. Cell- and tissue-

specific expression of these proteins is likely going to be of significance in understanding their role as well as the effects of ligand on *in vivo* interaction and function of the respective proteins.

Phosphorylation

The ER- α , like other members of the steroid-thyroid hormone receptor superfamily, is a phosphoprotein and several protein kinases, including mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), have been implicated in ER- α phosphorylation (232-239). In MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, the hER- α is phosphorylated at serine 118 and serine 167 in response to estradiol binding (238,240). In COS-1 monkey kidney cells, hormone-induced phosphorylation at serine 104, serine 106 and serine 118, on recombinantly expressed hER- α have been identified, with little or no phosphorylation at serine 167 (239). These differences in hormoneinducible phosphorylation sites detected by different research groups are unclear but may be due to differences in the cell types and source of hER- α used in these studies.

Phosphorylation is thought to play a role in regulating many aspects of steroid hormone receptor function including DNA binding and transcriptional activation. In a yeast system, hER- α mutated to an alanine at serine 167 was 75% less transcriptionally active than wild-type hER- α and casein kinase II phosphorylated hER- α *in vitro* at serine 167 to enhance DNA binding (234,236). Mutation of serine 118 to alanine in hER- α had no effect on *in vitro* DNA binding but did reduce the transcriptional activity, compared to wild-type hER- α , of transiently expressed receptors in COS-1 and HeLa cells but not in chicken embryo fibroblasts (241). Studies using mER- α demonstrated that while transcriptionally defective receptors were phosphorylated, the level of phosphorylation was 80% that of wild-type receptor (242). In addition, DNA-binding defective mER- α mutants were markedly reduced in the level of phosphorylation (15% that of wild-type), suggesting that a majority of mER- α phosphorylation depends on an intact DNA-binding domain (242). Denton and coworkers demonstrated that dephosphorylation of hER- α eliminated its affinity for an ERE *in vitro* (243). Therefore the data suggest that a majority of ER- α phosphorylation may be due to transcriptionally active/DNA bound receptor.

It has also been demonstrated that serine 118 and tyrosine 537 on hER-a are phosphorylated independently of estradiol binding in MCF-7 cells (236,237). Agents that can modulate the phosphorylation of the ER- α , including growth factors, can activate the ER- α in the absence of ligand (244,245). MAPK has been demonstrated to phosphorylate hER- α on serine 118 in vitro and activation of MAPK in vivo via estrogen-independent mechanisms (i.e., EGF) results in phosphorylation of hER-a on serine 118 (232,236,246) and can result in transcriptional activation of hER- α , requiring phosphorylation of serine 118 (240,246). In vivo, EGF has also been shown to result in phosphorylation of hER- α expressed in COS-1 cells at serine 167 and evidence suggests that pp90rsk1, a downstream component of the MAPK cascade, phosphorylates hER- α at serine 167 in vitro and in vivo (233). Additionally, Src family tyrosine kinases can phosphorylate recombinant hER-a in vitro at tyrosine 537 independent of estrogen (237). Together these data suggest that modulation of ER- α phosphorylation may be involved in ligand-independent activation of the ER- α . In transient transfection experiments, mutation of tyrosine 537 to serine or asparagine in hER- α resulted in constitutive transactivation and ligand-independent interaction of the mutant ER- α with the coactivator SRC-1, suggesting phosphorylation of this site may be involved in regulating response to ligand (247,248). Data also suggest that estradiol-induced phosphorylation of hER- α on serine only occurs on tyrosine 537-phosphorylated ER- α species and tyrosine-dephosphorylation of hER- α eliminated hER- α -ERE interactions *in vitro* (249). Studies also suggest that phosphorylation of hER- α on tyrosine 537 may be important for dimerization of the receptor since addition of hER- α antibodies to tyrosine-dephosphorylated hER- α restored ER- α -ERE interactions *in vitro* (249). Additionally, Src-phosphorylation of the hER- α restored ERE interactions *in vitro* (249). These data suggest that phosphorylation of receptor dimers, after which phosphorylation on serine residues can occur.

It is presently unclear if any differences in phosphorylation of the ER- α exist that could account for differences in response to estrogen or antiestrogens. It has been shown that the antiestrogens ICI 182,780, ICI 164,384 and hydroxytamoxifen are able to induce the phosphorylation of the hER- α (239,240). Phosphopeptide patterns of wild-type hER- α transfected in COS-1 cells were similar in the presence of estrogen, hydroxytamoxifen or ICI 164,384 treatment (239), but overall phosphorylation of hER- α transfected in COS-1 cells was lower in the presence of these antiestrogens compared to estrogen (241). Joel and coworkers demonstrated that ICI 182,780 induces an upshift of hER- α on Western blots associated with serine 118 phosphorylation similar to that seen with estradiol (240). These observations suggest that an increase in overall ER- α phosphorylation does not necessarily correlate with transcriptional activation and more subtle site-specific differences may be important. Interestingly, estradiol treatment of MCF-7 cells resulted in dephosphorylation of a single ³²-P-labelled ER- α phosphopeptide, suggesting that dephosphorylation of specific sites within the ER- α may also be important in regulating response to ligands (250).

While together these data suggest that phosphorylation may modulate transcriptional activity and DNA binding of ER- α , a clear understanding of the functional role for phosphorylation has not been established. Estrogen-stimulated, as well as ligand-independent reporter gene activity, can be reduced by inhibiting protein kinase activity in rat uterine cells, demonstrating the likely importance of phosphorylation in both ligand-dependent and - independent ER- α activation (244).

Role of hormones in breast cancer

Approximately 100 years ago Beatson demonstrated one of the first links between hormones and breast cancer when he reported that excision of the ovaries induced regression of breast cancer in two women (251). Almost 70 years later Jensen correlated the presence of a specific ER with the response to endocrine therapy (252). While in the past 100 years, much knowledge has been gained towards understanding steroid hormones, their receptors and their action in normal tissue as well as their role in breast cancer, we still do not fully understand the role hormones play in the initiation or progression of human breast cancer. The fact that male breast cancer accounts for less than 1% of the total annual incidence of breast cancer (5) underlies the importance of the hormonal milieu as a significant factor in breast cancer susceptibility.

As previously discussed, steroid hormones are implicated in the etiology of breast cancer. Risk factors, that are related to an increased time of hormone exposure such as a younger age at first menarche and older age of menopause (6,253) and use of hormonal replacement therapy in postmenopausal women (9) are associated with an increased risk. Growth factors have also been implicated in tumour growth and development, and estrogen is thought to act in part via the production of locally acting growth promoting substances (126).

Estrogen and breast cancer

Estrogens are important mitogens in terms of breast cancer cell growth both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (254,255). Further, reducing breast exposure to ovarian steroids significantly reduces breast cancer risk (6,7). Estrogen appears to play an important role in terms of breast cancer development and promotion. Rodent mammary turnour models are often used to study the effects of estrogens and antiestrogens on mammary cancers. Hormone-dependent turnours can be produced in rodents through the transplantation of breast cancer cells or treatment with chemical carcinogens such as N-nitrosomethylurea (NMU) or 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) (255). In rodent models of chemically induced mammary turnours estrogen is required for turnour formation and tamoxifen has been shown to inhibit the growth of turnours in these types of systems (256,257). When human breast cancer cells are implanted into athymic mice, estrogen alone stimulates turnour formation and antiestrogens can inhibit the growth of estrogen-induced turnours (258,259). These studies demonstrate the importance of estrogen in the growth of mammary cancer.

In the clinical setting, the response of breast cancer to endocrine therapy is highly correlated with the presence of the ER- α , which is overexpressed in approximately 70% of human breast tumours (37). Some of the most compelling evidence for the role of estrogen

in the development of breast cancer comes from a recent study on the prophylactic effects of the antiestrogen tamoxifen (The Breast Cancer Chemoprevention Trial) (53). In this study, women who did not already have breast cancer, but where at a significant risk for developing breast cancer, were administered tamoxifen for four years. The incidence of breast cancer in the women receiving tamoxifen treatment was reduced by approximately 45% compared to women receiving placebo. Since tamoxifen is thought to act mainly via preventing the activity of the ER- α , this is very strong evidence that estrogen, acting through its receptor, is likely responsible for many human breast cancers.

The availability of breast cancer cell lines as *in vitro* models has greatly facilitated the study of breast cancer and an understanding of the hormonal control. There are a few estrogen-responsive breast cancer cell lines with the MCF-7 cell line being the best characterized (260). These cells express the ER- α and demonstrate an absolute requirement for estrogen for tumour formation in athymic mice (259). Estrogen is a potent mitogen for human breast cancer cells in culture and antiestrogen (including hydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384) inhibits estrogen-induced cell proliferation and expression of estrogen-regulated genes (61,254). The discovery that estrogenic contaminants of phenol red, a component of cell culture medium, could stimulate the growth of human breast cancer cells in culture was further proof that estrogen alone could stimulate breast cancer cell growth *in vitro* (261).

Metabolites of estrogen have also been demonstrated to have biological function both dependent on and independent of the ER- α . The metabolic oxidation of estradiol can occur at several carbon atoms of the cholesterol backbone to produce either estrone, which can be converted to 16 α -hydroxyestrone (16 α -OH), or the catechol estrogens (2-hydroxyestradiol

and 4-hydroxyestradiol) (262). 16α -OH can bind to the hER- α and stimulate MCF-7 cell growth in culture (263). Levels of 16α -hydroxylase, the enzyme involved in forming 16α -OH, are increased in breast cancer patients (264). Catechol estrogens have also been shown to bind to the ER- α and increase proliferation and PR levels in MCF-7 cells in culture (265).

Despite the fact that much of the endocrine treatment of breast cancer is directed at blocking or interfering with the growth promoting effects of estrogen, it is still not fully understood how estrogen is involved in breast cancer development. As discussed, *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that estrogen is a potent mitogen for both breast tumours and breast cancer cells in culture. It is the mitogenic effect of estrogens (acting through the ER- α) that is believed to account for the carcinogenicity of estrogen. Although the mechanisms are not clear, it has been proposed that increased proliferation may result in an accumulation of genetic damage or that estrogen stimulation may prevent the inhibition of cell proliferation by overriding growth inhibitory factors through increased synthesis of growth promoting substances (255). Additionally, it has been hypothesized that metabolites of estrogen may bind to and damage DNA directly, thereby promoting or initiating tumourigenesis (262).

Protein kinases in breast cancer

Growth factors interact with their transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinases resulting in autophosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domains leading to the activation of a multicomponent signaling cascade that ultimately leads to the nucleus and affects gene transcription (266) (Figure 4). As discussed, the ER- α is thought to be functionally regulated via phosphorylation and estrogen is thought to act in part by the production of paracrine



Figure 4. The MAPK signalling cascade. Growth factors (i.e. EGF) activate receptor tyrosine kinases, leading to the activation of the MAPK ERK1 and ERK2 and phosphorylation of substrates, including nuclear transcription factors such as ER- α . Additionally, kinases such as PKC and Src can activate MAPK. Details of the pathway are outlined in the text. A dashed arrow indicates that the activation may be indirect. This figure is not intended to imply that growth factor receptors cannot activate other signalling cascades directly or indirectly.

and/or autocrine growth regulatory substances many of which can interact with cell-surface tyrosine kinase receptors to activate protein kinase cascades.

Breast tumours have been shown to contain elevated tyrosine kinase activities compared to benign breast tumours and normal breast tissues (267,268). Human breast tumours have been shown to contain elevated levels of Src tyrosine kinase activity compared to normal tissue (268) and one study has estimated that 70% of the elevated tyrosine kinase activity found in breast cancer may be due to increased Src-like activity (269). Elevated levels of MAPK activity and expression have been associated with the malignant phenotype and have been demonstrated in breast tumours compared to normal tissue and benign breast conditions (270). MAPKs are serine/threonine kinases that are intermediates in a signal transduction cascade that can be activated by tyrosine kinases such as Src and the EGF receptor (EGFR). These data suggest that an increase or de-regulation of growth controlling signals, such as those contributed by MAPK, may be involved in the etiology and pathogenesis of breast cancer, as well as affecting ER-α activity.

Mitogen-activated protein kinases

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK or extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK)) are a family of protein kinases involved in transmitting signals from a variety of stimuli from the cell membrane to the nucleus. ERK1 and ERK2, the first mammalian MAPK isoforms identified, are highly homologous proteins of 44 kDa and 42 kDa, respectively. Once activated ERK1 and ERK2 phosphorylate a variety of proteins, including transcription factors, to effect changes in gene expression, resulting in cell growth, differentiation or apoptosis (266). A cascade of protein kinases regulate and activate MAPK via

phosphorylation on both threonine and tyrosine residues (266,271). It is known that multiple MAPK cascades exist, but the most widely studied pathway involves activation of MAPKs, ERK1 and ERK2, via growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases such as EGFR (266).

Tyrosine phosphorylated residues of growth factor receptors interact with SH2 (Srchomology 2) domains of adapter proteins such as Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein 2) (271). Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (i.e., son of sevenless (SOS)) are next recruited to the membrane where they activate Ras by promoting the association of Ras with guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP) (272). GTP-bound Ras interacts with the serine/threonine kinase, Raf, which is activated via recruitment to the plasma membrane by Ras and upon activation is hyperphosphorylated (266).

The next downstream signal in the MAPK cascade is MEK (mitogen-activated, ERKactivating kinase), a target of activated Raf (271). The MEK isoforms 1 and 2 are believed to be highly specific for ERK1 and ERK2 and phosphorylate the MAPKs on threonine and tyrosine residues (at the sequence threonine-glutamic acid-tyrosine), both of which are required for full activation (273). ERK1 and ERK2 recognize and phosphorylate a wide range of substrates, including transcription factors and cytoskeletal components and are located in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus (266).

As previously described, the ER- α , is believed to be functionally regulated via phosphorylation by several protein kinases including MAPK. Serine 118 of the hER- α has been shown to be phosphorylated by MAPK in response to receptor activation by estradiol and growth factors, including EGF, and mutation of this site to an alanine residue severely diminished ER- α transcriptional ability (232,246). In several cell types, including MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, estradiol has been shown to rapidly increase MAPK activity (274-277). That this activation requires the ER- α was demonstrated in cells via transient transfection experiments showing an absolute requirement for ER- α for activation and in MCF-7 cells the addition of the antiestrogen ICI 182,780 blocked estrogen-induced MAPK activation (276). A recent report was able to show growth factor, but not estrogen, induced activation of MAPK in MCF-7 cells (240). The discrepancy between this report and a previous report demonstrating estrogen activation of MAPK in MCF-7 cells (276) is unclear, but may be due to differences in the experimental conditions under which activation was assayed between the two papers. Growth arrested MCF-7 cells can be stimulated mitogenically by estrogen, also without activation of ERK1 and 2 (278), again suggesting that estradiol treatment does not necessarily result in the activation the MAPKs, ERK1 and 2.

In T47D human breast cancer cells progestins can activate the MAPK pathway. Transient transfection studies demonstrated that progestin-induced MAPK activation required the ER- α and the antiestrogens ICI 182,780 and hydroxytamoxifen were capable of blocking progestin induction of MAPK (279). Immunoprecipitation experiments demonstrated an association of hER- α with PR and also c-Src (279). Both estradiol and progestin have been shown to activate c-Src (276,279) and in immunoprecipitates from T47D cells c-Src interacted with hER- α in the presence, but not in the absence, of either estradiol or progestin (279). Together these data suggest that c-Src may be an initial target of estradiol or ER- α mediated activation of the MAPK pathway. Additionally, the tumour promoter thapsigargin has been shown to activate MAPK through Src stimulation of Raf-1 kinase (280), providing a further link between elevated Src-like activity in human breast cancer cells and the activation of MAPK which can lead to activation of the ER- α .

Growth factors and their receptors

The observations that growth factors such as EGF could mimic the effects of estrogen led to the idea that such signalling systems may play a role in ER- α action (126,245). Polypeptide growth factors, such as EGF and IGF-I and -II, are potent mitogens of human breast cancer. The fact that estrogens can also regulate the expression of the ligands and receptors for growth factors suggests that they can also act in an autocrine or paracrine fashion to mediate estrogen-induced proliferation. As discussed in previous sections, growth factors (such as EGF) can activate the MAPK pathway resulting in the phosphorylation and activation of ER- α . The receptor for EGF belongs to a family of receptor tyrosine kinases. consisting of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR/erbB-1), erbB-2 (HER-2/neu). erbB-3, and erbB-4 receptors (126,281). A role in breast cancer development has been suggested for some members of this family. For example, the gene for erbB-2 has been shown to be amplified and/or overexpressed in 30% of human breast tumours (282-284) and in transgenic mice, expression of c-erbB-2 in the mammary glands led to the development of mammary tumours (285). In human breast cancer cell lines, overexpression of erbB-2 has been associated with elevated levels of MAPK activity (286) and in growth arrested human breast cancer cell lines, restimulation of cell growth via the addition of heregulin-B2 (a ligand for erbB-3 and erbB-4) required the activation of MAPK (287). Studies have suggested that erbB-2 amplification or overexpression may be of prognostic value in human breast cancer. Amplification of c-erbB-2 and erbB-2 protein levels have been correlated with lymph node

involvement, ER- α status, nuclear grade and turnour size, in human breast turnour biopsy samples (284,288). However, a recent report suggests that erbB-2 expression is not associated with response to tarnoxifen treatment or survival in ER- α positive metastatic breast turnours (289).

The EGFR is a transmembrane receptor with tyrosine kinase activity (290). The EGFR has been found to be overexpressed in some breast carcinomas and the presence of EGFR is inversely correlated with expression of ER- α (291). High levels of EGFR in human breast tumours have also been correlated with failure to respond to antiestrogen treatment (292,293). The inverse correlation between ER- α and EGFR expression can also be seen in breast cancer cell lines (294). A ligand for the EGFR, EGF, is expressed in human breast tumour biopsy samples and some breast cancer cell lines in culture, including MCF-7 (295,296) and addition of EGF to breast cancer cells in culture can decrease growth inhibition in response to hydroxytamoxifen treatment (127). EGF has also been shown to be able to stimulate MCF-7 tumour growth in nude mice (297). Interestingly, EGF is able to activate the ER- α in the absence of estrogen and upregulation of EGFR expression may be a mechanism that can lead to the loss of estrogen-dependent growth as will be discussed in more detail in following sections. TGF α also binds to and activates the EGFR (298) and is expressed by a variety of ER- α positive and negative human breast cancer cell lines and primary human breast tumours (299). Estrogen can induce TGFa expression in MCF-7 cells in culture and in MCF-7 turnours in nude mice (299) and exogenous TGFa can increase the proliferation of MCF-7 cells in culture in the absence of estrogen (140). TGFa levels have been shown to be reduced in tumours from tamoxifen treated ER- α positive breast cancer patients (128) and tamoxifen and hydroxytamoxifen treatment inhibits the expression of TGF α in breast cancer cells in culture (127). These data suggest that TGF α expression may be involved in estrogen-regulation of breast cancer cell growth. Overexpression of TGF α in the mammary glands of transgenic mice can lead to accelerated progression of carcinogen-induced tumours and hyperproliferation that can result in mammary cancers after pregnancy, suggesting TGF α may be involved in the early stages of mammary cancer (300-302). Transfection of TGF α into an immortalized normal human breast epithelial cell line (MCF10A) resulted in transformation *in vitro* (303) while transfection in MCF-7 cells had little effect on cell growth (304), supporting a role of TGF α in breast cancer initiation.

The insulin-like growth factors, IGF-I and IGF-II, can stimulate the proliferation of human breast cancer cells in culture (305,306) and exogenous IGF-I has been shown to stimulate MCF-7 tumour growth in nude mice (297). IGF-I and IGF-II mRNAs have been detected in breast tumour biopsy samples and *in situ* hybridization has demonstrated that it is mainly the stromal compartment of breast tissue specimens that expresses IGF-I and IGF-II, suggesting a paracrine role for these growth factors (307,308). Breast cancer cell lines do not apparently express IGF-I (307) and most, including MCF-7, do not express IGF-II (308). Circulating levels of IGF-I have been found to be decreased in breast cancer patients during tamoxifen therapy (129), suggesting that tamoxifen may exert some growth inhibitory effects by decreasing production of endogenous IGF-1 levels.

The mitogenic effects of IGF-I and -II are mediated by the type I IGF receptor (IGF-IR) which possesses tyrosine kinase activity and can activate the Ras-MAPK pathway (309). IGF-IR is expressed in almost all breast tumour biopsy samples and breast cancer cell lines (309) and several studies have reported overexpression of IGF-IR in breast tumours compared to normal breast tissue (310,311). Resnik *et al* demonstrated that IGF-IR expression was 14-fold higher in malignant breast tissue than in normal breast tissue and IGF-IR autophosphorylation and kinase activity were also elevated (310). In human breast tumours the expression of IGF-IR is positively correlated with ER- α expression (311) and estrogen increases IGF-IR levels in MCF-7 cells (312).

IGF-II can bind not only to the IGF-IR, but also the insulin receptor and IGF-II receptor (IGF-IIR) (281). The insulin receptor, which can activate the MAPK pathway, has also been shown to be elevated in human breast turnours compared to normal tissue (313) and in some human breast cancer cell lines compared to a nonmalignant human breast epithelial cell line (314). The role of signalling through the IGF-IIR in human breast cancer is unclear but there is evidence to suggest it may play a role in breast turnour invasion (315).

Together the data suggest that these growth factors and their signalling pathways may be implicated in breast cancer growth and development but many questions regarding their role in tumour progression and receptor function remain unanswered. Peptide growth factor signalling pathways can crosstalk with the ER- α and it has been demonstrated that growth factors can result in ligand-independent activation of the ER- α (316) and these growth factor signalling pathways have been implicated in estrogen-independent growth as will be discussed in a later section.

Tissue matrix system

How a cell behaves or responds to any particular stimulus is controlled in an overall sense by a network of signals derived from both soluble and insoluble cellular components
such as growth factors, the extracellular matrix, the cytoskeleton and the nuclear matrix, to effect changes in gene expression. This system of dynamic linkages and interactions is referred to as the tissue matrix system and consists of links between the nuclear matrix (NM), the cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix (ECM), and forms a structural and functional connection from the cell periphery to the DNA (317). The cytoskeleton is composed, in part, of intermediate filaments (IFs) and cytokeratins are members of the intermediate filament family of proteins (318). Direct connections (via intermediate filaments) between the cell periphery and the NM have been demonstrated and this nuclear matrix-intermediate filament (NM-IF) system is altered by turnour promoters and in oncogene-transformed cells (319-321). Direct evidence of a continuous network connecting the plasma membrane structure and cytoskeleton with the nucleoskeleton of eukaryotic cells is provided by data demonstrating that vimentin is anchored directly to the nuclear lamina via lamin B (322,323). Evidence also suggests that the intermediate filaments (including the lamins and cytokeratins) not only exist at the nuclear periphery but are also found as part of the internal NM (324-326).

Architectural alterations (defined by NM proteins, and/or interactions with the cytoskeleton or ECM) within, or associated with, the nucleus may influence or control what genes or subsets of genes are actively transcribed. IFs can interact with RNA and DNA (327) and cytokeratins can interact with nuclear DNA (326). In cultured murine mammary epithelial cells, the ECM has been shown to regulate tissue-specific gene expression (328) and modulating the cytoskeleton in murine mammary epithelial cells in culture with agents that disrupt actin and cytokeratin filament networks can alter milk protein synthesis (329,330). Reversion of the malignant phenotype using antibodies directed at ECM components of

human breast cancer cells in culture has also been demonstrated (331). Together these data demonstrate that not only is the cytoskeleton physically connected to, and may even be considered, an intimate part of the nucleus/NM structure, but that the nucleus can respond to signals from the structural organization of the cytoskeleton and ECM in order to modulate gene expression.

Nuclear matrix

The NM is a protein and RNA containing network within the nucleus that comprises the nuclear pore lamina, an internal fibrogranular RNA and protein containing network, and residual nucleolus (332). The NM exists not only as a structural entity but is thought to play an inherent role in many important nuclear processes including; DNA organization and replication, gene transcription and processing, and steroid hormone action (333-337). The expression of several NM proteins has been shown to be cell, tissue, differentiation, and hormonal state specific (338-340). Differences in NM protein expression exist between normal tissues and their cancerous counterparts and more specifically, differences have been shown between normal breast tissue and breast tumour tissue (341,342). Additionally, specific NM proteins have been shown to be associated with ER- α status in human breast cancer cell lines and human breast tumours (343). Several steroid hormone receptors, including the ER-a, have been shown to localize to the NM in steroid target tissue (111,337). Cell-free binding assays have confirmed that this localization of the mER-a is due to the presence of specific acceptor sites in the NM to which steroid-receptor complexes bind with high affinity and tissue specificity (344). Patterns of NM protein expression are hypothesized to be involved in changes in gene expression and it is believed that specific proteins of the NM can influence gene expression (345). How protein changes in the NM could influence gene expression is unclear, but transcriptionally active genes have been shown to be associated with the NM, whereas inactive genes are not (334).

Cytoskeleton

The cytoskeleton is composed of an interacting network of actin microtubules, microfilaments and IFs (317). The IFs are a heterogeneous group of proteins that can interact directly with the nucleus and plasma membrane, providing a link between the ECM and the nucleus (317). IFs are expressed in a tissue- and differentiation-specific manner and the cytokeratin IFs are characteristic of epithelial cells (318). ER- α positive human breast cancer cells that are epithelial in origin generally express the cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19 (318).

The cytokeratins (like other IF proteins) form a cage-like structure around the nucleus and a dense network throughout the cytoplasm (346). Studies have shown that IF proteins, including cytokeratins, can associate directly with membrane phospholipids, notably phosphatidyl-inositol-4,5-bisphosphate, and may be involved in second messenger signalling pathways (317,347). Research has also suggested a possible role for IFs in steroid biosynthesis. It has been shown in a human adrenal tumour cell line that vimentin filaments are required for the intracellular movement and esterification of low density lipoproteinderived cholesterol (348). Cytokeratin expression has also been correlated with tumour progression and grade, suggesting that cytokeratin expression may be involved in the tumour phenotype (349,350).

Hormone-independence

Breast cancer is a hormonally-responsive cancer and hormones including estrogen, are

required for breast cancer growth. As discussed previously, estrogens promote the growth of human breast cancer, and as such, most therapies are aimed at blocking the growth promoting effects of estrogen. Breast cancers are classified according to their requirement for proliferation as being either hormone-dependent or hormone-independent, based ultimately on the response to endocrine therapy of metastatic disease (351). At the time of clinical detection approximately 70% of human breast cancers contain ER- α , but only 60% of these will respond to endocrine therapy and are thus classified as hormone-dependent. Therefore, approximately 40% of ER- α positive tumours are resistant to endocrine therapy. Even of those tumours that originally respond to endocrine therapy, the majority will eventually develop resistance to this type of therapy.

The evolution of breast cancer into an estrogen-independent growth phenotype marks the beginning of a more aggressive phase of the disease and is a major problem in the efficacy of endocrine therapies such as antiestrogens (56,57). Understanding the factors that contribute to the development of a hormone-independent phenotype is of major importance in terms of breast cancer therapeutics.

Several breast cancer cell lines in culture also require estrogen for growth. Long-term culture in estrogen-deplete conditions can result in these cells becoming independent of the requirement for estrogen for growth. Indeed, the development of estrogen-nonresponsive growth in human breast cancer is thought to be one of the initial steps in the progression to hormone-independence (352). Although many possibilities exist for the development of endocrine resistance, and multiple factors are likely involved, the mechanisms are still unknown. In some cases hormone-independence and resistance can occur due to loss of ER- α

expression, but most tumours which have developed resistance to endocrine therapy remain receptor positive (353). Since many endocrine resistant tumours continue to express ER- α , defects in the ER- α structure and function or activation of the ER- α via ligand-independent mechanisms may result in resistance of tumours to endocrine therapy. It is evident from the preceding discussions that many factors can influence the activity of the ER- α and therefore there are many areas that could be perturbed leading to hormone-independence. Some of these have previously been discussed and several of the more pertinent mechanisms will be discussed in more detail in the proceeding sections.

Hormone-nonresponsive growth

In vitro studies to examine the effects of long-term growth in estrogen-free conditions became possible following the discovery that contaminants of phenol red, a pH indicator used in cell culture medium, were in fact estrogenic (261). This allowed researchers to study the effects of estrogen-deprivation via the use of cells cultured in the absence of phenol red and serum-steroids (354). Long-term growth of ER- α positive breast cancer cells (MCF-7, T47D and ZR-75-1) in estrogen-free conditions has been used to study the development of hormone-independence (355-363). Long-term growth in estrogen-free conditions can result in the cells becoming apparently unresponsive to estrogen in terms of growth and can in some instances result in the cells no longer responding to growth inhibition by antiestrogen. Jiang and coworkers obtained a clone of MCF-7 cells (5C), after long-term culture in estrogendeplete conditions, that was unresponsive to both estrogen and the antiestrogens hydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384 in terms of growth (355). 5C cells contained wild-type ER- α at levels similar to parental cells but synthesis of PR in response to estrogen was reduced as was estrogen-responsive reporter-gene expression (355).

Other researchers have shown that although long-term growth in estrogen-free conditions can result in apparently estrogen-independent growth, PR synthesis and steroidal and nonsteroidal antiestrogen inhibition of growth and reporter-gene expression is often retained (354,356-358,361). Estrogen-independent, ER-a positive sublines of MCF-7 cells have been isolated both in vitro (BSK cell lines) and in vivo in the nude mouse (MIII cell line) through prolonged growth in estrogen-free conditions (356,357). Katzenellenbogen et al have shown that while long-term estrogen-deprived MCF-7 cells (BSK-3) no longer responded to estrogen with increased proliferation, hydroxytamoxifen was still able to inhibit the proliferation of these cells (356). PR expression was still responsive to estrogen in BSK-3 cells, demonstrating a dissociation of estrogen-nonresponsive growth and expression of an endogenous estrogen-regulated gene (356). Clarke and coworkers demonstrated that both the BSK and MIII sublines were able to form tumours in ovariectomized nude mice in the absence of estrogen (357). Brunner et al continued study of the MIII subline and isolated a second line, LCC1, from a rapidly proliferating MIII tumour in ovariectomized nude mice (364). While the LCC1 cells are apparently estrogen-independent in terms of in vitro growth and display increased metastatic potential compared to the MIII cells, hydroxytamoxifen is still growth inhibitory to these cells (364). LCC1 cells contain ER- α levels equivalent to parental cells and a high constitutive level of PR that is still estrogen inducible (364). LCC1 cells were further selected in vitro for resistance to hydroxytamoxifen to produce the cell line, LCC2 (365). LCC2 cells retain ER- α and PR levels comparable to the parental cell line and PR remains estrogen-inducible (365). Hydroxytamoxifen is not growth inhibitory to the LCC2

cells in vitro or in vivo in nude mice, but these cells retain sensitivity to the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 182,780 in vitro (365). The LCC1 cells were also selected for in vitro resistance to the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 182,780, to generate the LCC9 cell line (366). The LCC9 cells are also resistant to in vivo growth inhibition by ICI 182,780 and additionally have developed cross-resistance to hydroxytamoxifen in vitro and in vivo. The level of ER- α in LCC9 cells is comparable to the parental cell line, but the basal PR levels is elevated and no longer responsive to estrogen treatment (366). While this study suggests that resistance to steroidal antiestrogen can result in a general loss of estrogen-responsiveness and crossresistance to the nonsteroidal antiestrogen hydroxytamoxifen, other studies demonstrate this is not always the case. Several reports have demonstrated that the in vitro development of resistance to ICI 182,780 or tamoxifen via long-term growth of MCF-7 cells in the presence of either antiestrogen did not result in lack of general estrogen-responsiveness and the resistant lines required estrogen for in vivo tumour formation in nude mice (367,368). In contrast to the LCC2 and LCC9 antiestrogen-resistant lines, both the tamoxifen-resistant (MCF-7/TAM^R) and the ICI 182,780-resistant (MCF-7/182^R) lines maintained expression of the ER- α but demonstrated a complete lack of PR expression (367,368). In addition, the MCF-7/TAM^R line was not cross-resistant to steroidal antiestrogens, nor was the MCF-7/182^R line cross-resistant to tamoxifen-mediated growth-inhibition (367,368). Therefore, like loss of estrogen-responsive growth, antiestrogen-resistant growth does not necessarily result in a general lack of estrogen-responsiveness and again demonstrates a dissociation between growth responses and regulation of gene expression. This is likely a result of the multiple factors involved in the development of estrogen- and/or antiestrogen-nonresponsive growth

and the complexity of the regulation of the function of the ER- α .

The effects of long-term estrogen-deprived growth of T47D and ZR-75-1 human breast cancer cells has also been examined (358,361-363). Murphy and coworkers examined the effects of long-term estrogen-free culture conditions on T47D (T47D:C) human breast cancer cells (362,363). T47D:C cells no longer express detectable ER-a protein or mRNA, but still retain a low level of PR protein expression that was not responsive to estrogen (363). A clone of the T47D:C cells (4) was also found to be both ER- α and PR negative (363). Estradiol, hydroxytamoxifen, and ICI 164.384 had no effect on the growth of these cells (T47D:C and T47D:C4) likely as a result of lack of ER-a expression (362.363). Another group of researchers examined the effects of long-term culture in estrogen-deplete conditions on T47D cells (358). Again, this resulted in estrogen-nonresponsive growth in vitro with the cells remaining responsive to growth inhibition to hydroxytamoxifen treatment (358). In contrast to the previous study, these cells had 3-fold higher ER- α levels and high basal PR levels which, similar to parental cells, could only be marginally upregulated with estrogen treatment (358). This group also examined the effects of long-term estrogen-deprivation on ZR-75-1 cells and again demonstrated that this resulted in the apparent loss of estrogenresponsive growth in vitro but a retention of hydroxytamoxifen growth inhibition. This was accompanied by a 2-fold increase in ER- α levels and in one clone (4) PR levels were similar to parental cells and remained fully estrogen-inducible, while in another clone (11A) PR levels were elevated and less estrogen-inducible (358). van den Berg and Lynch have also examined the effects of long-term estrogen-deplete culture conditions on ZR-75-1 cells and again have demonstrated that this results in apparently estrogen-nonresponsive in vitro growth (361). While ER- α protein expression was no longer detectable in these cells using ligand-binding techniques, tamoxifen is still somewhat growth inhibitory to these cells. Basal PR levels were elevated above parental estrogen-stimulated values in the estrogen-nonresponsive cells and were no longer estrogen-inducible (361).

These data demonstrate the complexity of the acquisition of a hormone-independent phenotype and underscore the fact that multiple mechanisms likely exist. In most cases there is a dissociation between estrogen-nonresponsive growth, antiestrogen-resistance and regulation of estrogen-responsive genes. While in some cases loss of hormone-responsive growth can be attributed to loss of ER- α expression, in most cases the cells retained expression of ER- α . This would suggest that alterations in the function of the ER- α are responsible for the estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype seen in these studies.

Variant ER-a mRNAs

Naturally occurring mutant or variant forms of the ER- α have been identified, as have polymorphic forms of the ER- α gene. ER- α gene polymorphisms have been detected in primary and metastatic breast tumours (248,369-373) but in most cases correlations with clinical parameters have not been found (372). A PvuII restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) was found to correlate with patient age but not ER- α expression in one study (369), while another found no correlation with age or ER- α expression (374) and a third correlated this RFLP with ER- α expression (375). Garcia and coworkers have identified a genetic polymorphism in the B-coding region of hER- α mRNA, that correlates with lower levels of hormone-binding activity in some ER- α positive breast tumours (373,376) and a high incidence of spontaneous abortion in women with ER- α positive breast cancer (377).

In primary breast cancers naturally occurring mutations of the ER- α gene appear to be quite rare (105,378) and point mutations in the ER- α gene occur in only approximately 1% of primary breast tumours (370,372). Mutations that alter the amino acid sequence of ER- α have been detected in both primary and metastatic breast cancer (248,370-373,379,380) (Table 2).

There has only been one reported case in humans of a germline mutation in the wildtype ER- α . This was a 28 year old male who is very tall, with incomplete epiphyseal closure and osteoporosis (381). The ER- α in this man was found to contain a point mutation in exon 2 resulting in a stop codon that would result in a severely truncated ER- α protein without any HBD or DBD, consistent with the fact this individual had no detectable response to estrogen administration (381).

Many laboratories, including Dr.L.C. Murphy's, have detected variant ER- α mRNA transcripts in breast cancer biopsy samples, breast cancer cell lines, and normal breast tissue (382-386). Currently, three main types of altered or variant ER- α mRNAs have been identified in human breast cancers: exon deleted, truncated, and exon duplicated or inserted ER- α -like transcripts. Altered ER- α mRNA is found, most often, along with the wild-type ER- α mRNA transcript and in some cases, variant transcripts occur in high abundance relative to normal ER- α mRNA in some human breast cancer biopsy samples (385,387). A brief description of some of the different types of variant ER- α mRNA transcripts follows and

Codon/protein change	Exon
Leu296Pro	4
Glu352Val	4
Met396Val	5
Asn69Lys	1
Tyr537Asn	8
Ser47Thr	1
Lys531Glu	8
truncated at 156	2
Asp411Thr, truncated at 417	5
Ser432 truncated at 436	5
Met250Ile, truncated at 251	3
-	
truncated at 454	6
Lys472 none	7
Gly276 none	4
Ala505 none	7
His577 none	8
Thr594 none	8
Ser10 none	1
Ala87 none	1
Arg243 none	3
Pro325 none	4
	Codon/protein change Leu296Pro Glu352Val Met396Val Asn69Lys Tyr537Asn Ser47Thr Lys531Glu truncated at 156 Asp411Thr, truncated at 417 Ser432 truncated at 436 Met250Ile, truncated at 251 truncated at 454 Lys472 none Gly276 none Ala505 none His577 none Thr594 none Ser10 none Ala87 none Ala87 none Arg243 none Pro325 none

.

Table 2. ER- α mutations and polymorphisms in human breast tumours

Adapted from (379,380)

figure 5 demonstrates the structure of these transcripts compared to the wild-type hER- α mRNA.

Single exon deleted

An ER- α mRNA variant lacking exon 2 (ERd2) has been detected in breast tumours. normal breast tissue and breast cancer cell lines (382,388-391). ERd2 would encode a truncated 16 kDa protein comprising only the A/B domain of wild-type ER-a. Variant ER-a mRNA with an inframe deletion of exon 3 (ERd3) has been detected in human breast cancer cell lines, breast tumours and normal human breast cells (382,387,391-393). The putative protein of 61 kDa would be missing the second zinc finger of the DBD and in vitro recombinantly expressed ERd3 cannot bind DNA (391). The ERd4 mRNA contains an inframe deletion of exon 4, which could encode a 54kDa protein lacking the hinge region (D) and a portion of the HBD of wild-type ER- α . The ERd4 protein is unable to bind to DNA or hormone in vitro (394). ERd4 mRNA has been detected in normal breast tissue, breast tumours and breast cancer cell lines (382,384,395-398). The exon 5 deleted ER- α mRNA (ERd5) could encode a 40 kDa truncated protein, lacking a majority of the HBD (399). Initially ERd5 was detected in ER- α negative/PR positive tumours (399) but has subsequently been detected in normal breast tissue as well as ER-a positive breast tumours and ER-a positive and negative breast cancer cell lines (382,387,400,401). The exon 7-deleted ER-a mRNA (ERd7) is the most abundant ER-a deleted variant in breast tumours (384,387) and has also been detected in normal breast tissue and breast cancer cell lines (382,384,395). ERd7 would encode a truncated protein of approximately 51 kDa, missing the C-terminal portion of the HBD, including the AF-2 region, and the F domain. This putative protein

	+1 233 684 875 992 1328 1467 1601 1785 2020 6	322
WT-ER-a	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	
(00 KDa)	1 151 215 254 366 412 457 518 595	
	AIG TGA	
ERd2	1 3 4 5 6 7 8	
(10 KDa)	TGA	
ERd3	1 2 4 5 6 7 8	
(61 kDa)		
ERd4		
(54 kDa)		
ERd5	TGA	
(40 kDa)	1 2 3 4 6 7 8	
	TGA	
ERd6	1 2 3 4 5 7 8	
(32 KDa)	TGA	
ERd7		
(51 kDa)		
ERd2-3	TGA	
(18 kDa)	1 4 5 6 7 8	
	TGA	
ERd3-4 (49 kDa)	1 2 5 6 7 8	
(47 KL/a)	TGA	
ERd4-7		
(39 kDa)		
ERd3/7	TGA	
(27 kDa)	1 2 3 7 8	
	TGA	
ERd4/5 (49 kDa)	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	
(4) (1)	TGA	
ERd4/7	1 2 3 4 7 8	
(34 KD a)	TGA	
ERd2-3-4	1 5 6 7 8	
(17 kDa)	T	
ERd2-3-7		
(18 kDa)		

Figure 5. Schematic diagram of variant ER- α cDNA compared to wild-type ER- α (WT-ER- α) cDNA. The numbering on top of WT-ER- α cDNA refers to nucleotide position (67). Numbering below refers to amino acid position (67). Adapted from (380).

would be identical to wild-type ER- α up to amino acid 456 after which it would contain 10 novel amino acids.

Multiple exon deleted and other deleted

ER- α mRNA splice variants lacking two or more exons have also been detected in breast tumours, normal breast tissue and breast cancer cell lines (382,384,387-389,395,398). ER- α mRNA with an inframe deletion of both exons 3 and 4 has been detected in both normal breast tissue and breast tumours (384,387,388). An ER- α splice variant lacking both exons 4 and 7 was initially detected in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 human breast cancer cells (389) and has been detected in human breast tumours (384). This variant mRNA could result in the generation of a 39 kDa protein with an inframe exon 4 deletion and an out of frame exon 7 deletion, resulting in 10 novel amino acid residues prior to a premature termination of translation (389).

ER- α variant transcripts containing deletions that are not entire exons, but vary in size from a single nucleotide to several hundred nucleotides, have also been identified (370,382,384,402,403) (Table 2 and figure 5). In a tamoxifen-resistant metastatic human breast tumour an ER- α -like mRNA whose corresponding cDNA contained a deletion of a thymidine residue in exon 6 has been detected. This single nucleotide deletion would result in a frameshift in the HBD giving rise to a premature translation termination at amino acid 437, generating a protein that contains wild-type ER- α sequence up to amino acid 432 followed by 5 unique amino acids (370). In breast tumours an ER- α splice variant that consists of a deletion within exon 4 to sequences within exon 7 has been identified (ERd4/7). This could potentially encode a 34 kDa protein, lacking the majority of the HBD and containing 32 unique amino acids after wild-type ER- α sequence ending at amino acid 277 (403). An ER- α variant mRNA transcript deleted from within exon 3 to within exon 7 (ERd3/7) has been detected in human breast tumours. The putative 27 kDa protein would lack the hinge region and most of the HBD (384). The expression of ERd3/7 mRNA was found to be associated with tumours containing high levels of wild-type ER- α (384). In T47D human breast cancer cells, an ER- α variant mRNA containing an inframe deletion of 460 bases from with exon 4 to within exon 5 (ERd4/5) has been identified. This could encode a putative 49 kDa protein with a 153 amino acid deletion from the DBD to the mid-HBD (402). These same researchers also identified a variant ER- α mRNA transcript in T47D cells that contained a frame-shift mutation in the HBD that resulted from a deletion of a guanine residue at nucleotide 1463. This could lead to the expression of a variant ER- α protein truncated at amino acid 417 in the HBD with 7 unique amino acids at the C-terminus (402).

Insertions/duplications

Altered ER- α transcripts containing duplications of one or more exons have also been identified in breast tumours. An altered ER- α mRNA with a duplication of exon 6 could encode a 51 kDa protein truncated after the exon 6 repeat lacking most of the HBD including AF-2 (404). An exon 3 and 4 duplicated ER- α mRNA has also identified in breast tumours (404) and an ER- α -like mRNA containing an inframe duplication of exons 6 and 7 has been detected in an estrogen-independent subline of MCF-7 cells (405).

An altered ER- α mRNA transcript with an inframe 69 base pair insertion between exon 5 and 6 has been identified in human breast tumours (404). Subsequent studies suggest the insertion of this sequence, normally present in intron 5 of the ER- α gene, resulted from a point mutation in the ER- α gene of the breast tumour, generating a splice site donor sequence 3' to this 69 bp sequence (406).

Truncations

The detection of ER- α mRNA variants is performed primarily using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) techniques, but initially Murphy and Dotzlaw identified, by Northern blotting, several truncated ER- α mRNA in human breast cancer biopsy samples expressed at high abundance relative to normal ER- α mRNA in some samples (385). Cloning and sequencing of one mRNA transcript (clone 4) revealed it to contain exons 1 and 2 of wild-type ER- α mRNA, after which it contained LINE-1 related sequences (407). The cDNA corresponding to this transcript would encode a 24 kDa protein containing the A/B region and the first zinc binding motif of the DBD of the wild-type ER- α followed by 6 unique amino acids (407). Clone 4 mRNA has been detected in breast tumours, normal breast tissue and breast cancer cell lines (382,384,385).

Expression of variant ER-a proteins

Presently, it is unknown if altered/variant ER- α mRNAs are stably translated *in vivo* but, while still controversial, evidence is emerging to support the existence of ER- α variant proteins which could correspond to some ER- α variant mRNAs in some cell lines and tissues *in vivo* (386,408-413). In BT-20, ER- α negative, human breast cancer cells a protein consistent in size with that predicted to be encoded by the ERd5 mRNA found in these cells, has been detected by Western blotting (409). An 80 kDa ER- α -like protein has been detected

in an estrogen-independent MCF-7 subline that likely corresponds to an exon 6 and 7 duplicated ER- α mRNA detected in the same cells (405).

Immunohistochemical data also suggest the existence of ER- α variant proteins. Huang and coworkers examined primary breast tumours for ER- α protein expression using two ER- α antibodies recognizing individual epitopes in the N- and C-terminal ends of the wild-type ER- α protein (398). The data demonstrated a discordance between the ER- α levels measured by the two antibodies, suggesting the existence of truncated ER- α -like proteins in the discordant tumours. ER- α mRNA expression was also evaluated in these tumours, and in cases that had inconsistent antibody staining, variant ER- α mRNAs, ERd2-3-7, ERd2-3-4, ERd3/7 and clone 4, were elevated (398). Immunohistochemical studies of human breast tumours have identified ER- α that are unable to locate to the nucleus in the presence of hormone (413) and in some ER- α positive tumours, ER- α unable to bind to an ERE has been detected (408,411). Desai and coworkers, using an antibody specific to ERd5 protein, obtained immunohistochemical evidence to suggest that a protein corresponding to this variant ER- α protein is expressed in some breast tumours (414).

In some human breast cancer biopsy samples truncated DNA-binding forms of ER- α like proteins have been detected (411) and truncated ER- α -like protein has also been detected in ER- α positive/PR negative breast tumours that bound to an ERE in gel mobility shift assays (386). Using site-directed monoclonal ER- α antibodies targeted to specific functional domains of the ER- α , Traish and coworkers have provided evidence to suggest that breast tumours may contain ER- α with defects in specific functional domains (415). Unfortunately the lack of specific antibodies to the majority of these putative proteins and the fact that many of them are similar in size to heavy chain immunoglobulins makes definitive identification and absolute proof of the existence of such proteins a difficult task. Nevertheless, while still controversial, the data do provide evidence that variant/altered forms of the ER- α protein could exist *in vivo* and in some cases correlate with the presence of specific variant ER- α mRNA transcripts.

Functional significance of variant ER-a mRNA

While the pathophysiological significance of ER- α variant expression is unclear, altered expression of some ER- α variant mRNAs has been shown to be associated with both breast tumourigenesis and breast cancer progression (382,386,389,416,417). The expression of clone 4 relative to wild-type ER-a mRNA was found to be significantly elevated in breast tumour tissue compared to normal breast tissue (382,416). Increased expression of clone 4 variant ER-a mRNA has been associated with breast tumours with characteristics of poor prognosis and markers of reduced endocrine sensitivity (417), suggesting that increased expression of some variant ER- α mRNAs relative to wild-type ER- α could be involved in breast cancer development and/or progression. ERd5 mRNA levels have been found to be increased in breast tumour compared to normal breast tissue (414) and the expression of ERd5 mRNA relative to wild-type ER- α mRNA has been found to be significantly higher in some breast tumours compared to normal tissue (382,400). ERd5 mRNA has also been detected in ER-a negative/PR positive human breast tumours (400) and a study suggests that ERd5 mRNA may be elevated in ER-a negative tumours which express PR or the estrogenresponsive protein pS2 (418). This type of data led to suggestions that ERd5 may be involved

in breast tumour progression, but low to undetectable levels of this variant have been demonstrated when compared to multiple variant ER- α transcripts in a range of human breast tumours (384), suggesting that increased expression of ERd5 may not be a general phenomenon. Furthermore, levels of ERd5 mRNA have been associated in tumours from patients with increased disease-free survival, suggesting that it may be an indicator of good prognosis (414). Leygue and coworkers examined ER- α mRNA splice variants in 100 breast tumours and increased expression of ER- α mRNA splice variants, ERd2-3-4 and ERd3/7, was associated with higher grade and increased wild-type ER-a, respectively (384). Increased levels of ERd7 mRNA are often found in ER- α positive/PR negative breast tumours (386), suggesting it may interfere with normal ER-a function. ERd4 mRNA expression was shown to be more common in PR positive tumours and was associated with markers of good prognosis (384) and the level of ERd3 mRNA compared to wild-type ER-a mRNA has been shown to be reduced in breast tumour tissue compared with normal tissue (393). It is presently still unclear what role altered ER- α variant mRNA expression may play in breast tumour development or progression, but the findings that increased or decreased expression of ER-a variant mRNAs has been found in different breast tumour phenotypes suggests the potential for alterations in the balance of variant mRNA expression to affect wild-type ER-a function.

Several studies, using transient transfection analyses, have shown that individual ER- α variant proteins, if expressed *in vivo*, may have the ability to interfere with wild-type ER- α activity (386,391,399,405,409,414,419). For some ER- α variants, conflicting results have

been obtained (391,420) which may be due to cell- and promoter-specific events previously described for various structural/functional domains of the wild-type ER- α . Similarly, overexpression of a single ER- α variant using stable transfection technology has resulted in different results in different laboratories (419,421). For example, in a veast transient expression system, ERd3 variant had no intrinsic transcriptional activity nor did it affect the activity of co-expressed wild-type ER- α (420). This is in contrast to data obtained in mammalian cells. In HeLa cells, transiently expressed ERd3 displayed no intrinsic transcriptional activity but was able to inhibit the transcriptional activity of co-expressed wildtype ER- α (391). In addition, under conditions in which ERd3 protein was unable to bind an ERE in gel mobility shift assays, it was able to inhibit the ability of wild-type ER- α to bind an ERE (391). These studies suggest that ERd3 is able to function in a dominant-negative fashion to interfere with wild-type ER- α activity. Stable transfection of ERd3 in MCF-7 cells resulted in reduced in vivo invasiveness and anchorage-independent growth, suggesting that it is able to suppress the transformed phenotype (393). In yeast cells and chicken embryo fibroblasts, transiently expressed ERd5 displayed ligand-independent transcriptional activity (399,419). Stable transfection of an ERd5 expression vector into MCF-7 cells demonstrated little effect in one instance (419), while in another, it resulted in estrogen-independence and tamoxifen-resistance (421). While the reasons for the discrepancies between these reports are unclear, a study has demonstrated a correlation between reduced estrogen-responsiveness and increased ERd5 mRNA expression in stocks of MCF-7 cells throughout North America. suggesting that levels of endogenous ERd5 may influence hormone-responsiveness and could influence the results obtained by different laboratories using different stocks of MCF-7 cells (422). Conflicting data have also been obtained for ERd7, in which it had no activity when transiently expressed with wild-type ER- α in HeLa cells, (391) but in a yeast transient expression system was able to act in a dominant-negative fashion and inhibit wild-type ER- α activity (386). Cell-specific differences are likely to account for the differences obtained in these two studies.

Important in interpreting the data on the individual ER- α variants is the fact that not only are these mRNAs often expressed along with the wild-type ER- α , but multiple ER- α variant mRNA species are often expressed together. Therefore, it is likely that the combined expression of several ER- α mRNA species may play a role, as yet poorly defined, in the overall activity of the ER- α in any particular cell.

It has been speculated that some variant ER- α mRNAs could encode proteins involved in the development of hormone-independence. Jordan and coworkers isolated a subclone of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells (MCF-7:2A) through long-term growth in estrogen-free conditions that exhibits apparently estrogen-nonresponsive growth (410). These cells express an 80 kDa ER- α -like protein detected using Western blotting techniques (410). Analysis of ER- α mRNA transcripts in the MCF-7:2A cells revealed the presence of an ER- α variant mRNA with an inframe duplication of exons 6 and 7 (405). This variant mRNA could encode a protein of 80 kDa, likely corresponding to the 80 kDa protein detected by Western blotting, which may be involved in the evolution of the estrogen-independent growth phenotype of these cells (405). Subsequent studies on the exon 6 and 7 duplicated ER- α variant demonstrated it was incapable of ligand binding, but could bind to an ERE *in vitro* and overexpression of this variant in T47D cells resulted in inhibition of wild-type ER- α transcriptional activity in transient transfection analyses (423). Sublines of T47D cells have also been found to contain abnormal ER- α mRNA and it has been proposed that heterodimers of wild-type and mutant ER- α proteins could override the estrogen requirement of the wildtype receptors resulting in an ER- α positive, but estrogen-resistant phenotype (353). In a mouse model of hormone-independence, loss of expression of the 65 kDa wild-type ER- α , and increased expression of 50 and 35 kDa ER- α -like proteins was seen as the tumours progressed from hormone-dependent to hormone-independent (412).

Again, there are conflicting results obtained when researchers have attempted to examine a role for variant ER-a mRNA in tamoxifen-resistance. As described, different groups have obtained differing results after stably expressing an ERd5 transgene in MCF-7 cells. One group demonstrated little effect of ERd5 over-expression (419) while, another (421) found ERd5 overexpression resulted in estrogen-independence and tamoxifenresistance. Similarly, a study found that the levels of ERd5 mRNA transcripts were lower in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 cell lines than in the parent cell line (389), while other studies found no difference in ERd5 mRNA levels in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 sublines compared to wild-type (392) or in tamoxifen-resistant tumours compared to primary breast cancers (418). One study found no difference in levels of ERd2 in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 sublines compared to wild-type cells (392) while in another, researchers found that ERd2 was overexpressed in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 cells compared to parental cells (389). Once again, the reasons for the different results are unclear, but as multiple parameters affect wildtype ER- α activity, it is likely that multiple parameters can also affect the activity of variant ER- α proteins, and again the expression of multiple variant ER- α mRNA species along with wild-type ER- α is likely to influence the overall ER- α activity.

Ligand-independent activation of the ER-a

Research has demonstrated that the ER- α can be activated in a ligand-independent fashion (244,245,316). The ability to activate the ER- α in the absence of ligand could confer a growth advantage to ER- α positive breast cancer cells and aid in the development of a hormone-independent phenotype. Studies have shown that several growth factors such as EGF, TGF α and IGF-1 are able to activate the ER- α in the absence of estrogen (244-246,316,424). For example, EGF was able to activate hER- α transiently expressed in HeLa cells in the absence of estrogen (246,424) and in rat uterine cells, IGF-1 was able to activate the endogenous ER- α in the absence of estrogen (244). Importantly, ICI 164,384 was able to block this ligand-independent activation of the ER- α , confirming that these signals do indeed cross-talk with the ER- α (244-246,316). Researchers have also demonstrated that ligand-independent activation of the rat uterine ER- α by growth factor signalling pathways can result in increases in intracellular PR levels, an endogenous estrogen-responsive gene (425).

Agents that can modulate phosphorylation of the ER- α (239,426) have also been shown to activate the ER- α in the absence of ligand. Activation of protein kinase A (PKA), by agents that raise intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (cholera toxin (CT) and isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX) or 8-bromo-cAMP), or activation of PKC, via TPA, can activate endogenous rat uterine ER- α , endogenous hER- α in BG-1 (human endometrial carcinoma) cells, and hER- α transiently transfected into HeLa cells, in the absence of estrogen and the antiestrogen ICI 164,384 can inhibit this response (244,246,316,424). Inhibition of cAMP-dependent PKA blocked ligand-independent activation of rat uterine ER- α and hER- α transfected into HeLa cells by IGF-1 and cAMP (IBMX+CT) (244,424) but not EGF (424). suggesting that IGF-1 is acting through a PKA-dependent pathway in this system. Inhibition of PKC inhibited TPA-induced hER-a transactivation in BG-1 cells but did not inhibit the effects of TGFa. EGF or IGF-1 (316) but inhibition of PKC did reduce EGF activation of hER- α transiently expressed HeLa cells by 40-50% (246). This suggests that in some cell types EGF may be acting through a PKC-dependent pathway that may account for some, but not all, of its effects. Additionally, research has demonstrated that treatment of HeLa cells with okadaic acid (an inhibitor of protein phosphatases 1 and 2A) could also activate transiently expressed hER-o in the absence of ligand and again ICI 164,384 could abolish this response (246), supporting a role for phosphorylation in ligand-independent ER- α activity. Activation of PKA (IBMX+CT) or PKC (TPA) resulted in only very weak ligandindependent activation of endogenous hER-a in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells or hER-a transfected into CHO cells, but these agents could synergize with estrogen to increase ER-a mediated transcriptional activation in a cell- and promoter-specific fashion (427). Additionally, EGF did not result in ligand-independent activation of hER- α transfected into COS-1 cells (424). Taken together, the data suggest that the growth factor response (i.e., EGF versus IGF-1) may be mediated by different signalling pathways and is likely to influence ER- α activity in a cell- and promoter-specific manner.

Studies using mouse and human ER- α mutants have demonstrated that the ability of

the ER- α to respond to EGF, required the N-terminal A/B domain of the receptor, but not the LBD (245,316,424) and PKC activation of mER- α required the N-terminal AF-1 domain (428). In contrast, cAMP activation of the hER- α in HeLa cells required the LBD, but not the N-terminal A/B domain (424) and when hER- α is expressed in COS-1 cells phosphorylation of ER- α by IBMX+CT with an N-terminal deleted receptor was maintained (239). As discussed, the hER- α contains several functionally significant phosphorylation sites. Several of these sites (serine 104, 106, 118, and 167) are found in the N-terminal region of the hER- α , while a tyrosine 537 is phosphorylated in the C-terminal region of the molecule. Together this suggests that not only do different growth factor signalling pathways activate ER- α , but the signal transduction pathways and their targeted phosphorylation sites on the ER- α are likely to be different.

EGF results in phosphorylation of serine 118 on the hER- α (232,246), which is required for ligand-independent activation of the receptor (246). EGF activation of hER- α transfected into HeLa or SKBr3 (human breast cancer) cells was found to be via a MAPK pathway and MAPK phosphorylates serine 118 of the ER- α *in vitro* (232,246). These data support the hypothesis that EGF-induced ER- α activation may be via a MAPK pathway that results in phosphorylation of serine 118 in the N-terminal A/B domain of the ER- α . Interestingly, it has previously been shown that transfection of oncogenic v-ras (which activates MAPK) DNA into MCF-7 cells can result in these cells becoming estrogenindependent both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (429), suggesting that activation of the Ras-MAPK pathway could result in both ligand-independent activation of the ER- α and estrogenindependent growth.

Mutations in the ER-a have also been identified which can result in ligandindependent transcriptional activity. For example, as discussed previously, an ER- α with a tyrosine 537 to asparagine mutation has been detected in one metastatic human breast cancer (248). A hER- α containing this mutation displayed transcriptional activity in the absence of estrogen when transiently expressed in HeLa or MDA-MB-231 (ER-a negative human breast cancer) cells (248). Tamoxifen and ICI 164,384 were both able to partially suppress the constitutive activity of this receptor in a promoter-dependent context (248). Researchers have also demonstrated that mutation of the tyrosine 537 in the hER- α to an alanine or serine resulted in a receptor with constitutive transcriptional activity when transiently expressed in MDA-MB-231 or CHO cells and hydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384 were able to block this activity (180,247). Interestingly, these researchers demonstrated an interaction of the tyrosine 537 mutant receptors in vitro with the coactivators SRC-1, TIF1 and RIP140, that, in contrast to wild-type hER- α , occurred in the absence, as well as presence of estrogen (180,247). Additionally, tamoxifen was able to prevent this in vitro interaction (180,247). As described, this residue is a site of phosphorylation in the hER- α , further implicating phosphorylation as a mechanism of control of ER-a activity. Estrogen-independent interactions with coactivators, such as SRC-1, may explain the constitutive transcriptional activity of the receptor. It would thus appear that residues, such as tyrosine 537, may be required to maintain the receptor inactive in the absence of estrogen and that an alteration affecting this region (perhaps by mimicking the effects of phosphorylation) can result in recruitment of coactivator proteins in the absence of estrogen. In the absence of estrogen the

tyrosine 537 to serine mutant hER-a displayed a conformation (as assessed by proteolytic digestion) that was similar to that seen with wild-type hER- α treated with estrogen (180), confirming that receptor conformation is an important determinant of its ability to interact with coactivators and exhibit ligand-independent transcriptional activity. A hER- α mutated at glutamate 380 to glutamine, has also been shown to display ligand-independent transcriptional activity when transiently expressed in MDA-MB-231 and CHO cells and the ability to interact in vitro with SRC-1 in the absence of ligand (180), again supporting an important role for coactivator interactions in receptor function. Transient transfection studies have also demonstrated that SRC-1 can increase the ligand-independent activity of hER- α in HeLa cells induced by increases in cAMP (183), suggesting that an alteration in the interaction of the ER- α with a coactivator protein could also result in ligand-independent as well as estrogen-independent activation of the ER- α . These data suggest that alterations in the ability of the ER- α to interact with coactivator proteins could be involved in altered ER- α activity in human breast tumours. Additionally, increased or altered expression of ER-a coactivator proteins may be involved in breast cancer development and progression. The coactivator AIB1 (a member of the SRC-1 coactivator family) is amplified in breast cancer (193). While decreases in the levels of SRC-1 protein have been found in breast tumours and breast cancer cell lines compared to normal breast tissue, lower levels of SRC-1 protein were found in patients that did not respond to tamoxifen treatment compared to those that did (430).

Loss of ER-a expression

At the time of clinical detection one third of tumours are classified as ER- α negative

in terms of ligand binding and immunoreactivity and rarely respond to antiestrogen treatment. As discussed previously, this could be accounted for by the presence of altered ER- α proteins that no longer bind ligand, or contain the epitopes necessary to be detected by antibody, but there are ER- α negative human breast tumours that do not express ER- α mRNA transcripts (431,432) and do not apparently contain mutations within, or loss of, the ER- α gene (105,372). This would suggest that lack of ER- α expression in human breast tumours is due, in many cases, to lack of ER- α gene expression. One mechanism which could block or prevent the transcription of the ER- α gene is methylation of the cytosine-guanine-rich CpG island which can result in transcriptional silencing of genes. Studies examining the 5' region of the hER- α gene have shown a correlation with methylation of the CpG island and lack of ER- α expression in both primary breast cancers and human breast cancer cell lines (431,433). Furthermore, Ferguson *et al* treated two ER- α negative human breast cancer cell lines, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578t, with demethylating agents and demonstrated the re-expression of both ER- α mRNA and functional ER- α protein (434).

A loss of transcription of the ER- α gene could also be due to a loss or decrease of ER- α gene specific transcription factors. A protein, ERF-1 (estrogen receptor factor 1), has been cloned from MCF-7 cells that binds to the promoter of the hER- α gene and is absent in some ER- α negative breast cancer cell lines (435,436) but it is unclear if this or other ER- α gene specific transcriptional regulatory proteins are specifically involved in the lack of ER- α expression in human breast tumours.

Apparent loss of ER-a expression could also occur via the outgrowth of an ER-a

negative population of cells. Studies have demonstrated that ER-a negative outgrowth can occur and long-term growth in estrogen-free conditions can also result in ER-a negative populations of cells (362,363). For example, as described, a clone of the T47D human breast cancer cell line, C4, derived by long term culture in estrogen-free conditions no longer expresses ER- α mRNA or protein and is insensitive to growth stimulation by estrogen and inhibition by hydroxytamoxifen (362). Additionally, studies using T47D cells have demonstrated that single cell clones are heterogeneous and are composed of populations of cells that are ER- α positive and estrogen-responsive, ER- α negative, and ER- α positive and estrogen-resistant (402). Human breast tumours are heterogeneous and contain populations of ER- α positive and negative cells (437), but it is not know if populations of ER- α negative cell outgrowth occurs in human tumours in vivo to result in an ER-a negative tumour, or if cells previously ER-a positive lose ER-a expression. Johnston and coworkers in studying tamoxifen-resistant human breast tumours concluded that while the development of tamoxifen-resistance was associated with a lowering in the overall level of immunohistochemically detected ER- α (89% of responders to primary tamoxifen treatment were ER- α positive versus 61% of tamoxifen-relapsed tumours in the same patients) it was not associated with loss of ER- α expression (438) and as previously mentioned a significant proportion of hormone-independent human tumours retain ER- α expression, suggesting that in many cases it is the ability of the cells (or tumours) to overcome the requirement of estrogen for ER-a function that may be involved in hormone-independence and estrogennonresponsive growth.

Tamoxifen stimulated growth

Tamoxifen inhibits the estrogen-stimulated growth of MCF-7 tumours in nude mice but long-term tamoxifen treatment eventually results in resumed tumour growth (439,440). Serial transplantation of these tamoxifen-resistant tumours into athymic mice results in tumours that can be stimulated with tamoxifen as well as estrogen (439,440). Similarly, in MCF-7 cells in culture, long-term growth in the presence of hydroxytamoxifen can result in growth stimulation, rather than inhibition, in response to hydroxytamoxifen treatment (441). Tamoxifen-stimulated growth is not associated with a loss of ER- α expression (439-441) and the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 164,384 is able to inhibit the growth of tamoxifen-stimulated MCF-7 cells in vivo (138) and in vitro (441). In tamoxifen-stimulated MCF-7 cells in culture PR levels were no longer estrogen-responsive but estrogen-responses to ER-a, pS2 and reporter-gene expression were maintained, demonstrating that loss of estrogen-responsive gene expression is not a general phenomenon (441). There is also evidence to suggest that tamoxifen-stimulated tumours may develop in humans (442). In breast cancer patients whose tumour has become refractory to tamoxifen treatment, cessation of tamoxifen therapy can, in some cases, result in tumour regression (443).

Researchers have suggested that the stimulation of tumour growth by tamoxifen might be due to metabolism of tamoxifen to estrogenic metabolites (440). As mentioned previously hydroxytamoxifen, is the main tamoxifen antiestrogenic metabolite (122), but tamoxifen can be metabolized to produce several compounds that have estrogenic properties (136,440). The E isomer of metabolite E has been shown to be a potent estrogen (444) and while it has been detected in some tamoxifen-resistant tumours (445), serum from tamoxifen treated patients did not demonstrate changes in metabolites or their profiles even after long-term treatment (446). Tamoxifen-stimulated MCF-7 tumour growth and development has also been shown to occur in nude mice in the presence of tamoxifen analogues that are not capable of conversion to estrogenic compounds (447,448) suggesting that other possibilities for tamoxifen-resistance also exist.

It has been reported that some tamoxifen-stimulated tumours contain 90% less intratumoural tamoxifen levels compared to tamoxifen-inhibited tumours (440), suggesting that alterations in drug uptake or efflux may be involved in some cases of antiestrogen resistance. In contrast, Wolf and coworkers compared the levels of tamoxifen in MCF-7 tumours in athymic mice that were stimulated or inhibited by tamoxifen and found similar concentrations in the two tumour types (447).

Antiestrogen binding sites distinct from the ER- α have been identified and these binding sites appear to be specific for the triphenylethylene antiestrogens such as tamoxifen (449). A clone of MCF-7 cells has been described that is resistant to tamoxifen and appears to have no detectable antiestrogen-binding sites (450), while another group have reported an antiestrogen-resistant MCF-7 subline expresses high levels of antiestrogen binding sites (451). This group has suggested that excess antiestrogen-binding sites, distinct from the ER- α , may prevent antiestrogen accessing ER- α , thereby resulting in resistance (451). Currently, it is unclear what role these antiestrogen binding sites play in tamoxifen-resistant growth.

Alterations in the agonist/antagonist activity of the ER- α in response to antiestrogens may also be involved in the development of tamoxifen resistance. Discussed in an earlier section, the ER- α has two well-studied AF domains involved in the response to agonist and antagonist ligands. Tamoxifen, while most often an antagonist to human breast tumours and breast cancer cells in culture, is an agonist in other tissues and cell types and on different promoters within the same cell. An interesting study demonstrated that stimulating the PKA pathway in MCF-7 cells by treatment with agents that raised cAMP levels (8-bromo-cAMP or IBMX+CT), or by transient expression of the catalytic subunits of PKA, markedly stimulated the agonistic activity of tamoxifen (452). This effect was found to be promoter specific and interestingly, the activity of the pure antiestrogen ICI 164,384 was not affected by these types of treatments (452). These data suggest that cross-talk between signal transduction pathways may be important in both ligand-independent ER- α activation (as described) and stimulation of tamoxifen's agonistic activities. More importantly, in HeLa cells, ligand-independent activation of hER- α by elevating cAMP levels could not be inhibited by tamoxifen (183), suggesting that if such signalling pathways are elevated, both ligandindependent and tamoxifen-stimulation of the ER- α may occur and tamoxifen treatment may be unable to inhibit this type of activity. The ability of hydroxytamoxifen to activate or inhibit ER- α mediated gene expression could also be modulated by the relative expression of coactivators or corepressors as described (183). hER-a corepressor proteins have been identified that bind in vitro to the receptor only in the presence of tamoxifen, suggesting that the antagonistic properties of tamoxifen may be dependent upon recruitment of such proteins. Interestingly, a protein L7/SPA has been shown to bind to the hER- α only in the presence of tamoxifen and in contrast to corepressor proteins, this protein is able to enhance the agonist activity of tamoxifen when transiently expressed in HeLa cells (225). As previously described, altering the balance of corepressor and coactivator proteins can alter the agonist and antagonist properties of hydroxytamoxifen on hER- α , dependent on cell context (183) and alterations in the levels of some coactivator proteins has been described in human breast tumours as discussed. This suggests that alterations in cellular levels of ER- α interacting proteins in human breast tumours, including corepressors, could influence the biocharacter of tamoxifen. To date extensive studies have not been performed to examine the relative levels of the different hER- α coactivator and corepressor proteins in hormone-dependent versus -responsive human breast tumours and breast cancer cell lines but this type of data will no doubt be forthcoming.

Mutations within the hER- α could also result in tamoxifen-resistance and/or tamoxifen-stimulated tumour growth. As described variant forms of hER- α mRNA have been identified that have the potential for biological activity of their own or interfere with the activity of wild-type hER- α . While it is still unclear if these could account for estrogeninsensitivity and tamoxifen-resistance *in vivo*, studies have been performed to suggest the possibility exists. Montano and coworkers constructed an hER- α containing a point mutation (leucine 540 to glutamine) within the hormone binding domain and demonstrated that it is transcriptionally activated by the antiestrogens, hydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384, but not estrogen, when expressed in ER- α negative MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (453). While this particular mutation has not been detected in human breast tumours to date, mutations in similar regions have been detected (see Table 2). Interestingly, Wolf and Jordan isolated a hER- α with a point mutation in the LBD (aspartate 351 to tyrosine) in a tamoxifen-stimulated MCF-7 tumour from mice (454) and hER- α mRNAs with point mutations have been identified from metastatic human breast tumours, as described (248,370,371). Together the data suggests the potential for a single point mutation to result in tamoxifen-resistance or tamoxifen-stimulated tumour growth.

Alterations in autocrine/paracrine interactions

As discussed earlier, breast cancer cells express and secrete a variety of growth factors whose expression can be altered in response to estrogen and antiestrogen treatment. As described, long-term growth in the absence of estrogen results in estrogen-nonresponsive growth of T47D and ZR-75-1 ER- α positive human breast cancers cells and studies have shown that this is accompanied by changes in mRNA expression for several growth factors (358,455). In T47D, ER- α positive, estrogen-nonresponsive sublines, increases in TGF α , TGF β 1 and TGF β 2 mRNA were found compared to parental cell lines (358,455) and in contrast to the parental cells whose growth is unaffected by exogenous TGF β , estrogennonresponsive T47D cells were shown to be growth stimulated *in vitro* in response to exogenous TGF β (455). In contrast, estrogen-nonresponsive, ER- α positive, ZR-75-1 cells contained decreased levels of TGF β 1 and TGF α mRNA and TGF β 1 was shown to inhibit the growth of both ZR-75-1 and the estrogen-independent sublines (358). These studies again demonstrate the multifactorial nature of the development of estrogen-independent growth and underline the fact that several mechanisms may be involved.

In MCF-7 cells TGF β 1 treatment inhibits DNA synthesis as measured by decreases in [³H]thymidine incorporation (441). In contrast, in hydroxytamoxifen resistant MCF-7 cells (MCF/TOT), [³H]thymidine incorporation was unaffected by TGF β 1 treatment (441). Additionally, in MCF/TOT cells elevated mRNA levels for the TGF β isoforms, β 1, β 2 and β 3, were detected with corresponding increases in secreted TGF β protein compared to the parent MCF-7 cells (441). As discussed, induction of growth-inhibitory TGF β has been proposed as a mechanism involved in tamoxifen's effects on human tumour growth and overcoming this potential inhibitory effect may be an additional mechanism by which cells can become resistant to tamoxifen in terms of growth inhibition. While estrogen can increase the expression of TGF α in human breast cancer cells and it may be involved in mediating the mitogenic effects of estrogen (299), stable transfection of TGF α , resulting in overexpression in MCF-7 cells, did not result in estrogen-independent growth *in vitro* or *in vivo* (304). This would suggest that at least alone, increases in TGF α expression may not be responsible for estrogen-nonresponsive growth of MCF-7 cells.

Despite the demonstration by several research groups that changes in growth factor expression can accompany both estrogen-independent and tamoxifen-resistant growth the exact role that growth factor expression plays in hormonal-independence is still unclear (127).

The progression to hormone-independence in a mouse model of mammary cancer has been demonstrated to be associated with an increase in EGFR levels. This progression was also associated with a decrease in ER- α levels and EGFR ligands (456). In human breast tumours an inverse relationship between ER- α and EGFR levels exists and an increase in EGFR may be associated with resistance to endocrine treatment (292,293). Stable overexpression of EGFR in estrogen-dependent, ZR-75-1, human breast cancer cells (ZR/HERc) has been shown to result in estrogen-independent growth and hydroxytamoxifen resistance in the presence of exogenous EGF in one instance (457) but not in another (458). Another group of researchers have stably transfected MCF-7 cells with the cDNA for EGFR and found that the cells stably express high levels of EGFR only in the absence of estrogen and cells expressing a high level of EGFR displayed an increased ability to grow *in vitro* in the absence of estrogen (459). These results suggest that the differences in response to EGFR overexpression may depend on the cellular background, growth conditions under which the cells are assayed, or endogenous production of ligands (i.e., EGF and TGF α) for the EGFR in the different cell types (which were not examined in these studies).

While the above studies have demonstrated that overexpression of a growth factor, or its receptor, which can activate the MAPK cascade can result in estrogen-independent growth in vitro other studies have demonstrated that expression of a component of the MAPK cascade (i.e., Raf or Ras) can also result in estrogen-independent growth in vitro and in some cases tumourigenesis in vivo in the absence of estrogen. Transfection and overexpression of oncogenic v-ras cDNA into MCF-7 cells can result in the cells becoming estrogen-independent in terms of growth both in vitro and in vivo (429) and the cells were found to secrete elevated levels of growth factors including TGFa, TGFB and an IGF-I-like protein (460). These researchers also demonstrated that the ras-transformed breast cancer cells, or the conditioned media from these cells, were able to partially support in vivo tumour formation by the nontumourigenic parental cells in the absence of estrogen, suggesting the production of active, diffusible substances by the ras-transformed cells (461). Interestingly, overexpression of a constitutively active Raf-1 kinase in MCF-7 cells allows for growth of the cells in the absence of estrogen and is incompatible with growth in the presence of estrogen (462). Additionally estrogen was found to be directly responsible for downregulation of Raf-1 expression (462). These effects of growth in estrogen-containing conditions are similar to those seen when researchers transfected EGFR into MCF-7 cells
(i.e., down-regulation of EGFR expression) and suggests that perhaps the continued growth of human breast cancer cells in estrogen-deplete conditions can in some cases allow for activation/expression of previously estrogen-downregulated signalling pathways. These data demonstrate the potential importance of the MAPK pathway in cell growth regulation and possibly tumourigenesis and as mentioned previously, MAPK has been shown to be overexpressed in breast tumours compared to normal breast tissue.

Supersensitivity to estrogen

As mentioned, the observation that contaminants of phenol red were estrogenic to human breast cancer cells in culture led to the use of estrogen-free culture conditions to study the effects of long-term estrogen deprivation. The caveat to these types of studies is the removal of endogenous steroid in fetal calf serum, a component of the cell culture medium. Charcoal stripping of fetal calf serum is used, and presumed, to remove all of the steroid present although residual estrogens may remain (254) or could be contaminants from plastics used in cell culture flasks (359). Masumara and colleagues have demonstrated that MCF-7 cells grown in the absence of estrogen developed supersensitivity to residual estrogens in the charcoal stripped serum (359). These cells appeared estrogen insensitive in that they were maximally stimulated by the low levels of estrogen present in the culture medium. The supersensitivity was demonstrated by the fact that doses of ICI 164,384 6-fold lower than that required for the parent cells efficiently inhibited the growth of these cells by 50% (359). Additionally, these 'supersensitive' cells contained 5-fold higher levels of ER- α than the parental MCF-7 cells (359) which could also be involved in the increased sensitivity these cells display to estrogen.

It is likely that multiple mechanisms are involved in the development of a hormoneindependent growth phenotype both in cell culture models and *in vivo*. The development of estrogen-nonresponsive growth is thought to be one of the initial stages in the development of a hormone-independent breast tumour phenotype and signifies a more aggressive stage of the disease. Unfortunately the mechanisms involved in the progression to estrogenindependent growth are not clear and understanding the factors that contribute to this phenotype are important in terms of breast cancer therapeutics and in an understanding in the mechanisms of ER- α function.

Research Aim

As discussed, there are multiple factors involved in ER- α activity and likely in the generation of hormone-resistance and estrogen-nonresponsiveness. The goal of this project was to examine the mechanisms involved in the generation of hormone-independence in a human breast cancer cell culture model with the hypothesis that apparent estrogen-independence in ER- α positive breast cancer cells is associated with altered activity of the ER- α , likely via multiple mechanisms which may interfere with normal ligand-dependent ER- α activity. T47D5 (T5) human breast cancer cells are ER- α positive and an MCF-7 derived cell line that require estrogen for maximum proliferation in culture. An estrogen-nonresponsive subline, T5-PRF, was developed through long-term culture of the parental T5 cells in phenol-red free growth medium containing charcoal-stripped fetal calf serum. These two cell lines (T5 and T5-PRF) were used to identify potential mechanisms involved in the generation of estrogen-nonresponsive growth in the continued presence of ER- α expression, with an emphasis placed on ER- α and factors influencing its activity.

Materials and Methods

Reagents

Dulbecco's minimal essential medium (DMEM) and phenol red free DMEM (PRF-DMEM) powder were purchased from GIBCO/BRL (Burlington, Ontario). Trypsin/EDTA, penicillin-streptomycin (10,000 units/mL) and L-glutamine (200 mM) were purchased from GIBCO/BRL (Burlington, Ontario). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Upstate Biotechnology Incorporated (UBI) (Lake Placid, New York) and all other cell culture ingredients were purchased from Flow Laboratories (Mississauga, Ontario). Tissue culture flasks were from Corning (New York, New York) and cell culture dishes were from Nunclon (Canadian Life Technologies, Burlington, Ontario). Cholera toxin and hydrocortisone were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri). Horse serum and epidermal growth factor were purchased from UBI (Lake Placid, New York). Activated charcoal was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri) and dextran T70 from Pharmacia (Uppsala, Sweden).

ICI 164,384 was a gift from Imperial Chemical Industries (ICI), now called Zeneca (Macclesfield, Cheshire). 4-Hydroxytamoxifen, 17 β -estradiol and dexamethasone were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri). [³H]-Estradiol, [¹⁴C]-chloramphenicol, [³⁵S]-methionine, [α -³⁵S]dATP, R5020 and [³H]-R5020 (Promegestone, [17 α -methyl-³H]-(R 5020)) were purchased from NEN (Lachire, Quebec). [³²P]dCTP and [γ -³²P]ATP and were purchased from ICN (St. Laurent, Quebec).

Monoclonal rat anti-ER-α antibody, H226, was a generous gift from Dr. G. Greene (University of Chicago, Chicago, Illinois). Anti-rat peroxidase conjugated antibody (A-5795) was from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri). Monoclonal mouse anti-phospho-MAPK antibody (9105S) was from New England Biolabs (Beverly, Massachusetts). Polyclonal rabbit anti-ERK1 (C-16) antibody (sc-93) was from Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, Inc. (Santa Cruz, California). Monoclonal mouse anti-ER- α antibodies (Clone AER314 and Clone AER308) were from Neomarkers, Inc. (Freemont, California). Anti-mouse peroxidase conjugated antibody (115-035-071) was purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc. (West Grove, Pennsylvania). Anti-rabbit peroxidase conjugated antibody (172-1019) was from BioRad (Hercules, California). Monoclonal mouse anti-lamin antibodies (119D5-F1 and 131C3) and lamin standards were generous gifts from Dr. Y. Raymond (Montreal, Quebec). Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection kit was purchased from Amersham International (Buckinghamshire, England). Molecular weight prestained protein markers were purchased from BioRad (Hercules, California).

Myelin basic protein was from Life Technologies, Inc (Burlington, Ontario). Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase inhibitor peptide (H₂N-Thr-Thr-Tyr-Ala-Asp-Phe-Ile-Ala-Ser-Gly-Arg-Thr-Gly-Arg-Arg-Asn-Ala-Ile-NH₂) was purchased from Bachem (Torrance, California). PD 98059 (2'-Amino-3'-methoxyflavone) and BES (N,N-bis (2-hydroxyethyl)-2aminoethanesulfonic acid) were purchased from Calbiochem (La Jolla, California). CAPS (3-[cyclohexylamino]-1-propanesulfonic acid), ONPG (o-Nitrophenyl β-D-galacto-pyranoside), Tween 20 (polyoxyethylene-sorbitan monolaurate), Triton X-100 (octyl phenoxy polyethoxyethanol) and Nonidet P-40 (NP-40) were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri). EDTA (disodium ethylenediamine tetraacetate disodium salt) and sodium thiosulfate were purchased from Fisher Scientific Company (Nepean, Ontario). Kodak XAR film was purchased from Eastman Kodak Company (Rochester, New York). Hyperfilm was purchased from Amersham International (Buckinghamshire, England). Nitrocellulose (NitroPlus, 0.45 micron) paper was purchased from Micron Separations Incorporated (Westborough, Massachusetts). Rabbit reticulocyte lysate *in vitro* transcription/translation kit (TnT) was purchased from Promega (Madison, Wisconsin). TRIzol reagent was purchased from Life Technologies, Inc (Burlington, Ontario). Silicagel 1B thin layer chromatography sheets were purchased from Mallinckrodt Baker Incorporated (Phillipsburg, New Jersey). Whatman P81 discs and #1 filter paper were purchase from Whatman Incorporated (Clifton, New Jersey). Ecolite liquid scintillation cocktail was purchased from ICN (Costa Messa, California). Ampholines were purchased from Pharmacia (Uppsala, Sweden).

Deoxyribonuclease I (DNAse I) from bovine pancreas (2,000 Kunitz units/vial) and phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Missouri). Aprotinin, leupeptin, and 4-[2-aminoethyl]benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride (AEBSF) were purchased from Boehringer Mannheim (Indianapolis, Indiana). Ribonuclease inhibitor (RNAsin) was purchased from Promega Corp. (Madison, Wisconsin). Random hexamers and moloney murine leukemia virus-reverse transcriptase (MMLV-RT) were purchased from GIBCO/BRL (Burlington, Ontario).

The original TA cloning kit was purchased from Invitrogen (San Diego, California). pOR8 (ER-α cDNA), pHEGO (ER-α expression vector) and pSG5 (eukaryotic expression vector) were gifts from Dr. P. Chambon (Strasbourg, France). pT7βhER (ER-α expression vector) was a gift from Dr. S. Tsai (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas). pCH110 (β-galactosidase expression vector) was purchased from Pharmacia (Uppsala, Sweden). EREtk-CAT (pBL-CAT8+), *Xenopus laevis* vitellogenin B1 estrogen response element reporter gene was obtained from Dr. Wahli (Lausanne, Switzerland).

Cell Culture

All cells were routinely kept in 150 cm² flasks and grown in a 37°C incubator, containing a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. T5 cells, previously called T47D5, were originally thought to be a T47D subline, however, DNA fingerprinting analysis showed that they were an MCF-7 subline (105). T5, T47D, HBL 100, and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells were routinely cultured in DMEM containing 5% vol/vol fetal calf serum (FCS), 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin (5% CM). Cells were passaged at 70-80% confluency using Earle's EDTA solution (5.3 mM KCl, 117 mM NaCl, 26 mM NaHCO₃, 1 mM NaH₂PO₄, 5.6 mM D-glucose, 1 mM EDTA). A chronically-estrogen-depleted T5 subline (T5-PRF) was developed by long-term growth of these cells in PRF (phenol red free)-DMEM supplemented with 5% vol/vol twice charcoal dextran stripped FCS and 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, and 100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin (5% CS). T5-PRF cells were routinely cultured in 5% CS. MCF10A1 human breast epithelial cells (463) were routinely grown in DMEM containing 5% vol/vol horse serum (hs), 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/ mL penicillinstreptomycin, 0.1 µg/mL cholera toxin, 20 ng/mL hEGF, 10.4 µg/mL bovine insulin and 1 µM hydrocortisone (DMEM-special). Cells were passaged at 70-80% confluency using trypsin/EDTA. Transient transfections using T5, T5-PRF and MDA-MB-231 cells were performed in 5% CS. Transient transfections using MCF10A1 cells were performed in PRF-

DMEM containing 5% vol/vol twice charcoal dextran stripped hs, 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin (PRF-DMEM-hs) and cells were passaged once prior to transfection in PRF-DMEM containing 5% vol/vol twice charcoal dextran stripped hs, 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin, 0.1 μ g cholera toxin, 20 ng/mL hEGF, 10.4 μ g/mL bovine insulin and 1 μ M hydrocortisone (PRF-DMEM-special).

Growth curves

Growth experiments were performed by setting up cells at 10^4 cells/35-mm dish. Estrogen growth experiments were performed in 5% CS, while antiestrogen growth experiments were performed in 5% CM. Two days later, fresh medium was added, which contained the appropriate concentration of drug to be tested from 1000 X stock solutions in ethanol. After 5 days the cells were harvested in triplicate using trypsin/EDTA and counted using an electronic cell counter (Coulter Electronics, Burlington, Ontario). Results were expressed as proliferation rate (percentage control) using the equation; Doubling time (DT) = 2 log_n/log (Tn/Ti), where Ti is initial cell number, Tn is final cell number and n is the time (days) between Ti and Tn. Proliferation rate as a percentage of control was then calculated from the equation: Proliferation rate = doubling time (control) X 100/doubling time.

Receptor assays

PR assays were performed using whole cell ligand binding assays and T5 cells were passaged twice in 5% CS before being set up at 1x10⁶ cells/35 mm well one day prior to receptor assays. [³H]-R5020 and [³H]-R5020 plus 100 fold molar excess unlabelled R5020 were used to determine PR total and nonspecific binding, respectively. The working stock

of $[^{3}H]$ -R5020 was made by drying down the appropriate volume of $[^{3}H]$ -R5020 in ethanol under air nitrogen, and then adding the appropriate volume of binding buffer (PRF-DMEM plus 0.3% wt/vol glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 units/ mL penicillin-streptomycin, 0.1% wt/vol bovine serum albumin and 100 nM dexamethasone) to give a final concentration of 20 nM [3H]-R5020. All assays were performed in the presence of 100 nM dexamethasone to prevent binding of R5020 to the glucocorticoid receptor. This solution was stored in the dark and left overnight at 4°C. The following morning an aliquot was counted using liquid scintillation to determine the concentration. The excess R5020 solution was made by drying down under nitrogen enough unlabelled R5020 to give a final concentration of 1 μ M to be taken up in the appropriate volume of the [³H]-R5020 total solution. This solution (excess) was left at room temperature (in the dark) for several hours. For each assay, total and excess measurements were performed on triplicate wells and cell counts were performed on triplicate wells. To perform the assay, the medium was aspirated from the wells and 500 µL of total or $500 \,\mu\text{L}$ excess solution was added to each of three wells, while another three were treated with binding buffer only (these were for counting cell numbers). The plates were then placed in a 37°C incubator for 1 hour, after which the plates were placed on ice, the binding solutions aspirated and 1 mL of cold wash solution (5% wt/vol bovine serum albumin in Isoton) was added to each well. This was aspirated from the wells and the wash was repeated. One mL of trypsin/EDTA solution was added to each well to be used for counting and after several minutes the solution containing the detached cells was removed and added to 7 mL of isoton in a counting vial. The wells were rinsed twice with 1 mL DMEM and this was also added to the counting vial. The solution was syringed twice using a 21 gauge needle and the cells counted using an electronic cell counter (Coulter Electronics). To the cells treated with total or excess R5020 solution was added 500 μ L of solubilization solution (0.5% vol/vol Triton-X 100 in 1 M NaOH) and left overnight at room temperature. The next day a 250 μ L aliquot of solubilized cells was added to a counting vial, neutralized with 62.5 μ L of 4 N HCl and 5 mL of liquid scintillant (EcoLight) was added and the vials counted using a liquid scintillation counter. ER- α levels were determined in a similar fashion with [³H]17 β -estradiol and 17 β estradiol used in place of [³H]R5020 and R5020 and dexamethasone omitted from the binding buffer solution.

Isolation of nuclear matrix-intermediate filament fraction

Cell pellets (either fresh or stored at -70°C) were resuspended in TNM buffer (100 mM NaCl, 300 mM sucrose, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 2 mM MgCl₂, 1% (vol/vol) thiodiglycol) at 10°C. PMSF was added from a 100 mM stock to a final concentration of 1 mM. This cell solution was transferred to a glass homogenizer on ice using a pasteur pipette and the cells were homogenized 5 strokes at room temperature. The cells were transferred using a pasteur pipette to a large Sorval centrifuge tube and incubated on ice for 5 minutes. Triton X-100 was added from a 25% vol/vol stock solution to a final concentration of 0.5%. The cells were sheared, 3 passes, through a 22 gauge needle on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 1,000 rpm for 6 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant (cytosol fraction) was saved to a fresh tube and the pellet was resuspended in TNM buffer containing 1 mM PMSF, homogenized 7-10 strokes and centrifuged at 1,000 rpm for 6 minutes at 4°C. This was repeated and before the final centrifugation a sample of the nuclei was removed and placed in 2 M NaCl/5 M urea and the optical density at A₂₆₀ (absorbance, 260 nanometres) measured. After the final

centrifugation, the nuclei pellets were resuspended in digestion buffer (50 mM NaCl. 300 mM sucrose, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 3 mM MgCl, 1% (vol/vol) thiodiglycol, 0.5% (vol/vol) Triton X-100) at a concentration of 20 A₂₆₀/mL and digested with DNAse I (168 U/mL) for 20 minutes at room temperature. Ammonium sulfate was added dropwise from a 4 M stock. to a final concentration of 0.25 M, and the nuclear matrix was pelleted by centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant (chromatin fraction = S1) was saved to a fresh tube and the pellet was resuspended in digestion buffer and re-extracted by slowly adding NaCl with mixing to a final concentration of 2.0 M from a 4.0 M stock solution. This was left on ice for 30 minutes and pelleted by centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant (S2) was saved to a fresh tube and the pellet was again re-extracted with 2 M NaCl and 1% (vol/vol) 2-mercaptoethanol for 30 minutes on ice. The resulting insoluble NM-IF was isolated by centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant (S3) was saved to a fresh tube and the pellet (NM-IF) containing nuclear matrix proteins and associated intermediate filaments (320) was resuspended in 8 M urea. All samples were stored at -20°C. Protein levels were assayed using BioRad (Bradford) protein assay kit (Mississauga, Ontario).

Preparation of nuclear matrix-intermediate filament samples for electron microscopy

Immediately after isolation of NM-IF the samples were resuspended in 100 mM Hepes solution pH 7.4 and glutaraldehyde was added (prediluted with 100 mM Hepes pH 7.4) to a final concentration of 2.5% (vol/vol). The samples were left overnight at 4°C and the following day were pelleted by centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and the NM-IF pellet was washed twice with 100 mM Hepes buffer (pH 7.4) to inactivate the

glutaraldehyde. The samples were resuspended in increasing concentrations of ethanol (30, 50, 75, 95 and 100 %, made by diluting absolute ethanol in distilled autoclaved water) by incubating the samples on a rotating bed for approximately 1 hour at each ethanol concentration at room temperature. The samples were pelleted in between successive dehydrations at 5,000 rpm at room temperature. The sample was resuspended in 100 μ L of 100% ethanol for shipping. Electron microscopy was performed by Dr. M. Henzel (Calgary, Alberta).

SDS-PAGE, Coomassie staining and quantitation

Subcellular fractions were analyzed under reducing conditions by electrophoresis on sodium dodecyl sulfate-12 % polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE) with 4 % stacking gel at 200 V for 45 minutes at room temperature according to the Laemmli method (464). Gels were stained in 0.05% Coomassie Blue R-250 (BioRad). Quantification of cytokeratin levels was performed on Coomassie Blue stained gels using scanning densitometry and the lamin bands were used as loading controls. Scans were performed using a ColorOne Scanner (MacIntosh) and images and data analysed using Image (National Institutes of Health) and Ofoto 2.0 (LightSource Computer Images Inc.) software packages.

Protein purification

NM-IF samples were prepared and samples were resuspended in 7 M urea, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8. Samples were chromatographed on a 1 mL Porus PI (anion-exchange) column at a protein concentration of 8 mg/column. Proteins were eluted with a linear gradient of 0-0.5 M NaCl in 15 mL and 0.6 mL collected/fraction. Fractions were assayed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie Blue staining and samples containing protein bands of interest were pooled.

Two-dimensional electrophoresis

First-dimension isoelectric focusing was performed according to the method of O'Farrell (465) and the second-dimension (2-D) SDS-PAGE according to the method of Doucet (466). Gels were stained using the silver staining technique (467). For the first dimension isoelectric focusing (IEF) the IEF gel monomer solution contained per 20 mL; 11g urea, 0.3g CHAPS, 100 μ L NP-40, 0.25 mL pH 5-7 ampholines, 0.25 mL pH 6-8 ampholines, 0.5 mL pH 3.5-9.5 ampholines and 3 mL of 30 % acrylamide/0.8% bisacrylamide. The solution was filtered through a 0.45 micron SFCA filter (Nalgene) before storing in 1 mL aliquots at -70°C. The IEF sample solutions contained per 10 mL; 1 g SDS and 0.232 g dithiothreitol and was stored in 1 mL aliquots at -70°C. Samples for IEF were in 7 M urea and to 40 μ L sample was added 10 μ L IEF sample solution per gel. First dimension tube gels were run for 2 hours at 200 V, 2 hours at 500 V and 16 hours at 800 V in a buffer system composed of 100 mM NaOH catholyte solution (upper chamber) and 10 mM phosphoric acid anolyte solution (lower chamber).

Tube gels were extruded onto parafilm boats and overlayed with 1 mL 1 X sample reducing buffer (5 X contains per 10 mL; 1.5 g SDS, 0.77 g dithiothreitol, 5 mL 0.05% bromophenol blue, and 3.5 mL 1 M Tris-HCl pH 6.7) and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The second-dimension (size separation) resolving gel contained per 80 mL; 29.3 mL distilled water, 27 mL 30 % acrylamide/0.3 % bis-acrylamide, 4 mL glycerol, and 16 mL 5 X resolving gel buffer (500 mL = 61 g Tris and 19 g glycine) which was degassed for 15 minutes before adding 3.2 mL 10 % SDS and then filtered through a 1 micron glass fibre filter (Gelman). The stacking gel contained per 10 mL; 5.7 mL distilled water, 1.3 mL 30 % acrylamide/0.3 % bis-acrylamide, 0.5 mL glycerol and 2 mL 5 X stacking gel buffer (100 mL = 4.2 g Tris and 0.74 g EDTA, pH 6.7) which was degased for 15 minutes before adding 0.4 mL 10 % SDS and then filtered through a 1 micron glass fibre filter (Gelman). Tube gels were loaded onto the second dimension slab gel and run at 300 V for 2.5 hours with an upper buffer composed of 60 mL concentrated running buffer (1 L = 61 g Tris, 56 g glycine and 5 g SDS) in 300 mL distilled water and a lower buffer composed of 400 mL concentrated running buffer in 4 L distilled water.

For silver staining, gels were fixed for 30 minutes in 50 % methanol/10 % acetic acid with gentle shaking at room temperature. Gels were then incubated in sensitizer (500 mL = 34 g sodium acetate, 1 g sodium thiosulfate, 150 mL ethanol and 2.5 mL 25 % (vol/vol) glutaraldehyde) for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking. Gels were washed 3 times with water for 10 minutes each with gentle shaking before incubating the gels with silver solution (500 mL = 50 mL 2.5 % silver nitrate and 200 μ L formaldehyde) for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking. The gels were then washed twice with water for approximately one minute each before incubating with developer (500 mL = 12.5 g sodium carbonate and 100 μ L formaldehyde) for 10-15 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking. The developing reaction was terminated by incubating the gels in stop solution (500 mL = 7.4 g EDTA) for approximately 10 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking.

Western blotting and immune detection

NM-IF samples

Lamin and ER-a detection

NM-IF samples were run on SDS-12 %PAGE with 4 % stacking gels at 200 V for 45 minutes at room temperature under reducing conditions according to the Laemmli method (464). Gels were equilibrated for 30 minutes at room temperature in modified buffer O (468) (5 % (vol/vol) 2-mercaptoethanol, 2.3 % (wt/vol) SDS and 62.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8). Gels were transferred to nitrocellulose using CAPS transfer buffer (25 mM CAPS pH 10 and 20 % (vol/vol) methanol) for 1 hour at 120 V at 4°C. Nitrocellulose blots were air-dried and baked at 65°C for 30 minutes. Blots were blocked overnight at 4°C in 5 % (wt/vol) skimmed milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS, 1 L 5 X stock = 12.1 g Tris, 146.3 g NaCl pH 7.5) containing 0.2 % Tween-20 (TBS-T). Blots were incubated with primary antibody (for ER-a detection: anti-rat H226 ER- α antibody; for lamin detection: anti-mouse 119D5-F1 (lamin B1) and 131C3 (lamin A/C) antibodies) at a dilution of 1 μ g/mL in 1 % TBS-T for 1 hour at room temperature. Blots were washed with TBS-T and then incubated with the appropriate peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody at a dilution of 1 in 1000 in 1 % TBS-T for 1 hour at room temperature. Blots were washed 4 times for 15 minutes each in TBS-T. Detection was carried out using the ECL detection system (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, England) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell extracts

ER-a detection

Whole cell extracts (dissolved in 8 M urea) were analysed using SDS-10 % PAGE with a 4 % stacking gel at 200 V for 45 minutes at room temperature under reducing conditions according to the Laemmli method (464). Gels were equilibrated for 30 minutes at

room temperature in ice cold CAPS transfer buffer (10 mM CAPS pH 11, 20% (vol/vol) methanol) and transferred to nitrocellulose using CAPS transfer buffer for 1 hour at 120 V at 4°C. Blots were blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5 % (wt/vol) skimmed milk/TBS-T. Blots were incubated with either: ER- α specific primary antibody, H226, (which recognizes an epitope encoded in exon 1/2 of the wild-type ER- α), the ER- α specific antibody, AER308 (which recognizes an epitope encoded in exon 4 of the wild-type ER- α), or the ER- α specific antibody AER314 (which recognizes an epitope encoded in exon 2 of the wild-type ER- α) overnight in 1% (wt/vol) skimmed milk/TBS-T at 4°C at a concentration of 1:1000. Blots were then incubated with the appropriate peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (see Materials) for 1 hour at room temperature in 1% (wt/vol) skimmed milk/TBS-T at a concentration of 1:1000. Blots were washed 4 times for 15 minutes each in TBS-T and detection was carried out using the ECL detection system (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, England) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

<u>MAPK detection</u>

Cell extracts were obtained by resuspending cell pellets in MAPK extraction buffer (100 mM β -glycerophosphate, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate pH 10 (made to pH 10, then boiled until solution turns clear and pH again adjusted to 10), 2 mM EGTA, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 10 µg/mL aprotinin, 10 µg/mL leupeptin, 0.1 mM AEBSF, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 0.2 mM benzamidine) and subjecting cells to 3 cycles of freeze-thawing followed by a 10 minute room temperature centrifugation at 5,000 rpm. Equivalent amounts of protein were run on SDS-7.5 % PAGE with a 4 % stacking gel at 200 V for 45 minutes at room temperature under reducing conditions according to the Laemmli method (464). Gels

were equilibrated for 30 minutes at room temperature in ice cold CAPS transfer buffer. Gels were transferred to nitrocellulose using CAPS transfer buffer at 120 V for 1 hour at 4°C. Blots were air-dried and baked for 30 minutes at 65°C. Blots were blocked overnight in 5 % (wt/vol) skimmed milk/TBS-T. Blots were incubated with mouse anti-phospho-MAPK antibody for detection of dually phosphorylated MAPK (NEB, Beverly, Massachusetts; 1:1000 in 1 % (wt/vol) skimmed milk/TBS-T) or rabbit anti-ERK1 (C-16) for detection of total MAPK protein (Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 1:1000 in 1% skimmed milk/TBS-T) for 4 hours at room temperature. Blots were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody (see Materials) for 1 hour at room temperature, 1:1000 in 1% skimmed milk/TBS-T. Detection was carried out using the ECL detection system (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, England) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

PD 98059 treated ER-a detection

The detection of ER- α after treating T5 and T5-PRF cells with the MEK inhibitor PD 98059 was carried out as described (240). This method was used initially in attempts to detect serine 118 phosphorylation of the wild-type ER- α and subsequently it was realized that PD 98059 decreased ER- α levels. This method is based on the Laemmli method using 7 % 16 cm X 16 cm acrylamide gels run under reducing conditions. T5 and T5-PRF cells were grown in 5% CS and cell extracts were obtained by addition of 0.25 mL of 2 X SDS-PAGE sample buffer (0.12 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 4 % SDS, 20 % glycerol, 0.2 M dithiothreitol, 0.008 % bromophenol blue) warmed to near 100°C directly to plates and scraping cells into microfuge tubes kept on a 95°C heating block. Cells were then incubated at 95°C for 10 minutes before assay of protein levels (BioRad reagent) and equal amounts of protein loaded onto gels. Gels were run for 1.5 hours at 200 V.

Transient transfections and CAT assays

T5, T5-PRF and MDA-MB-231 cells were passaged once in 5 % CS and set up in 100 mm dishes at 0.5 x 10⁶ cells per dish in 5 % CS the day before transfection. MCF10A1 cells were passaged once in PRF-DMEM-special and set up in 100 mm diameter dishes at 2 x 10⁶ cells per dish in PRF-DMEM-special two days before transfection. The following day the medium was changed to PRF-DMEM-hs and cells were transfected the following day, using the calcium phosphate/glycerol shock method (469) overnight using an equal volume of 2 X BBS buffer (50 mM BES, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na₂HPO₄, pH 6.95) combined with an equal volume of DNA solution (containing 3.2 µL of 2M CaCl₂ for every µg of plasmid DNA brought to the desired volume with sterile double distilled water), followed by a 2 minute glycerol shock (20 % vol/vol in PRF-DMEM). Cells were washed twice with 1 X PBS (1L 10 X stock = 2 g KCl, 2 g KH₂PO₄, 80 g NaCl, 11 g Na₂HPO₄, pH 7.1) and given fresh medium plus or minus drug of the appropriate concentration or vehicle alone. After 24 hours of treatment the cells were harvested. The dishes were placed on ice and the medium aspirated. The dishes were then washed twice with 1 X PBS and 1 mL of TEN (40 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl) was added to dishes. The cells were scraped from the dishes into a microfuge tube and the dishes rinsed with 0.5 mL of TEN. The cells were centrifuged for approximately 3 minutes at 4°C and 100 µL of 0.25M Tris-HCl pH 8 was added to the cell pellet. The cell lysate was obtained by 3 cycles of freezing and thawing followed by a 5 minute centrifugation at 5,000 rpm at 4°C. The supernatant was saved to a fresh microfuge tube and samples stored at -20°C for chloramphenicol acetyltransferase

(CAT) assay (470). Transfection efficiency was determined by cotransfection of pCH110 (β -galactosidase expression vector, Pharmacia) and assay of β -galactosidase activity (471). T5 and T5-PRF cells were transfected with 5 µg ERE-tk-CAT (148) to determine ER- α transcriptional activity, along with 5 µg pCH110. For experiments in which the activity of ERd3-4 was examined in T5 cells, transfections were performed using 5 µg ERE-tk-CAT, 5 µg pCH110, plus or minus ERd3-4 expression vector (0.1-1 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 1 pmol) in addition, vector DNA was added to all transfection mixes to ensure equal amounts of DNA were added to each dish. MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A1 cells were transfected with 5 µg ERE-tk-CAT, 5 µg pCH110, plus or minus 0.5 pmol HEGO (wild-type ER- α expression vector (0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector 0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector (0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector (0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector 0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector 0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector 0.5-2 pmol) or vector DNA alone (pSG5, 2 pmol) in addition, vector DNA was added to all transfection mixes to ensure equal amounts of DNA were added to all transfection mixes to ensure equal amounts of DNA were added to all transfection mixes to ensure equal amounts of DNA were added to each dish. Plasmids were isolated using either the standard cesium chloride gradient technique (472) or Qiagen plasmid isolation kit (Qiagen, Toronto, Canada) .

Long-Range ER-a RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted using the TRIzol reagent (GIBCO/BRL, Grand Island, New York) and reverse transcribed (RT) to make cDNA for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification. Reverse transcription was carried out using 1 μ g of denatured RNA in a final volume of 15 μ l (382). RNA was reverse transcribed in the presence of 1 mM deoxyadenosine triphosphate (dATP), 1 mM deoxythymidine triphosphate (dTP), 1 mM deoxycytidine triphosphate (dCTP), 5 mM

dithiothreitol, 1 unit/µL ribonuclease inhibitor (RNAsin), 20 µM random hexamers, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 3 mM MgCl₂, 75 mM KCl and 5 units/uL MMLV-RT. Reverse transcription was carried out for 10 minutes at room temperature followed by a further incubation of 1 hour at 37°C and was stored at -20°C. Long-range PCR amplification was performed on RT products using a primer pair that consisted of 1/8U ER-a primer (5'-TGCCCTACTACCTGGAGAACG-3', sense; located in wild-type ER- α exon 1; nucleotides 615-637) and 1/8L ER-a primer (5'-GCCTCCCCGTGATGTAA-3'; antisense; located in wild-type ER- α exon 8; nucleotides 1995-1978). The nucleotide positions given correspond to the published sequences of the human ER- α cDNA (67). PCR amplifications were performed using 1 µL of reverse transcription product (cDNA) in a final volume of 10 µL in the presence of 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.4, 2 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM KCl, 0.2 mM dATP, 0.2 mM dTTP, 0.2 mM dCTP, 0.2 mM dGTP, 4 ng/µL of each primer, 1 unit of Taq DNA polymerase (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin) and 10 nM $[\alpha^{-32}P]dCTP$ (384). PCR was performed using 40 cycles (5 minutes at 94°C, 1 minute at 60°C, 2 minutes at 72°C, 1 minute at 94°C) on a Thermocycler (The Perkin-Elmer Corp., Foster City, California) (382).

PCR products were separated on 3.5% polyacrylamide gels containing 7 M urea which were run for 3.5 hours at approximately 1600 V. 5 μ L of formamide buffer (80 % (vol/vol) deionized formamide, 1 mM EDTA pH 7.5, 0.1 % (wt/vol) xylene cyanol, 0.1 % (wt/vol) bromophenol blue) was added to each PCR tube, the samples were boiled and 5 μ L of the sample was loaded onto the gel for separation. After separation, the gel was place on Whatman #1 filter paper, dried and exposed to film (Kodak XAR) overnight to visualize PCR

products.

Identification of PCR products

Bands of interest were cut from the dried gel after exposure to film, extracted, subcloned and sequenced (382). The gel fragment was placed in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube to which 100 µL of distilled water was added and this was overlayed with 2 drops of mineral oil. The tube was heated at 100°C for 15 minutes and the eluate was transferred to a clean microfuge tube (473). 5 μ L of this eluate in a total of 50 μ L was used for further reamplification under the same conditions previously described for long-range RT-PCR with the exception that $[\alpha^{-32}P]dCTP$ was omitted from the final reaction mixture. The amplified product was purified using the Wizard PCR preps kit (Promega Corp., Madison, Wisconsin) and subcloned using the TA cloning vector kit (Invitrogen Corp., San Diego, California) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief this procedure involved ligating a portion of the amplified and purified PCR product into the TA cloning kit vector (pCR2.1) overnight at 14°C (ligation reaction contained: 5 µL sterile water, 1 µL 10 X ligation buffer, 2 µL pCR2.1 vector, 1 µL PCR product and 1 µL T4 DNA ligase). Following ligation, 2 µL of the reaction was incubated with competent bacterial cells for the purpose of transformation (30 minutes on ice followed by a 30 second heat shock at 42°C, 2 minutes on ice and 1 hour at 37°C). The bacteria were plated onto LB agar containing 25 mg/mL ampicillin and incubated overnight at 37°C. Transformant colonies were selected and miniprep plasmid DNA isolations were performed using standard laboratory techniques (472) for the purpose of sequencing. This procedure was used to subclone 3 separate RT-PCR bands from 3 separate RNA isolations and 3 colonies from each of the TA cloning vector kit isolations were

sequenced to confirm the identity of the RT-PCR band. Sequencing was performed using the T7 sequencing kit (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden) based on the dideoxy (Sanger) chain termination method according to manufacturer's instructions with 5 µg of alkali-denatured plasmid DNA in the presence of $[\alpha^{-33}S]$ dATP and the appropriate primer. Sequencing reaction products (3 µL) were run on 6% acrylamide gels containing 7 M urea for approximately 1.5 hours at 2000 V using a BioRad sequencing gel apparatus. Gels were transferred to Whatman #1 filter paper, dried for approximately 2 hours at 80°C using a BioRad gel dryer and exposed to film (Kodak XAR) in order to visualize sequencing reaction products. In order to sequence the full length of the cDNA clones the following primers were used in separate sequencing reactions for each plasmid DNA obtained; M13 forward (5'-CTGGCCGTCGTTTTAC-3', supplied with the TA cloning kit), M13 reverse (5'-CAGGAAACAGCTATGAC-3', supplied with the TA cloning kit), 1/8L and 1/8U, P1L (5'-CTGGCTACATCATCTCGGTTCCGCAT-3'; antisense; located in wild-type ER- α exon 6) and P2U (5'-TCCTGATGATTGGTCTCGTCTGGCGC-3'; sense; located in wild-type ER-a exon 5).

Construction of variant ER-a expression vector

The RT-PCR product corresponding to the exon 3/4 deleted ER- α cDNA was cloned into the TA cloning vector (described above) (Invitrogen Corp., San Diego, California). Stu I digestion of this plasmid released an exon 3/4 deleted fragment which was used to replace the corresponding region of the wild-type ER- α from pOR8 (70), which contains a glycine to valine point mutation at amino acid 400. Stu I sites are in exon 2 and exon 7 of wild-type ER- α and the subcloned d3/4 PCR fragment resulted in a correction of the wild-type sequence of glycine at amino acid 400 (in exon 5 in pOR8). The full length EcoR I ER- α fragment from HEGO (an expression plasmid containing wild-type ER- α coding region cloned into the eukaryotic expression vector pSG5 (70)) was then excised and replaced with the corresponding fragment from pOR8 containing the exon 3-4 deleted ER- α cDNA. The identity of the expression plasmid containing the exon 3-4 deleted ER- α (ERd3-4) was confirmed by restriction enzyme digestion and sequence analysis using the dideoxy method and T7 sequencing kit as described above.

In vitro transcription and translation

In vitro transcription/translation (TnT) reactions were performed using a coupled transcription/translation system (TnT coupled Reticulocyte Lysate System, Promega Corp., Madison, Wisconsin). Reactions were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions with the addition of 1 μ M ZnCl₂ to the reaction mixture to stabilize the DNA binding domain of the wild-type ER- α .

Ligand binding assay using TnT reaction products

The principle of the assay used to determine ligand binding to *in vitro* translated proteins is similar to that described for the whole cell receptor binding assays. Total and excess solutions where made by drying down the appropriate concentration of labelled and unlabelled [3 H]17 β -estradiol or [3 H]-tamoxifen. For estrogen binding assays, [3 H]17 β -estradiol was dried under air nitrogen to give a final stock of 40 nM in TE/BSA buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 1.5 mM EDTA, 0.2 % (wt/vol) BSA). To "total" tubes was added 10 μ L of TnT lysate, 90 μ L TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 1.5 mM EDTA), 50 μ L [3 H]17 β -estradiol solution and 50 μ L TE/BSA. To 'excess' tubes was added 10 μ L TnT

hysate, 90 μ L TE buffer, 50 μ L [³H]-estradiol and 50 μ L excess unlabelled estradiol (from a stock of 4 μ M in TE/BSA). Samples were set up in microfuge tubes and left overnight in icewater at 4°C. The following day 500 μ L of charcoal/dextran (0.25 grams washed activated charcoal and 0.025 grams dextran T70 in TE buffer) was added to each tube and left for 30 minutes at 4°C. Samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 4°C and 250 μ L of supernatant is added to 5 mL liquid scintillant for counting using a liquid scintillation counter.

Gel shift assay

Gel shift assays were performed using 4% acrylamide, 0.5 X TBE gels, run at 200 V for approximately 40 minutes at 4°C. A double-stranded ERE from the vitellogenin B1 gene (5'-GTCCAAAGTCAGGTCACAGTGACCTGATCAAAGTT-3', synthesized at the DNA synthesis Lab., University of Calgary) was used as a probe for the gel mobility shift assay. 2-4 µl of TnT lysate (~ 1-2 ng protein) was used for each gel shift reaction as well as 0.5 ng labelled probe. The ERE was end-labelled by incubating 25 ng ERE, 4 µL 10 X polynucleotide kinase (PNK) heating buffer (0.2 M Tris-HCl, pH 9.5, 10 mM spermidine and 1 mM EDTA) and 35 µL distilled water at 70°C for 10 minutes. The sample was then cooled for 5 minutes on ice before adding 5 µL 10 X blunt end kinase buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 9.5, 0.1 M MgCL, 50 mM dithiothreitol and 50 % glycerol), 5 µL [y-32P]-ATP and 2 µL T4 PNK (10 units/µL) and incubating at 37°C for 30 minutes. The labelled oligonucleotide was isolated using a G-25 Sephadex Quick Spin Column (Boehringer Mannheim, Indianapolis, Indiana). The appropriate amount of TnT reaction (marked in figure legends) was used in the gel shift reactions and T7 RNA polymerase heat-killed reaction refers to the use of a TnT reaction sample in which all the appropriate components are present but the T7 RNA polymerase enzyme was boiled for 5 minutes prior to use. Gel shift reactions were composed of 1 μ L labelled ERE (0.5 ng), TnT reaction, and 8 μ L 1 X stock buffer (200 μ L contains: 50 μ L 5 X stock (50 mM Hepes pH 7.9, 500 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM EDTA, 10 mM dithiothreitol and 50 % glycerol), 5 μ g bovine serum albumin, 2.5 % vol/vol FICOL, and 25 μ g poly dI-dC) and placed on ice for 15 minutes with or without drug treatment. Gel shift protocol was kindly provided by Dr. T. Miller (NorthWestern University, Chicago, Illinois).

MAPK assay

In vitro MAPK activity was measured using myelin basic protein (MBP) as a substrate (474). For experiments performed in serum-free conditions, cells were plated in 5% CS, and the following day the medium was changed to 5% CS minus serum and changed every day for 7 days. To measure basal MAPK activity, T5 cells were passaged twice in 5% CS and both T5 and T5-PRF cells were set up in 5% CS in 100 mm dishes at approximately 0.2 x 10⁶ cells and harvested in MAPK buffer 3 days later. Cell extracts were obtained by the previously described method of three cycles of freezing and thawing and the resulting supernatant was used for *in vitro* MAPK assays. Reaction mixtures contained, 6 μ L Buffer A (0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 100 μ g bovine serum albumin, 0.1 M MgCl₂), 8 μ L Buffer B (37.5 μ L Buffer A in a 100 μ L solution containing 20 μ M PKI peptide and 125 μ M Calmidazolium), 6 μ L of a 2 mg/mL stock solution of MBP (or water for blank control tubes), 100 μ M ATP and 15 μ Ci [γ -³²P]ATP. The reaction was initiated by adding 10 μ L of cell lysate in MAPK buffer containing 1 μ g of protein to each tube and reactions were allowed to proceed for 10 minutes at 30°C. Reactions were terminated by spotting 20 μ L of the sample onto Whatman P81

phosphocellulose paper and washing for 2 hours in phosphoric acid buffer (200 mM), changing wash buffer every 30 minutes. P81 paper was placed into a liquid scintillant vial, 5 mL of liquid scintillant was added and samples were counted using a liquid scintillation counter. Reactions that had no added MBP served as controls for background activity.

<u>Results</u>

I. Identification of estrogen regulated NM-IF proteins

Rationale

As discussed, the nuclear matrix (NM) is thought to play an important role in many nuclear processes and the ER- α has been localized to the NM. Initially, it was of interest to use a cell culture model to examine NM protein composition in an estrogen-nonresponsive versus estrogen-responsive breast cancer cell line. Norm Huzel, a technician in Dr.L.C.Murphy's laboratory, initially developed an estrogen-nonresponsive human breast cancer cell line, T5-PRF, through long-term growth of T5 estrogen-responsive human breast cancer cells in the absence of estrogen. This was accomplished by culturing cells in phenol-red free DMEM and charcoal-stripped fetal calf serum. This subline, T5-PRF, was further characterized and compared to the parental T5 cells.

Results

T5 human breast cancer cells are ER- α positive and estrogen treatment in culture results in increased proliferation of these cells. The T5-PRF subline was derived from the T5 cell line through growth in the absence of estrogen for at least 60 passages before examining the effects of estrogen treatment on the growth of these cells in culture. In the absence of estrogen, T5-PRF and T5 cells have comparable doubling times (in days) of 1.37 ± 0.17 (mean \pm sem, n=4) and 1.26 ± 0.05 (mean \pm sem, n=4) respectively. The addition of 10 nM estradiol decreased the doubling time of the T5 parental cells to 1.05 ± 0.07 (mean \pm sem, n=4) days. This is in contrast to the T5-PRF cells in which the addition of 10 nM estradiol resulted in a doubling time of 1.43 ± 0.14 (mean \pm sem, n=4) days. This is reflected in figure 6A in which estradiol treatment, even at higher doses, had little or no effect on the growth of T5-PRF cells compared to parental T5 cells in which estradiol treatment at all doses tested resulted in an increase in proliferation (p< 0.0001, ANOVA, comparing T5 to T5-PRF estrogen treatments).

The antiestrogens ICI 164,384 and 4-monohydroxytamoxifen were able to inhibit the growth of both T5 and T5-PRF cells, although the T5-PRF cells appeared less sensitive to growth inhibition by ICI 164,384 this was not of statistical significance (Figure 6B and C).

As mentioned, T5 cells are ER- α positive and to examine if the lack of growth response to estrogen in the T5-PRF cells was due to loss of ER- α expression, ligand-binding techniques were used to quantitate the level of ER- α expression. These results are shown in Table 3 and demonstrate that T5-PRF cells still retain expression of the ER- α , although at a level approximately 50% of that seen in the parental T5 cells. Therefore, the T5-PRF cell line, while still retaining ER- α expression, is estrogen-nonresponsive in terms of growth in culture, providing a model in which to study mechanisms involved in the acquisition of an estrogennonresponsive growth phenotype, thought to be one of the initial steps in the progression to hormone-independence (352).

It has been previously demonstrated that the ER- α is associated with the NM (344) and patterns of NM protein expression have been hypothesized to be involved in changes in gene expression (345). Therefore it was of interest to examine the pattern of NM proteins expressed in both the T5 and T5-PRF cell lines to determine if differences did exist. As described in the methods section, using an established protocol for NM isolation generated



Figure 6. Effect of estrogen and antiestrogen on proliferation of T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells. The effects of increasing concentrations of 17β -estradiol on cells grown in estrogen-deplete conditions (A) and antiestrogen (ICI 164,384 (B) and 4-monohydroxytamoxifen on cells grown in estrogen-replete conditions (C)) on proliferation rate (percentage control). Approximately 10^4 cells were plated in duplicate on day -2. On day 0, three dishes were counted and cells were treated with medium containing estradiol or the appropriate antiestrogen to a final concentration of 0, 1, 10, 100, 1000, and 5000 nM. Five days later cells were harvested and results expressed as proliferation rate as a percentage of control (see Methods for formulae). Results represent the mean \pm sem, n = 4 independent experiments.

Table 3. ER- α levels in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells#.

Cell line	ER- α fmol/10 ⁶ cells (± sem)
T5	235.0 ± 51.3
T5-PRF	119.4 <u>+</u> 24.1*

#Results are expressed as ER- α fmol/10⁶ cells \pm sem, n= 5 independent experiments.

• p<0.05, Student's t-test

.

a protein profile referred to as the NM with attached IF (NM-IF) (320). The IF, as described in the introduction, forms a cage-like structure around the nucleus, but more recent evidence suggests that IF proteins, including cytokeratins, also exist within the nucleus, associated with NM structures and DNA (326). The T5 cell line, grown in the presence of estrogen, was initially used to work up the protocol for NM-IF isolation. The isolation of a NM structure is achieved after digestion of the nuclei with DNAse I followed by salt extraction to remove chromatin components. Initially, the method used for NM-IF preparation stopped at 0.25 M ammonium sulphate. However, the T5 NM-IF fraction still contained significant amounts of histone contamination (Figure 7, lane 4). To further improve the purity of the NM-IF fraction, sequential salt extractions of the NM-IF preparation were performed and resulted in a significant reduction in histone contamination (Figure 7, lane 7). Significantly, it was noted that three proteins of approximately 41, 45, and 54 kDa appeared to be enriched in the final NM-IF fraction of estrogen-treated T5 human breast cancer cells (Figure 7, lane 7). To ensure that the NM-IF procedure maintained the integrity of the NM-IF structure, samples were sent to Dr. M. Henzel at the University of Calgary for electron microscopy. Figure 8 is an electron micrograph of the NM-IF structure that demonstrates an intact structure. It can be seen that a filamentous network is present throughout the NM, the surrounding porelamina complex and the residual nucleoli can also be seen, consistent with results previously reported using other cell types (332).

Studies have demonstrated that the ER- α binds to the NM in the presence of hormone and have suggested that the association of the receptor with the NM is linked to hormone function (337,475). Western blotting was performed using NM-IF samples to confirm that



Figure 7. NM-IF protein profile in T5 human breast cancer cells. T5 cells were grown in the presence of 10 nM 17 β -estradiol for 72 hours. NM-IF was isolated as described under Methods. Lane 1. Molecular mass (M,) standards (BioRad); Lane 2. cytosol; Lane 3. whole nuclei; Lane 4. S1=0.25 M ammonium sulphate NM-IF pellet; Lane 5. S2= 2 M NaCl solublized fraction; Lane 6. S3= 2 M NaCl/1% 2-mercaptoethanol solubilized fraction; Lane 7. NM-IF pellet. Subcellular fractions were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and were stained with Coomassie Blue to visualize protein bands. Arrows denote 54, 45, and 41 kDa protein bands. H= histones.



Figure 8. Electron microscopy of NM-IF preparation. The figure represents an electron micrograph of a resinless section of an NM-IF preparation from T5 human breast cancer cells. The components of the NM-IF are the residual nucleolus, pore-lamina complex (arrow PL) and the internal fibrogranular network. This photograph was generously taken by Dr. M. Henzel, University of Calgary. PL = pore-lamina. Magnification = 12000X.

the ER- α of T5 cells was indeed associated with the NM-IF fraction. Figure 9A demonstrates that the majority of the ER- α in T5 cells, after estrogen treatment, can be found in the NM-IF fraction and is resistant to salt extraction (compare lane 7 with lanes 4, 5, and 6). As a negative control, MDA-MB-231 (ER- α negative) human breast cancer cells were also examined in a similar fashion and figure 9B demonstrates no detectable ER- α in these cells. The association of ER- α with the NM-IF fraction was examined in T5-PRF estrogennonresponsive cells (grown routinely in estrogen-deplete conditions) and it was demonstrated that the ER- α was associated with the NM-IF fraction in these cells (Figure 9C). This study also confirmed the fact that the level of ER- α was lower in these cells compared to the parental T5 cells grown in estrogen-deplete conditions (compare the intensity of the band in lane 9 to lane 5, figure 9C). It also appears that the ER- α from both T5 and T5-PRF is less resistant to salt-extraction in this experiment (Figure 9C), since there is apparently more ER- α detectable in the chromatin fractions (Figure 9C, lanes 4 and 8). This is likely due to the lack of estrogen-treatment before isolation of the NM-IF (compare figure 9A, lanes 4-6, estrogentreated T5 cells to figure 9C, lanes 4 and 8, non-estrogen-treated T5 and T5-PRF, respectively). As well, the ability to detect ER- α in the cytosol fraction (Figure 9A, lane 2 and figure 9C, lanes 2) may be due to leakage of nuclei during the isolation procedure.

The total pattern of NM-IF protein composition, as determined using 1 dimensional SDS-acrylamide gel electrophoresis and Coomassie blue staining, was compared between the parent T5 cells and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells. The NM-IF was isolated from cells cultured in the absence or presence of estrogen. As described, T5 cells were grown routinely in estrogen-replete conditions, containing 5% fetal calf serum and phenol-red containing



Figure 9. Association of ER-a with the NM-IF. NM-IF and subcellular fractions were isolated as described in Methods. Samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels under reducing conditions. Western blotting and immune detection was performed as described in Methods using the ER-a antibody H226. A. T5 cells treated with 10 nM 17B-estradiol for 72h prior to harvesting and NM-IF isolation. Lane 1. In vitro transcribed/translated ER-a positive control; Lane 2. Cytosol fraction; Lane 3. Nuclei; Lane 4. S1 = 0.25 M ammonium sulphate solubilized fraction; Lane 5. S2 = 2 M NaCl solublized fraction; Lane 6. S3 = 2 M NaCl and 1% 2-mercaptoethanol solubilized fraction; Lane 7. NM-IF pellet. B. MDA-MB-231 ER-a negative human breast cancer cells. Lane 1. In vitro transcribed/translated ERa positive control. Lane 2. Cytosol; Lane 3. Nuclei; Lane 4. Chromatin fractions (S1. S2, and S3 pooled); Lane 5. NM-IF fraction; C. T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells grown in the absence of estrogen. Lane 1. In vitro transcribed/translated ER-a positive control; Lane 2. T5 cytosol; Lane 3. T5 nuclei; Lane 4. T5 chromatin fractions (S1, S2 and S3 pooled); Lane 5. T5 NM-IF fraction; Lane 6. T5-PRF cytosol; Lane 7. T5-PRF nuclei; Lane 8. T5-PRF chromatin fractions (S1, S2, and S3 pooled); Lane 9. T5-PRF NM-IF. Arrow indicates position of wild-type ER-a. Gels were loaded based on initial cell number in pellet before extraction such that each lane represents 0.5 x 10⁶ cell equivalents. Molecular mass marker positions are denoted on the left (BioRad).

medium (5% CM). The NM-IF composition of T5 cells grown in this fashion is shown in figure 10, lane 1. When T5 cells grown in 5% CM were treated with 10 nM 17\beta-estradiol for 72 hours (these conditions were used to demonstrate ER-a association with the NM-IF) an increase in intensity of proteins of 54, 45 and 41 kDa was observed (Figure 10, lane 2 versus lane 1). While increases in the levels of these proteins were observed with 24 and 48 hour treatments, a 72 hour treatment resulted in consistently higher levels and was therefore used throughout. T5-PRF cells were grown routinely in estrogen-deplete conditions (medium without phenol-red and containing 5% charcoal-stripped fetal calf serum, 5% CS) and have been grown long-term in these conditions and are thus chronically-estrogen-depleted. T5-PRF cells grown under these conditions contain an elevated level of the three aforementioned proteins in the absence of estrogen (Figure 10, lane 3 versus lane 1) and estrogen treatment of T5-PRF cells did little to alter the levels of these proteins (Figure 10, lane 4 versus lane 3). To determine if growth in estrogen-deplete (5% CS) or -replete (5% CM) conditions was responsible for the changes in levels of these NM-IF proteins, T5 cells were cultured in acute (1 passage) estrogen-deplete conditions. Acute estrogen withdrawal of T5 parental cells resulted in a significant reduction in the level of these protein bands which could be increased after 10 nM 17B-estradiol treatment for 72 hours (Figure 10, lane 5 and lane 6). T5 cells that had been cultured in estrogen-deplete conditions for 10 passages, referred to as short-term chronic estrogen-depleted cells, were also examined. These cells contained elevated levels of the NM-IF proteins compared to acute-estrogen-deplete T5 cells (Figure 10, lane 7 versus lane 5) but the level was still reduced compared to long-term chronic estrogen-depleted T5-PRF cells (Figure 10, lane 7 versus lane 3). Additionally, in short-term chronically estrogen-



Figure 10. NM-IF in estrogen-replete and estrogen-deplete conditions. NM-IF was obtained as described in Methods. Lane 1. T5 NM-IF (ethanol vehicle); Lane 2. T5 NM-IF (10 nM estrogen 72 h); Lane 3. T5-PRF NM-IF (ethanol vehicle); Lane 4. T5-PRF NM-IF (10 nM estrogen 72 h); Lane 5. acute estrogen-deplete T5 NM-IF (ethanol vehicle); Lane 6. acute estrogen-deplete T5 NM-IF (10 nM estrogen 72 h); Lane 7. short-term estrogen-deplete T5 NM-IF (ethanol vehicle); Lane 8. short-term estrogen-deplete T5 NM-IF (ethanol vehicle); Lane 8. short-term estrogen-deplete T5 NM-IF (10 nM estrogen 72 h). Subcellular fractions were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained using Coomassie blue to visualize protein bands. 5 μ g of protein was loaded per lane. Arrows denote 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands. h=hours. Representative of 3 independent experiments.
depleted T5 cells, estrogen treatment still resulted in increased levels of the 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein bands (Figure 10, lane 8 versus lane 7). This suggests that the progression of T5 cells towards an estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype may be associated with increased expression and loss of estrogen-regulation of NM-IF proteins, specifically 54, 45 and 41 kDa proteins. The level of these three proteins in the NM-IF appears to be regulated by estrogen in the estrogen-responsive parental T5 cells, but not the estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF cells. The NM-IF proteins in the short-term estrogen-depleted T5 cells still respond to estrogen in terms of increased NM-IF abundance, but in the T5-PRF cells, high levels occur in the absence of estrogen and estrogen treatment no longer increases the level of these proteins.

The effect of estrogen on these NM-IF proteins was examined in more detail using T5 cells grown in the absence of estrogen for one passage (acute) to reduce the level of these proteins associated with the NM-IF fraction. The results of a dose-response experiment, 72 hours after estrogen treatment, are shown in Figure 11. This demonstrates that as little as 0.1 nM estrogen resulted in maximally increased levels of these proteins in the NM-IF of acute estrogen-depleted T5 cells. Comparing the abundance of these proteins to the lamins (Figure 11), it can be seen that the lamins are the most abundant NM-IF proteins in vehicle treated acute estrogen-depleted conditions, but following estrogen treatment, the 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands are much more abundant. Figure 11 also demonstrates the approximate percent changes in expression of the three NM-IF proteins as a percentage of control. To perform this semi-quantitation, the Coomassie Blue stained gels were scanned and the intensity of the combined lamin bands was used as a loading control to correct the intensity of the combined scanned



Figure 11. Estrogen dose-response effects on NM-IF protein levels in acute estrogen-depleted T5 cells. Cells were treated with 17 β -estradiol at the appropriate concentration or ethanol vehicle for 72 hours. NM-IF was isolated as described in Methods. Samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained with Coomassie Blue to visualize protein bands. 5 µg of protein was loaded per lane. Arrows show 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands. L= lamins. Numbers below 17 β - estradiol concentrations represent 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein levels as a percentage of control, mean ± sem, n=4. p<0.05, ANOVA. Lamin bands were used as a loading control. data for the 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands (data were obtained using NIH Image and Ofoto 2.0 software packages). Once the data were normalized for loading using the lamins, the results were expressed as percentage of vehicle treated control cells. Data represent the mean \pm sem of four independent experiments and demonstrate that estrogen treatment results in an approximately 2-3 fold increase in expression of the 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands (Figure 11 bottom panels, p<0.05, ANOVA). The identification of the lamins was performed using Western blotting and immune detection of the NM-IF fraction in parallel with purified lamins as standards (Figure 12).

As stated, T5-PRF chronically estrogen-depleted cells were grown routinely in the absence of estrogen. This is accomplished by growing the cells in cell culture medium that lacks the pH indicator phenol red (which contains estrogenic contaminants) and also by growing the cells in 5% charcoal-stripped fetal calf serum to remove endogenous steroids. T5 parental cells are grown routinely in medium that contains phenol red and 5% fetal calf serum. The increased levels of the 54, 45 and 41 kDa proteins that is seen in the chronically estrogen-depleted T5-PRF cells may be a result of the absence of estrogen, or may be due to some other component of fetal calf serum on the level of the three proteins associated with the NM-IF, acute estrogen-depleted T5 cells and T5-PRF cells were grown in the presence of estrogen or 5% fetal calf serum for 72 hours. The results shown in Figure 13 demonstrate that estrogen appears to be responsible for the increased level of these proteins in the NM-IF fraction.

The effect of antiestrogens on the expression of the 54, 45 and 41 kDa proteins was



Figure 12. Immune detection of lamin proteins. NM-IF and purified lamins were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels under reducing conditions. Western blotting and immune detection were performed as described in Methods. Purified lamins were run as positive controls (a generous gift from Dr. Y. Raymond (Montreal, PQ). Antibodies to lamins A/C (119D5-F1) and lamin B (131C3), panel A and B respectively, were also generously provided by Dr. Y. Raymond. Molecular mass marker positions are denoted on the left (BioRad).



Figure 13. Effects of fetal calf serum on NM-IF proteins. T5 cells were grown for one passage in the absence of estrogen (acute estrogen-depletion) and T5-PRF cells were grown routinely in the absence of estrogen. Cells were treated with 10 nM 17 β -estradiol or 5% fetal calf serum (FCS) for 72 hours before harvesting. NM-IF preparation was as described under Methods. Samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained using Coomassie Blue to detect protein bands. 10 µg protein was loaded per lane. Molecular mass standards are shown (BioRad). The 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands are denoted with arrows. n=2 independent experiments.

next examined. Treating T5 cells, grown in the presence of estrogen (5% CM), for 72 hours with 100 nM 4-monohydroxytamoxifen (TOT) resulted in a marked reduction in the NM-IF levels of these proteins (Figure 14A). The amounts of these three proteins associated with the NM-IF fraction of long-term chronically estrogen-depleted T5-PRF cells did not appear to be affected by antiestrogen treatment (Figure 14B). Thus, although antiestrogens inhibit the proliferation of these cells, the inhibitory effect on the abundance of the three NM-IF proteins seen in the parent T5 cell line is no longer observed. The dose-dependence of antiestrogen treatment was examined in T5 cells grown in estrogen-replete conditions (5% CM). Similar to that observed with estrogen dose effects, the abundance of these proteins in the NM-IF fraction was sensitive to alteration by antiestrogen. With as little as 10 nM ICI or 0.1 nM TOT, significant reductions in the levels of these proteins in the NM-IF were seen (Figure 15A, B, p<0.05, ANOVA, for both ICI and TOT). Interestingly, in T5 parental cells, there is also a dissociation in the ability of the antiestrogens to inhibit cell growth and their ability to decrease the level of the NM-IF proteins. The antiestrogen ICI is a more potent antiestrogen than TOT in terms of growth inhibition (Figure 6B, C) but is less potent than TOT in terms of effects on NM-IF protein levels (Figure 15A, B).

The effects of estrogen treatment on the level of these three proteins in terms of whole cell extracts were also examined. The data presented in Figure 16 demonstrate that even at the whole cell level, estrogen treatment increased the abundance of these proteins in T5 but not T5-PRF cells, suggesting that estrogen has an effect on increasing the total expression of these proteins, and the results do not merely reflect an increased association with the NM-IF fraction.



Figure 14. Effects of antiestrogens on NM-IF proteins in TS and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells. T5 cells were grown in estrogen-replete conditions (5% CM) and treated with ethanol vehicle, 10 nM 17 β -estradiol or 100 nM of the antiestrogens ICI 164,384 (ICI) or 4-monohydroxytamoxifen (TOT) for 72 hours prior to harvesting and isolation of NM-IF fractions. T5-PRF cells were routinely grown in the absence of estrogen and treated in a similar fashion to T5 parental cells. NM-IF fractions were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained with Coomassie Blue to detect protein bands. Arrows denote the position of the 54, 45 and 41 kDa NM-IF protein bands. 5 µg protein was loaded per lane. n = 3, independent experiments.



Figure 15. Dose-dependent effects of antiestrogen on NM-IF proteins in T5 human breast cancer cells. T5 cells were plated in estrogen-replete conditions (5% CM) and following antiestrogen treatments cells were harvested and NM-IF protein bands. CM) and following antiestrogen treatments cells were harvested and NM-IF properted as described in Methods. NM-IF samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained with Coomassie Blue to visualize protein bands. Cells were treated with (A) ICI 164,384 (ICI) or (B) 4-monohydroxytamoxifen (TOT) at were treated with (A) ICI 164,384 (ICI) or (B) 4-monohydroxytamoxifen (TOT) at the appropriate concentration. Control cells were treated with vehicle and for COT) at for 72 hours. Arrows denote 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein bands. 5 µg protein was loaded per lane. L= lamins. Numbers below the treatment concentration represent 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein bands. 5 µg protein was loaded per lane. L= lamins. Numbers below the treatment concentration represent 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein bands. 5 µg protein was loaded per lane. L= lamins. Numbers below the treatment concentration represent 54, 45 and 41 kDa protein bands. 5 µg protein was loaded per lane. L= lamins. Numbers below the treatment concentration represent 54, independent experiments. PCO, 5, ANOVA, for both ICI and TOT dose-responses. I and 41 kDa protein bands were treated with n=3 and 41 kDa protein bands. 5 µg protein was independent experiments. PCO, 5, ANOVA, for both ICI and TOT dose-responses.



Figure 16. Whole cell extracts of T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells. Cells were treated with 17β -estradiol or vehicle control for 72 hours. Cells were dissolved in 8 M urea and samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and stained with Coomassie Blue to detect protein bands. Positions of 54, 45 and 41 kDa bands are marked with arrows. 10 µg protein was loaded per lane. n=2 independent experiments.

Concomitant with these studies, Helmut Dotzlaw, a technician in Dr. L.C.Murphy's laboratory, had noted that the level of these proteins was altered by progestin treatment in the estrogen-responsive and ER-α positive human breast cancer cell line T47D. H. Dotzlaw further chromatographically enriched for these proteins and isolated spots from 2-dimensional (2-D) gels which were then sent out for microsequencing (WM Keck Foundation, New Haven, Connecticut). This resulted in the identification of these proteins as the cytokeratins 8 (54 kDa), 18 (45 kDa) and 19 (41 kDa). These protein bands were confirmed to be the same proteins identified in the NM-IF of T5 human breast cancer cells after column purification of these proteins from T5 cells followed by 2-D gel analysis of fractions (apparent molecular size and isoelectric point comparisons) from T47D, T5 and mixing experiments of the two sets of column fractions from each cell line (Figure 17). Additionally, whole cell extracts obtained from T5 cells before and after estrogen treatment were also subjected to 2-D gel analysis and stained with Coomassie Blue to demonstrate these spots increased after estrogen treatment (Figure 18).

To determine if a correlation existed between ER- α expression and expression of cytokeratin (CK) 8, 18 and 19, total NM-IF composition was compared between ER- α positive and ER- α negative human breast cell lines. Figure 19 clearly shows a marked difference in total NM-IF composition between ER- α positive and negative cell lines. In particular, a notable decrease or absence of the CK8, 18 and 19 bands was observed in the two ER- α negative breast cell lines examined.

In conclusion, these data demonstrate an altered expression and regulation by estrogen of NM-IF associated cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19 in estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF human



Figure 17. Two-dimensional electrophoresis of T5 and T47D column fractions. A. T5 column fraction. B. T47D column fraction. C. T5 and T47D mix. 15 μ g protein was loaded per gel. Gels were silver stained to visualize protein bands. Column purification, 2-D electrophoresis and silver staining were performed as described under Methods. Position of molecular mass markers (BioRad) is shown. Positions of the cytokeratin bands are marked.



Figure 18. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of T5 whole cell extracts. 2-D gel analysis was performed as described in Methods. A. T5 cells were grown in the absence of estrogen for 72 hours and cells were harvested and lysed in 8 M urea. B. T5 cells were treated with 10 nM 17 β -estradiol for 72 hours before harvesting cells and lysing in 8 M urea. 30 µg protein loaded per gel. Gels were stained with Coomassie Blue to visualize protein bands. n=3 independent experiments.



Figure 19. ER- α positive versus ER- α negative NM-IF protein composition. NM-IF composition was compared between ER- α negative and ER- α positive human breast cell lines. Cells were grown in estrogen-replete conditions (5% CM) and NM-IF isolated as described in Methods. Samples were run on SDS-12% acrylamide gels and were stained with Coomassie Blue to visualize protein bands. 231= MDA-MB-231; ER- α negative human breast cancer cell line. HBL100; ER- α negative breast epithelial cell line. Arrows denote the 54 (CK8), 45 (CK18) and 41 (CK19) kDa bands. CK, cytokeratin. L= lamins. 5 µg protein loaded per lane. n = 2, independent

breast cancer cells. However, although antiestrogens inhibit the proliferation of T5-PRF cells, they do not decrease the levels of the cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19 in the NM-IF as they do in the parental T5 cell line, suggesting that both estrogen and antiestrogen sensitivity in terms of regulating NM-IF levels of these proteins, have been lost in T5-PRF cells.

II. Variant ER- α expression in estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF human breast cancer cells.

Rationale

The previous studies had demonstrated that T5-PRF cells were no longer responsive to estrogen in terms of growth in culture and appear to have lost responsiveness to a set of proteins that are regulated by estrogen and antiestrogen in the parental T5 human breast cancer cells. It was reasoned that the activity of the ER- α in T5-PRF cells may be altered and if so a possible mechanism may be alterations of ER- α structure and/or function. Studies were ongoing in Dr. L.C.Murphy's laboratory to identify variant ER- α mRNA transcripts in breast tumours and therefore a technique established by Dr.E.Leygue in our laboratory was used to compare expression of variant ER- α mRNA transcripts between T5 and T5-PRF breast cancer cells.

Results

To investigate further the mechanism(s) responsible for the estrogennonresponsiveness of TS-PRF cells, ER- α transcriptional activity was examined by transient transfection assays using an estrogen-responsive reporter gene. Figure 20 demonstrates a typical chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assay. Cells were transfected with the



Figure 20. Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assay. A typical chloramphenical acetyltransferase assay (CAT) assay is shown. $E2 = 10 \text{ nM} 17\beta$ -estradiol; ICI = 1 µM ICI 164,384. Transfections and CAT assays were performed as described in Methods. Acetylated and unacetylated spots are labelled. Spots are cut out by overlaying a transparency sheet over the autoradiogram and marking where the spots are in relation to the origin. The transparency is then placed over the thin layer chromatography sheet (TLC) and spots cut out and counted using liquid scintillation counting techniques. Results are calculated by expressing acetylated counts as a percentage of total (acetylated and nonacetylated) counts and experiments are combined to generate histographical representations of the data.

estrogen-responsive reporter gene, ERE-tk-CAT (148), and the β -galactosidase expression vector pCH110 (Pharmacia) to control for transfection efficiency. After transfection, cell extracts were prepared and the β -galactosidase activity in the samples was measured. The β galactosidase activity was used to equalize the volume of extract used for the CAT assay. If the reporter promoter (an ERE in this case) is active it will result in the production of the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase enzyme (not normally produced in mammalian cells) and the enzyme activity can be measured by the acetylation of [¹⁴C]chloramphenicol, resulting in a change in mobility on thin-layer chromatography sheets (TLC). These sheets are exposed to film and the resulting spots can be visualized (Figure 20). To quantitate an assay, a transparency film is overlayed on the autoradiogram and marked, this is then placed over the TLC sheet and the spots can be cut out and the radioactivity counted using liquid scintillation techniques. The results are calculated as a percentage of acetylated versus total (acetylated and nonacetylated) spots (marked on Figure 20) and can then be expressed as a fold increase or decrease over control (basal, arbitrarily set at 1.0). The histogram in figure 21A shows the fold difference in CAT activity between the T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cell lines. As expected, estrogen treatment increases CAT activity in T5 and to a lesser extent in T5-PRF cells, while the antiestrogen ICI 164,384 inhibits the estrogen-induced transcriptional activity of the ER- α in both cell lines. In the absence of added estrogen there is a low basal ER- α activity in the parental T5 cells, however in the estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF cells, the basal ER- α activity was 3.6 ± 0.5 (mean ± sem, n=7) fold higher than that seen in T5 cells (p < 0.05). Consistent with the increased basal CAT activity in T5-PRF cells being mediated by ER- α , treating cells under basal conditions with ICI 164,384 alone almost completely



Figure 21. ER- α transcriptional activity. A. T5 and T5-PRF cells were transfected and CAT assays performed as described in Methods. Results are expressed as fold CAT activity compared to T5 basal (arbitrarily set at 1.0). Cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions (5% CS) and treated with vehicle alone (basal), 10 nM 17 β -estradiol (E2) or 10 nM E2 plus 1 μ M ICI 164,384 (ICI) for 24 hours. *p<0.05, Student's t-test (compared to T5 basal). Results represent mean \pm sem, n=7 independent experiments. B. T5-PRF cells were transfected and CAT assays performed as described in Methods. Cells were treated with ICI 164,384 alone under basal (estrogen-deplete) conditions. Results represent percentage CAT activity with T5-PRF basal set as 100%, n=2.

abolished the increased basal transcriptional activity (Figure 21B).

As discussed in the Introduction, PR expression is a marker of ER- α activity, therefore PR levels were examined to determine if the increase in basal ER- α activity in T5-PRF cells was reflected in an endogenous estrogen-responsive gene. Under basal (i.e. no added estrogen) conditions the T5-PRF cells have significantly higher PR levels (~3 fold) than the parent T5 cells passaged twice in 5% CS (as defined in Methods) before receptor assays (464 ± 12 fmol/10⁶ cells, n=4 versus 148 ± 28 fmol/10⁶ cells, n=3, mean ± sem, see figure 22).

Since there was an observed increased basal ER- α activity from both an estrogenresponsive reporter gene and an endogenous estrogen-responsive gene (PR) in T5-PRF cells despite a decreased level of endogenous ER- α as determined by ligand-binding analyses and Western blotting, it was reasoned that the intrinsic activity of wild-type ER- α in these cells was increased or some ER-like activity existed that was not detectable by ligand binding experiments. Alterations in the structure or presence of variant forms of the ER- α with ligand-independent activity could be one mechanism for the observed results. Long-range ER- α reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis was performed on total RNA isolated from T5 and T5-PRF cells to examine the pattern of deleted variant ER- α mRNA expression. RT-PCR analysis was performed using a primer pair specific for exons 1 and 8 of the wild-type human ER- α sequence, allowing detection of any variant ER- α mRNA species containing both exons 1 and 8 of wild-type ER- α sequence. Figure 23A shows the PCR products obtained and the presence of a 928 base pair (bp) band whose relative expression is markedly increased in T5-PRF estrogen-independent cells. To confirm the



Figure 22. Progesterone receptor levels. PR levels were determined by whole cell binding as described in Methods. T5 and T5-PRF cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions (basal, 5% CS). PR levels are expressed as fmol PR/10⁶ cells and results represent mean \pm sem, n=3 independent experiments, $^{\oplus\oplus\oplus}$ = p<0.0001 basal T5-PRF PR levels versus basal T5 PR levels, Student's t-test.



Figure 23. Long-range ER- α RT-PCR. A. Total RNA was extracted from T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells, reverse transcribed and PCR amplified using 1/8U and 1/8L ER- α primers as described in Methods. Labelled PCR products were separated on 3.5% acrylamide-urea gels and visualized using autoradiography. WT-ER = wild-type ER- α , D7-ER = exon 7 deleted ER- α , D4-ER = exon 4 deleted ER- α and D3-4-ER = exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α , based on size compared to labelled markers. The 928bp product was excised from a gel and subcloned (in triplicate) and three colonies from each independent subcloning were sequenced to confirm the identity of d3-4 cDNA. B. Structure of WT-ER- α cDNA and primer set used to amplify and detect PCR products.

identity of this variant, the cDNA corresponding to the 928 bp band was subcloned and sequenced, as described under Methods. The nucleotide sequence of the cDNA was found to represent a variant ER- α mRNA containing a deletion of both exons 3 and 4 (Figure 24A). The exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α (ERd3-4) is in frame and is predicted to encode a protein of 443 amino acid residues with a predicted molecular mass of 49 kDa (analyzed using MacVector software program). This putative ER- α -like protein would be missing the second zinc finger of the ER- α DNA binding domain, the hinge region and part of the ligand binding domain (Figure 24B).

To address the potential function of this variant ER- α , eukaryotic expression vectors containing the ERd3-4 cDNA were constructed (as described under Methods) and shown to express a protein of the expected size (Figure 25A) using *in vitro* transcription/translation techniques. Western blotting and immune detection were performed on the *in vitro* transcription/translation products generated in the absence of radiolabel. The ERd3-4 protein was recognized by the ER- α antibody H226 that recognizes an epitope encoded in exon 1/2 (A/B region) of wild-type ER- α (Figure 25B, lanes 1 and 2). Using an antibody (AER308) that recognizes an epitope located in exon 4 of the wild-type ER- α , the band corresponding to the ERd3-4 is not seen, while wild-type ER- α is still detected (Figure 25B, lanes 3 and 4).

Ligand-binding analysis was also performed on *in vitro* translated ERd3-4 and wildtype ER- α (HEGO) using [³H]17 β -estradiol or [³H]tamoxifen as described under Methods. Figure 26 demonstrates that under conditions in which wild-type ER- α can bind to both estrogen and antiestrogen ERd3-4 displays little or no ability to specifically bind either ligand.



Missing amino acids 215---->366 of WT-ER-a

Figure 24. Sequence and structure of exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α . A. Sequence of the exon 2/5 junction. The 928 bp RT-PCR product was subcloned and sequenced as described in Methods. Sequencing reactions were run on 6% acrylamide gels and exposed to film to visualize reaction products. B. Structure of the ERd3-4 compared to wild-type ER- α . The ERd3-4 mRNA would encode a protein of 49 kDa that would be missing the second zinc finger of the ER- α DNA binding domain, the hinge region and a portion of the ligand binding domain.







Figure 26. Ligand binding of *in vitro* transcribed/translated wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 protein. *In vitro* transcription/translation reactions and ligand binding analysis were performed as described in Methods. A. Binding of [³H]17 β -estradiol. Histogram represents mean \pm sem, n=3 independent experiments. Results are expressed as fmol [³H]17 β -estradiol specifically bound per 10 µL of *in vitro* transcription/translation reaction (TnT). B. Binding of [³H]tamoxifen. Results are expressed as fmol [³H]tamoxifen specifically bound per 10 µL of *in vitro* TnT reaction, n=1.

The ERd3-4 protein would also be missing the second zinc finger of the DNA binding domain and as such would not be expected to bind to DNA. Under conditions in which in vitro transcribed/translated wild-type ER- α bound to an oligonucleotide containing the vitellogenin B1 ERE as determined by gel mobility shift assays, ERd3-4 did not demonstrate any specific DNA binding in the absence of ligand (Figure 27A). To examine if ligand could affect the DNA binding ability of ERd3-4 or if heterodimers between wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 could be detected further experiments were performed. Again, ERd3-4 alone did not demonstrate an ability to bind to the vitellogenin B1 ERE in the absence of ligand (Figure 27B, lane 3 versus lane 2). Added to this reaction and that of the wild-type ER- α , was in vitro transcription/translation mix obtained in the presence of heat killed T7 RNA polymerase to prevent transcription. This was an additional control to ensure that components of the rabbit reticulocyte lysate reaction mix or plasmid DNA did not affect DNA binding. When equal amounts of wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 were used in the absence of estradiol no differences in shifted bands could be observed (Figure 27B, lane 4 compared to lane 2). Additionally, equal amounts of wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 were incubated in the presence of estrogen or the antiestrogens ICI 164,384 or 4-monohydroxytamoxifen (Figure 27B, lanes 5, 6 and 7). Again, no additional bands could be detected to suggest the presence of wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 heterodimers under these experimental conditions. The reduction in the amount of ERE bound to wild-type ER- α in figure 27B, lanes 5, 6 and 7 compared to lanes 2 and 4 is likely due to the fact that ethanol vehicle was not included in the reaction mixtures used in lanes 2 and 4.

To examine if the ERd3-4 protein could be expressed ex vivo, transfections into ER-o.



Figure 27. Gel mobility shift assay. In vitro transcription/translation reactions were performed as described in Methods and incubated with a [³²P] labelled vitellogenin B1 ERE 35bp oligonucleotide. A. Gel shift assay performed using in vitro transcribed/translated proteins (2µL) in the absence of estrogen. Lane 1. Free probe; Lane 2. ERd3-4; Lane 3. wild-type (WT) ER- α . B. Gel shift assay performed using in vitro transcribed/translated proteins. Lane 1. Free probe; Lane 2. WT-ER- α protein plus ERd3-4 reaction in presence of heat killed T7; Lane 3. ERd3-4 protein plus WT-ER reaction in presence of heat killed T7; Lane 4. WT-ER- α and ERd3-4; Lane 5. WT-ER- α and ERd3-4 in the presence of 10 nM 17 β -estradiol; Lane 6. WT-ER- α and ERd3-4 in the presence of 1 μ M ICI 164,384; Lane 7. WT-ER- α and ERd3-4 plus 1 μ M 4-monohydroxytamoxifen. 2 μ L of in vitro transcription/translation reaction were used in each instance. = ER/ERE complex.

negative MCF10A1 human breast epithelial cells were performed. MCF10A1 cells were transfected with expression vectors for wild-type ER- α , ERd3-4 or vector (pSG5) DNA alone. Cells were harvested and extracts used for Western blotting and immune detection demonstrated that ERd3-4 could be expressed *ex vivo* as detected by the ER- α antibody H226 (Figure 28).

Despite the observations that this variant protein appeared incapable of binding ligand or DNA it was still of interest to examine potential effects on wild-type ER-a transcriptional activity since the transient transfection experiment had demonstrated it could be expressed ex vivo. To this end, transient transfections using the ER- α negative breast cell lines, MDA-MD-231 and MCF10A1 were carried out. Under conditions in which transiently transfected wild-type ER- α was transcriptionally active and able to induce CAT activity in a liganddependent fashion, the ERd3-4 did not demonstrate any transcriptional activity on its own (Figure 29A and B). This is unlikely to be due to low levels of expression of this transgene, since after transfection of 5 µg of ERd3-4 expression vector (approximately 1.5 pmol) into MCF10A1 cells a protein corresponding in size to the expected ERd3-4 protein was detectable (Figure 28, lane 3). To determine if ERd3-4 and wild-type ER- α could interact to influence transcription of an estrogen-responsive reporter gene, cotransfections of wild-type ER-a and ERd3-4 into MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A1 ER-a negative breast cell lines were carried out (Figure 29A and B). HEGO transfected alone showed the expected estrogendependent activity (MDA-MD-231, 7.7 ± 3.8 and MCF10A1 7.3 ± 4.2 , mean \pm sem, fold increase over basal), while ERd3-4, as mentioned, had no transcriptional activity alone in the presence of estrogen. However, when increasing amounts of ERd3-4 were transfected with



Figure 28. Ex vivo expression of ERd3-4 protein. MCF10A1 ER- α negative human breast epithelial cells were transfected with the appropriate expression vector, cells were lysed in 8M urea, and 10 µg protein run on an SDS-10% acrylamide gel. Cells were transferred to nitrocellulose and Western blotting performed using ER- α antibody H226. Lane 1. Control cells tranfected with 5 µg of vector (pSG5) DNA alone; Lane 2. Cells transfected with 5 µg HEGO (WT-ER- α) expression vector; Lane 3. Cells transfected with 5 µg ERd3-4 expression vector; Lane 4. In vitro transcribed/translated WT-ER- α (1 µL); Lane 5. In vitro transcribed/translated ERd3-4 (2 µL). n=2, independent experiments.



Figure 29. Activity of ERd3-4 in ER- α negative human breast cells. A. MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells were transfected with 5 µg ERE-tk-CAT, 1µg pCH110, 0.5pmol HEGO ± 0.5-2pmol ERd3-4 ± vector DNA to give a total of 17 µg DNA/dish. Cells were treated with 10 nM 17 β -estradiol (E2) for 24 h or vehicle alone as control (basal). Results are expressed as fold CAT activity compared to basal HEGO activity arbitrarily set as 1. Histograms represent mean ± sem, n=6-7. ***e=p<0.0001, ANOVA, results compared to estradiol treated HEGO alone. B. MCF10A1 human breast epithelial cells were similarily transfected. Histograms represent mean ± sem, n=4. *e=p<0.05, ANOVA, result compared to estradiol treated HEGO alone.

a constant amount of HEGO, ERd3-4 significantly increased estrogen-dependent activity of wild-type ER- α . When equal amounts of ERd3-4 and wild-type HEGO were transfected into MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A1 cells a significant increase in the estrogen-dependent activity was seen compared to HEGO estrogen-dependent activity (17.9 ± 10.5 and 12.7 ± 5.5 respectively, mean fold increase over HEGO basal ± sem, p<0.0001 and p<0.05). The lowered estrogen-dependent activity of HEGO at a higher dose of ERd3-4 (2 pmol) may be due to 'squelching' effects, perhaps due to the ability of ERd3-4 to sequester proteins required for transcriptional activity of wild-type ER- α . There is a significant interexperimental variation between transfections which results in a large standard error of the mean, but within each experiment it can be seen in Table 4 that there is a consistent increase in transcriptional activity with the addition of ERd3-4. Increasing amounts of cotransfected ERd3-4 was associated with increases in basal transcription in both MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A1 cells (Figure 29A and B) but this did not reach a level of statistical significance.

Since the ERd3-4 was originally detected in the estrogen-nonresponsive T5 subline, T5-PRF, it was of interest to examine the effects of introducing this variant ERd3-4 into the parental estrogen-responsive T5 cells. Transient transfections of ERd3-4 into T5 cells were performed as described under Methods. When ER- α transcriptional activity in T5 cells was measured in the presence of ERd3-4, statistically significant increases in both basal and estrogen-dependent CAT activity were seen (Figure 30). Transfection of 1 pmol of ERd3-4 into T5 cells caused a significant increase in CAT activity both in the presence of estrogen (39.3 ± 11.1 fold increase over basal in the presence of ERd3-4, mean ± sem, p<0.05) and in the absence of

Table 4. Fold CAT activity in breast cells

L MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells

0.5

Individual experiments

HEGO 0.5pmol

2.0 pmol

•	E2	-	E2	-	E2	•	E 2
1	3.8	1.5	6	2	5.8	4.8	
1	4.2	4.2	70.2	1.3	54.6	1	4
1	1.6	0.3	6	0.5	6	0.3	3.2
1	5.4	1	6.9	1.4	7.4	1	4.6
1	3.1	1	6.1	4.5	8.8	5.2	3.9
1	6	1	12	1.4	7.1	1.5	10.6
1	30	3.3		2.9	39.9	3.3	30.3

ERd3-4

1.0

Fold cumulative data (mean ± sem)

-	E2	-	E2	-	E2	-	E2
1.0	7.7	1.7	17.9	2.0	18.5	2.4	9.4
	±3.8	±0.6	±10.5	±0.5	<u>+</u> 7.6	<u>+</u> 0.8	±4.3

IL MCF10A1 breast epithelial cells

Individual experiments

HEGO 0.5pmol								
		0.5		1.0		2,0		pmol
•	E2	-	E2	•	E2	•	E2	
1	1.7	1.0	3.0	1.0	2.7	1.1	33	
1	3.4	1.0	5.9	1.0	8.1	1.5	5.2	
1	4.3	1.0	14.1	5.2	8.0	2.0	4.7	
1	19.9	1.4	27.6	1.3	20.8	1	22.6	
1						2.3		
	A							

Fold cumulative data (mean ± sem)

•	E2	-	E2	•	E2	-	E2
1.0	7.3	1.1	12.7	2.1	9,9	1.6	9.0
	±4.2	±0.1	±5.5	±1.1	<u>+</u> 3,8	<u>+</u> 0.3	±4.6



Figure 30. Activity of ERd3-4 in T5 human breast cancer cells. Cells were grown in PRF-DMEM (estrogen-deplete conditions) as described in Methods and transfected with 5 μ g ERE-tk-CAT expression vector, 5 μ g pCH110 along with the appropriate amount of ERd3-4 expression vector or vector DNA alone. Cells were treated with vehicle (basal) or 10 nM 17 β -estradiol (E2) for 24h, harvested and CAT assays performed as described in Methods. Results represent mean \pm sem, n=3-5, ***b=p<0.0001, ANOVA, result compared to basal ERE-tk-CAT activity, *e=p<0.05 ANOVA, result compared to estradiol treated ERE-tk-CAT activity.

added estrogen (4.7 \pm 1.6 fold increase over basal (no ERd3-4), mean \pm sem, p<0.0001), despite the fact this protein apparently does not bind DNA or ligand. Table 5 lists the fold change cumulative data for the transient transfection analyses in T5 human breast cancer cells.

The statistical analyses for the transfection data were performed by M. Cheang, University of Manitoba, Biostatistical Consulting Unit using ANOVA.

The question as to what role any particular variant ER- α mRNA may play in vivo is most likely dependent on the expression of the corresponding protein. While it is still unclear if ER-a variant naturally occurring mRNAs are stably translated in vivo, there has been evidence (discussed in the Introduction) to suggest that variant ER- α proteins could exist in vivo. It was therefore an obvious step to attempt to demonstrate the existence of a protein that could correspond to the ERd3-4 mRNA in T5-PRF cells. Unfortunately detection of ER- α variant proteins is difficult due to a lack of the appropriate tools (i.e., specific antibodies). Furthermore, ER-a variant proteins such as ERd3-4 are of a similar size to immunoglobulin heavy chain proteins which can hamper detection of these proteins using immunoprecipitation and Western blotting immune detection techniques (380). Additionally, it can be seen by examining figure 9, that there is a strong 50 kDa immunoreactive band detected in both T5 and T5-PRF cell lines, thought to consist of a proteolytic product of the ER-a as well as nonspecific interactions, that has hampered the ability to definitively identify a band that could correspond to ERd3-4 protein. To attempt to circumvent this problem, 2-D gels were used with the hope that separation by both size and isoelectric point would aid in the identification. It was also reasoned that using an antibody that would recognize both wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 (mouse AER314, Neomarkers, Santa Cruz, California) and one that recognized wild-

Fold cumulative data (mean <u>+</u> sem)										
vector alone ERd3-4 (pmol)										
		0.).1 0.5			1.0				
•	E2	-	E2	-	E2	-	E2			
1.0	23.8 <u>+</u> 3.2	1.6 ± 0.4	22.6 <u>+</u> 4.6	2.5 ±0.8	27.4 <u>+</u> 6.4	4.7 <u>+</u> 1.6	39.3 ±11.1			

Table 5. T5 transfected with ERd3-4 cumulative data

type ER- α and not ERd3-4, (mouse AER308, Neomarkers, Santa Cruz, California) distinctions could be made. Unfortunately, despite exhaustive attempts, no clear cut data were obtained that could support the existence of a protein specifically expressed in T5-PRF human breast cancer cells that corresponded to that predicted for the ERd3-4 mRNA.

In conclusion, T5-PRF human breast cancer cells have increased basal ER- α activity and contain a variant ER- α mRNA, ERd3-4, that when expressed in both ER- α negative human breast cell lines and parental ER- α positive T5 human breast cancer cells can increase both basal and estrogen-dependent ER- α transcriptional activity. While it is unclear if this variant mRNA is stably translated in T5-PRF cells, the data support the hypothesis that expression of this protein could be involved in the altered ER- α activity seen in the T5-PRF cells.

III. MAPK activity in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells.

Rationale

The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathway, as discussed in the Introduction, plays an essential role in cell cycle progression and can be activated by many growth factor/mitogen pathways including estrogen. MAPK activity has been shown to be elevated in primary breast cancer compared to benign breast tissue and has also been shown to be overexpressed in metastatic cells within lymph nodes of breast cancer patients (270). MAPK has also been implicated in ligand-independent activation of the ER- α . Serine 118 of the ER- α has been shown to be phosphorylated by MAPK in response to receptor activation by growth factors and mutation of this site severely diminished ER- α . transcriptional ability (232,246). Since T5-PRF cells contain an elevated basal ER- α transcriptional activity despite the fact they contain 50% less ER- α than parental T5 cells, it was of interest to examine the possibility that an alteration in a pathway that may be involved in ligand-independent activation of the ER- α (i.e., MAPK) could be altered in T5-PRF compared to T5 human breast cancer cells.

Results

The initial studies were performed using an *in vitro* MAPK assay that was routinely used in Dr. G. Arthur's laboratory (University of Manitoba). C. Richard, a student in Dr. G. Arthur's laboratory, was kind enough to demonstrate and provide the protocol which was used in their laboratory and is described under Methods. This in vitro assay measures MAPK. activity in cell extracts, obtained in the presence of inhibitors of other protein kinases, using myelin basic protein as a substrate to measure its phosphorylation in the presence of γ -³²PATP. The initial experiments demonstrating an elevated ER- α transcriptional activity in T5-PRF cells were performed under basal (i.e., estrogen-deplete) culture conditions with cells grown in 5% CS, therefore, in vitro MAPK activity was initially examined under these conditions. In vitro MAPK activity was significantly higher in T5-PRF cells compared to parental T5 cells (Figure 31). MAPK activity was 2.6 ± 0.3 (mean ± sem, n=3) fold higher (p<0.05) than the activity assayed in parental T5 cells. MAPK (ERK1 and ERK2 isoforms) are phosphorylated on both tyrosine and threonine residues and the phosphorylation at these two sites results in the activation of MAPK (266,476). To determine if the increased MAPK activity in T5-PRF cells was reflected in an increase in the total amount of MAPK protein, and/or an increase in the active MAPK pool, Western blotting on cell extracts was performed.


Figure 31. In vitro basal MAPK activity. T5 and T5-PRF cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions and extracts for measurement of *in vitro* MAPK activity were obtained as described in Methods. Myelin basic protein was used as a substrate to measure kinase activity and the assay was allowed to proceed for 10 minutes at 30°C. Histograms represent fold difference in MAPK activity after arbitrarily expressing the activity of T5 parent cells as 1.0. T5-PRF cells have a 2.6 ± 0.3 fold increase in kinase activity, n=3. *p<0.05, Student's t-test.

Using an antibody that recognizes total MAPK protein it was seen that both T5 and T5-PRF cells express large amounts of both the ERK1 and ERK2 isoforms of MAPK (Figure 32B, lanes 1 and 3). Using an antibody that specifically recognizes only the dually-phosphorylated active forms of ERK1 and ERK2 it was demonstrated that T5-PRF cells contained elevated levels of active MAPK protein compared to T5 cells in estrogen-deplete conditions (Figure 32A, lanes 1 and 3). PD 98059 is a specific inhibitor of MAPK activity due to its specific inhibition of MAPK kinase (also referred to as MEK) (477). Treating both cell lines with 50 μ M PD 98059 for 1 hour resulted in a marked inhibition of the dually-phosphorylated MAPK (Figure 32A, lanes 2 and 4) with little or no effect on total MAPK protein levels (Figure 32B, lanes 2 and 4), supporting the conclusion that T5-PRF cells have elevated levels of activated MAPK.

Serum-starvation of cells in culture is often used as a means to reduce active MAPK. Under conditions in which T5 and T5-PRF cells were serum starved for 7 days, T5-PRF cells still maintained elevated levels of *in vitro* MAPK activity (Figure 33). The level of *in vitro* MAPK activity in T5-PRF cells was 1.5 ± 0.2 fold (mean \pm sem, n=3) fold higher than T5 parental cells (p<0.001). Total MAPK protein levels were similar between the two cell lines (Figure 34B, lanes 1 and 3) but activated MAPK protein levels were much higher in T5-PRF cells (Figure 34A, lanes 1 and 3). As expected, treating T5-PRF cells with 50 μ M PD 98059 for 1 hour under serum-free conditions decreased the level of active MAPK detected by Western blotting (Figure 34A, lane 4) with little effect on total MAPK protein levels (Figure 34B, lane 4). These data suggest that T5-PRF cells contain elevated and perhaps constitutively active MAPK activity compared to T5 cells.



Figure 32. Western blot of MAPK protein levels under basal conditions. A. 30 μ g of protein from whole cell extracts were run on SDS-7.5% acrylamide gels. Western blotting and immune detection was performed as described in Methods. Immune detection was using an anti-phospho-MAPK antibody (NEB). B. 5 μ g of protein from whole cell extracts were run on SDS-7.5% acrylamide gels. Western blotting and immune detection were performed as described in Methods. Immune detection was using an anti-ERK1 antibody (Santa Cruz). PD = MEK inhibitor PD 98059, 50 μ M for 1 hour. ERK1 and ERK2 bands are denoted by arrows.



Figure 33. In vitro no serum MAPK activity. T5 and T5-PRF cells were set up in estrogen-deplete conditions in the presence of 5% charcoal-stripped fetal calf serum. The following day the medium was changed to no serum medium and changed each day for 7 days. Cells were harvested and cell extracts for *in vitro* MAPK assay obtained as described in Methods. Myelin basic protein was used as a substrate and the assay was allowed to proceed for 10 minutes at 30°C. Histograms represent fold difference in MAPK activity after setting the activity of T5 parent cells to 1.0. T5-PRF cells have a 1.5 ± 0.2 fold increase in kinase activity, n=3, **p<0.001, Student's t-test.



Figure 34. Western blot of MAPK protein levels under no serum conditions. A. 30 μ g of protein from whole cell extracts were run on an SDS-7.5% acrylamide gel. Western blotting and immune detection were performed as described in Methods. Immune detection was using an anti-phospho-MAPK antibody (NEB). B. 5 μ g of protein from whole cell extracts were run on an SDS-7.5% acrylamide gel. Western blotting and immune detection were performed as described in Methods. Immune detection were performed as described in Methods. Immune detection was using an anti-ERK1 antibody (Santa Cruz). PD = MEK inhibitor PD 98059, 50 μ M for 1 hour. ERK1 and ERK2 bands are denoted by arrows.

To further examine the role elevated MAPK activity might play in terms of the elevated basal (i.e., estrogen-independent) ER-a transcriptional activity in T5-PRF cells, transient transfections were carried out. It was previously shown that 50 µM PD 98059 for 1 hour was sufficient to reduce the levels of dually-phosphorylated MAPK under basal conditions (Figure 34A), but since the transfection experiments required approximately 24 hour treatments, conditions were determined under which PD 98059 was able to maintain low levels of dually-phosphorylated MAPK over this time period. Figure 35 demonstrates that adequate inhibition could be achieved by treating cells initially with 50 μ M PD 98059 followed 2 hours later by an additional 50 µM treatment with the cells being harvested 20 hours later, resulting in an 86% inhibition of dually-phosphorylated MAPK. When T5-PRF cells were transfected with an estrogen-responsive CAT reporter gene and treated with PD 98059 there was a significant reduction of $44.2\% \pm 8.1$ (mean \pm sem, p<0.05, n=3) in the basal ER- α transcriptional activity seen (Figure 36). Interestingly there was also a significant and equivalent reduction in the estrogen-induced transcriptional activity of 46.3% \pm 12.4, (mean \pm sem, p<0.05, n=3) by PD 98059, suggesting a role for MAPK activation in both estrogen-independent and -dependent transcriptional activation. The effect of PD 98059 on the transcriptional activity of ER- α in T5 cells was also examined (Figure 37). A significant reduction in the estrogen-induced ER- α transcriptional activity of 69.1% + 2.0, (mean ± sem, p<0.05, n=3) by PD 98059 was seen, again suggesting a role for MAPK in estrogen-induced ER-a activity. Additionally, evidence was obtained to suggest that the inhibition of active MAPK protein via PD 98059 results in a decrease in the level of ER-a protein (Figure 38). When T5 and T5-PRF cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions



Figure 35. Western blot analysis of MAPK protein levels after PD 98059 treatment. T5-PRF cells were grown in estrogendeplete conditions and extracts prepared and Western blotting performed as described in Methods. Lane 1. Basal MAPK protein levels. Lane 2. 50 μ M PD 98059 treatment 24 hours. Lane 3. 50 μ M PD 98059 treatment for 2 hours, followed by a second 50 μ M 'hit'. Cells were harvested after an additional 22 hours. A. 30 μ g of whole cell extract was run on an SDS-7.5% PAGE. Immune detection was performed using an anti-phospho-MAPK antibody (NEB). B. 5 μ g of whole cell extract was run on an SDS-7.5% PAGE. Immune detection was performed using an anti-ERK1 antibody (Santa Cruz). Positions of ERK1 and ERK2 are denoted by arrows.



Figure 36. TS-PRF ER- α transcriptional activity in the presence of PD 98059. Transient transfections were performed as described in Methods. TS-PRF cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions with vehicle alone (basal) or 10 nM 17 β -estradiol for 22 hours in the absence or presence of 50 μ M PD 98059 (PD). PD treatment was given at the time of estrogen treatment and two hours later a second 50 μ M PD treatment was given. Cells were harvested after 22 hours and CAT assays performed as described in Methods. Results are expressed as fold CAT activity compared to basal T5-PRF cells. Histograms represent mean \pm sem, n=3. *b, compared to basal without PD, *e, compared to estrogen treatment without PD, p<0.05, Student's t-test.



Figure 37. T5 ER- α transcriptional activity in the presence of PD 98059. Transient transfections were performed as described in Methods. T5 cells were grown in estrogen-deplete conditions with vehicle alone (basal) or 10 nM 17 β estradiol for 22 hours in the absence or presence of 50 μ M PD 98059 (PD). PD treatment was given at the time of estrogen treatment and two hours later a second 50 μ M PD treatment was given. Cells were harvested after 22 hours and CAT assays performed as described in Methods. Results are expressed as fold CAT activity compared to basal T5 cells. Histograms represent mean \pm sem, n=3. *e, compared to estrogen treatment without PD, p<0.05, Student's t-test.



Figure 38. Effect of MEK inhibitor PD 98059 on ER- α levels in T5 and T5-PRF cells. Cell extracts were obtained and Western blotting performed as described under Methods. Immune detection was performed using the ER- α antibody H226. +ve= *In vitro* transcribed/translated wild-type ER- α protein. Cells were treated with 50 μ M PD 98059 for 1 hour or 22 h before harvesting. 22 h treatment = 2 hour 50 μ M treatment and after 2 h cells are given a second 50 μ M dose and then left for an additional 20 h before harvesting. h= hour; - = control cells harvest at the time both the 1 h and 22 h PD treated plates were harvested. n=2, independent experiments.

and treated with 50 μ M PD 98059 for 1 hour or 22 hours (2h plus second treatment for 20h as described) there is a marked reduction in the level of immunoreactive ER- α (Figure 38, compare intensity of band at - (22h control) to 22 PD band) in both T5 and T5-PRF cells after 22 hours of treatment.

In conclusion, T5-PRF human breast cancer cells contain elevated MAPK activity. Inhibition of MAPK activity results in a significant decrease in both basal and estrogendependent ER- α transcriptional activity in these cells and a significant decrease in estrogendependent transcriptional activity in T5 parental cells. In addition, inhibition of MAPK activity is associated with a reduction in immunoreactive ER- α protein levels in both T5 and T5-PRF cells. The increased activity and expression of MAPK may contribute to the estrogen nonresponsive growth phenotype and ligand-independent activity of ER- α in T5-PRF cells.

Discussion

I. Estrogen regulated NM-IF proteins

These studies resulted in the identification of three NM-IF proteins, cytokeratin (CK) 8, 18 and 19 in T5 human breast cancer cells that are regulated by estrogen. The abundance of these proteins in the NM-IF fraction is dramatically reduced upon acute withdrawal of estrogen from the cell culture medium, and re-addition of estrogen results in increased levels of these proteins in the NM-IF. The reduced levels of these three NM-IF proteins in the absence of hormone reflect the requirement of estrogen for upregulated expression of these NM-IF proteins (i.e., they are estrogen-responsive proteins, or that the association of these proteins with the NM increases upon estrogen treatment). The fact that the antiestrogens 4monohydroxytamoxifen and ICI 164,384 down-regulate the levels of these three NM-IF

Chronic estrogen-depletion of T5 cells resulted in the development of a cell line, T5-PRF, that has overcome the requirement of estrogen for growth in culture, while remaining ER- α positive. Although loss of the ER- α can accompany and/or explain hormoneindependence, loss of ER- α does not always occur in the hormone-independent phenotype. Katzenellenbogen and colleagues have demonstrated levels of ER- α comparable to parent MCF-7 cell lines, or greater ER- α expression, in hormone-independent MCF-7 cells obtained through prolonged growth in estrogen-deplete conditions (87,356). Clarke and coworkers isolated a series of hormone-independent MCF-7 sublines that still maintained ER- α expression at levels comparable to, or greater than, the parent cell line (357). In the T5 and T5-PRF model, continued expression of ER- α allowed the study of expression of estrogenresponsive genes, under conditions comparable in both the parent and hormonenonresponsive cell lines. Despite the depletion of estrogen in the cell culture medium, the NM-IF fraction from T5-PRF cells has elevated levels of all three proteins, CK8, 18 and 19. While in the parental T5 cell line addition of estrogen to the cell culture medium results in increased levels of the three NM-IF proteins, in the T5-PRF cells, the addition of estrogen at an equivalent dose does not increase the levels of these NM-IF proteins. How these cells could express elevated levels of these estrogen regulated proteins in the absence of estrogen remains to be determined, but perhaps the cells are able to activate the ER- α through pathways other than classical estrogen/ER- α interactions as the later studies suggest. Recent research has demonstrated that the ER- α can be activated in a ligand-independent fashion (244,245) and perhaps the ability to activate the ER- α in the absence of estrogen would confer a growth advantage to the cells and aid in the development of a hormone-independent phenotype. Furthermore, the data suggest that as the length of time in estrogen-deplete conditions is increased, there is a concomitant increase in the levels of CK8, 18 and 19 associated with the NM-IF.

The development of hormone-independence and endocrine resistance in human breast cancer is a multifactorial process and indeed there are many examples where the development of estrogen-independent growth and antiestrogen resistance are dissociable events in breast cancer cell line models (354,356,361,364). Similarly, this study found that the development of estrogen-independent growth in a breast cancer cell line model, through long term growth in estrogen-depleted medium, was not associated with antiestrogen resistance. Although antiestrogens inhibit the growth of T5-PRF cells, they do not decrease the levels of CK8, 18 and 19 in the NM-IF as they do in the parental T5 cells, suggesting that both estrogen/antiestrogen sensitivity, in terms of regulating the NM-IF levels of these proteins, has been lost in this cell line.

That cytokeratins are estrogen regulated in T5 cells is consistent with previous studies. In MCF-7 cells in culture, estrogen and tamoxifen treatment both resulted in an apparent increase in cytokeratins detected by immunofluorescence (478). Studies in rat vaginal epithelium have also demonstrated estrogen-induced increases in cytokeratin expression (479). More recently, preliminary data suggest that estrogen regulates CK19 expression at the mRNA level (480). Consistent with these studies, in T5 cells, estrogen-induced increases in cytokeratin expression were observed at the whole cell level. This suggests that the estrogen-induced increase at the NM-IF level is due to increased expression, as well as perhaps an increased association of these proteins with the NM-IF fraction.

The ER- α negative cell lines, MDA-MB-231 and HBL100 are estrogen-nonresponsive cell lines and have very low levels of CK8, 18 and 19 in their NM-IF, suggesting that significant expression of these cytokeratins may be associated with an ER- α positive phenotype. Indeed, more recent studies have identified CK 8, 18 and 19 as differentially expressed genes in ER- α positive MCF-7 and T47D human breast cancer cell lines versus the ER- α negative MDA-MB-231 and HBL100 human breast cell lines (481,482).

The relationship between tumour growth and cytokeratin expression has been examined, with some studies suggesting a correlation between specific cytokeratin expression and tumour progression and development (349,483). Changes in the levels and subset of cytokeratin expression have been found with increasing tumour grade (350,484). Studies have demonstrated increased expression of CK18 and 19 in a set of malignant, compared to benign, human breast tumours (350) and significant correlations with CK19 with increased breast tumour size and increased CK8 expression in node positive versus node negative human breast cancers (485). Evidence also suggests that estrogen-independence in breast cancer cells is associated with changes in expression of a set of estrogen-regulated genes (364). van Agthoven and coworkers have shown that in an estrogen-independent ZR-75-1 human breast cancer cell line changes in cell morphology occur along with increases in total cellular levels of CK 8, 18 and 19 (457,486). These studies suggest that cytokeratins may be a biomarker for tumour stage and perhaps changes in cytokeratin expression are associated with an altered tumour phenotype in breast cancer.

Our knowledge of the function of the NM-IF proteins is still very limited. The findings in this study that cytokeratins associated with the nuclear matrix are regulated by estrogen in human breast cancer cells suggests that these structural proteins may be important to estrogen action. Subsequent studies performed in Dr. J. Davie's laboratory have further demonstrated that CK 8, 18 and 19 are associated with nuclear DNA and that estrogen and ICI 164,384 regulate the level of association in T5 but not T5-PRF cells (326). Together these studies suggest that an alteration in the level and changes in regulation of NM-associated proteins may result in nuclear architectural changes that could reflect alterations in gene expression associated with a hormone-independent phenotype.

II. Variant ER-a expression in estrogen-nonresponsive T5-PRF human breast cancer cells.

Numerous studies, as discussed in the Introduction, have identified variant ER-a mRNAs in both normal and neoplastic breast tissue and cell lines. While still a controversial topic, evidence is emerging to support the existence of ER- α variant proteins, which could correspond to some ER-a variant mRNAs, in some cell lines and tissues in vivo. However, the pathophysiological significance of ER- α variant expression is unclear. Altered expression of some ER-a variant mRNAs was found associated with both breast tumourigenesis and breast cancer progression (382,386,416-418). Several studies, using transient transfection analyses, have shown that individual ER- α variant proteins can have both positive and negative effects on wild-type ER-a activity (386,391,399,405,409,410,414,419). Conflicting results for some ER- α variants have been obtained (391,420) which may be due to cell and promoter specific events previously identified for various structural/functional domains of the wild-type ER- α (76,125). Similarly, overexpression of a single ER- α variant using stable transfection technology has given different results in different laboratories (419,421). Moreover, direct correlation of any single ER- α variant with clinical tamoxifen resistance or tamoxifen resistance of breast cancer cells in culture has not been forthcoming. Since most of these comparisons have been performed using individual ER-a variants and do not take into account the entire spectrum of ER- α variants relative to each other, the conclusions remain controversial. However, when the relative pattern of expression of ER-a deleted variant mRNA was investigated in T5-PRF compared to parental T5 cells, there was a significant difference in the relative expression of a previously described exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α variant mRNA (384,387,388). Although the question of whether this ER- α variant is a cause of estrogen-independence or merely an effect of the selection process for estrogenindependence is not examined, the data, using transient transfection analyses tend to support a possible functional role of the putative exon 3 and 4 deleted ER- α protein encoded by the variant mRNA in the phenotype observed in T5-PRF breast cancer cells. It was shown that T5-PRF cells have significantly increased ligand-independent (basal) ER-a activity (reflected in ERE-tk-CAT activity and endogenous PR and CK levels). The ERd3-4 was able to confer increased ligand-independent (basal) and estrogen-responsive transcriptional activity when expressed in parental T5 cells and increased estrogen-responsive transcriptional activity when coexpressed with wild-type ER- α in ER- α negative human breast cell lines. The demonstrated effect of ERd3-4 to increase HEGO (wild-type ER- α) transcriptional activity in the ER- α negative cell lines suggests a putative functional role for this variant ER- α . Although such data suggest that the ERd3-4 variant can modulate the transcriptional activity of wild-type ER- α , the relevance of the expression levels of each protein achieved in the reconstituted transient expression system to the endogenous levels of ER- α and ERd3-4 variant expression in T5-PRF is unclear. Furthermore, differences in background of transcriptional coactivators and corepressors between naturally ER- α positive and negative cell lines (125), as well as the presence of other naturally occurring ER- α variants in naturally ER- α positive cell lines are all likely to impact on the final outcome of ER- α mediated transcriptional activity and underlie the differences seen between the transiently manipulated cells and the naturally occurring T5-PRF phenotype. Moreover, expression of ER- β and/or its variants may influence estrogen action. Both T5 and T5-PRF cells express low levels of ER- β mRNA determined by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction analysis ((345) H. Dotzlaw, unpublished), however, the functional significance of the levels remains unknown. Nonetheless, there was a significant effect on ER- α ligand-independent transcription in T5 cells at levels of co-transfected ERd3-4 that likely would not be higher than the endogenous ER- α in these cells, but the extrapolation of these data to the relative expression of wild-type ER- α and ERd3-4 variant in T5-PRF cells is presently unknown as I was unable to provide proof of the existence of a protein corresponding to the ERd3-4 mRNA *ex vivo* in these cells. It is of significance that an effect of ERd3-4 variant could be reproduced in the parental T5 cells, which would contain a more representative background of ER- α accessory proteins (i.e., coactivators and/or corepressors) as well as other variant forms of ER- α which would all contribute to the final ER mediated biological response. As well, the data do not exclude the possibility that other alterations have occurred in T5-PRF cells which in combination with an altered ER- α variant, may contribute to the estrogenindependent phenotype of T5-PRF cells.

It has previously been shown that breast cancer cells can adapt to low levels of estrogen by enhancing their sensitivity to estrogen (359). Estrogen-deprivation of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells resulted in estrogen hypersensitivity and maximal growth was achieved with an estrogen concentration 4-5 orders of magnitude lower than wild-type cells. These researchers also found that the concentration of ICI needed to inhibit the growth of these cells was approximately 6 orders of magnitude lower than wild-type cells, supporting the hypothesis in this model, that increased sensitivity to ER ligands had occurred. While supersensitivity to estrogen in T5-PRF cells cannot be entirely ruled out, the data on growth

response demonstrate that while T5-PRF cells are sensitive to growth inhibition by ICI 164,384, in contrast to the data of Masamura and coworkers, T5-PRF cells are less sensitive than the parental T5 cells (i.e., ID_{50} 100 nM and 5 μ M for T5 and T5-PRF, respectively), suggesting that in this model other mechanisms are likely involved.

These data do not address the mechanism by which ERd3-4 enhances ER- α transcriptional activity, but several possibilities exist. The ER- α contains at least two separate regions that are required for optimal transcriptional activation (76,125). The amino-terminal region contains promoter and cell-type specific ligand-independent transcriptional activity (AF-1), while a second, AF-2, is located in the ligand-binding carboxyl-terminus of the receptor. ERd3-4 containing an intact AF-2 or AF-1 domain could interfere with, or sequester, an ER- α repressor protein resulting in increased ER- α transcriptional activity in the absence of ligand (171). This variant may also retain the ability to interact with other ER- α regulatory proteins such as coactivators or components of the basal transcription machinery. While ERd3-4 would be missing lysine 362 which has been demonstrated to be important for SRC-1 recruitment (116), an in vitro interaction of the N-terminal of hER-a and SRC-1 has been demonstrated (184) and the AF-1 activity of hER-a transiently expressed in HeLa cells can be stimulated with SRC-1 (185). This suggests that SRC-1 can functionally interact with both the N- and C-terminal portions of the hER- α and given the fact that ERd3-4 contains an intact AF-1 domain, may still retain the ability to interact with coactivator proteins. Additionally, research also has demonstrated that both the AF-1 and AF-2 domains of the hER- α can interact with TBP in vitro (178).

The crystal structure of the ER- α hormone binding domain has recently been

elucidated (115). Based on this structure, the ERd3-4 protein would contain many of the regions essential for transactivation, including the predominant helix 12 (encompassing amino acids 539-547). However, since ERd3-4 alone has no transcriptional activity (at least on a classical ERE regulated promoter) the structure must be sufficiently altered to prevent activity, or AF-2 can only be activated in a ligand-dependent manner, but ERd3-4 cannot bind ligand. Helix 12 in AF-2 is believed to be the main region involved in coactivator recruitment and it may be possible that ERd3-4 could enhance recruitment of coactivators to the basal transcription complex and this enhances ER- α activity.

ER- α also contains two domains involved in dimerization (79,80). A weak dimerization interface is present in the DNA-binding domain and a strong interface is located in the C-terminal ligand-binding domain (487). ERd3-4 containing an intact C-terminal dimerization domain, may form heterodimers with wild-type ER- α that have altered transcriptional regulatory properties through differing protein-protein interactions. Although the results of the gel mobility shift assays did not detect any such interactions, the use of rabbit reticulocyte lysates, may have precluded an additional protein(s) that if present *in vivo*, may facilitate an interaction between ER- α and ERd3-4.

Using a transient expression system, it was found that ERd3-4 caused increased ligand-independent wild-type ER- α activity and also enhanced the ligand-induced ER- α transcriptional activity, despite the fact that on its own this variant is not transcriptionally active on a classical ERE promoter, nor does it bind ligand *in vitro* to any significant degree. Studies have demonstrated that the ability of steroid hormone receptors to modulate transcription does not necessarily require that the receptors bind DNA. PRc, an N-terminally

truncated PR isoform, lacking the first zinc-finger of the DNA-binding domain, has no transcriptional activity of its own but has been shown to enhance progestin-induced transcriptional activity (157). An ER- α variant lacking exon 5 that has no transcriptional activity on its own has been shown to enhance both basal and estrogen-dependent transcriptional activity when coexpressed with wild-type ER- α (488). The DNA-binding domain of the ER- α does not appear to be necessary for raloxifene activation of the TGF β 3 gene (160) and ER- α can activate transcription from AP-1 dependent promoters through a DNA-binding-independent pathway (159). Sp1 and ER- α directly interact to enhance estrogen-induced transactivation of the Sp1-dependent Hsp27 gene promoter and the DNAbinding domain of the ER- α is not required (229). ER- α stimulation of the ter- α to bind to DNA (489) and estrogen regulation of the brain creatine kinase promoter by the ER- α is thought to occur via a mechanism that likely does not require direct DNA binding (490).

The presence of alternative forms of ER- α capable of interacting with wild-type ER- α to increase ligand-independent activity could also confer a potential growth advantage to breast cancer cells. A recent study has shown that constitutively active, ligand-independent ER- α mutants undergo conformational changes and interactions with coactivators that mimic changes in ER- α that are usually regulated by ligand (180). Recently, researchers have shown that thyroid hormone receptor- $\beta 2$ (TR- $\beta 2$) is a ligand-independent activator of the gene encoding thyrotropin-releasing hormone and have mapped a region in the N-terminus of the receptor responsible for this activity (491). These researchers suggest that the mechanism of

ligand-independent activation involves direct interaction of the TR- β 2 amino terminus with either transcriptional cofactors or the basal transcription machinery itself.

An increased relative expression of variant ER- α proteins containing intact AF domains, could result in increased interactions with the ER- α and/or other proteins involved in ER- α transcriptional activity. This could be a potential mechanism for estrogenindependent growth associated with the presence of one or more variant ER- α species and could explain the increased ER- α activity seen with the ERd3-4.

III. MAPK activity in T5 and T5-PRF human breast cancer cells.

Elevated levels of active MAPK were found in the T5-PRF estrogen non-responsive breast cancer cell line compared to the parental estrogen responsive T5 breast cancer cell line. The T5-PRF cell line, as described, also contains elevated levels of estrogen-independent ER- α transcriptional activity. The ER- α , like other members of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily, is a phosphoprotein. The function of phosphorylation is not clear, but it has been suggested to play a role in many aspects of receptor activity, including DNA binding and transcriptional activation. In MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, the ER- α is phosphorylated on serine-118, serine-154 and serine-167 in response to estradiol binding (238,240,250). It has also been demonstrated that serine-118 and tyrosine-537 on ER- α are phosphorylated independently of estradiol binding in MCF-7 cells (237,250). The activation of the MAPK pathway through an estrogen-independent mechanism (i.e., EGF stimulation) can result in transcriptional activation of the ER- α , and phosphorylation of the ER- α on serine-118 is required for this activity (232,240,246). Estrogens are known mitogens for breast cancer cells, but how estrogen promotes cell proliferation is unknown. The MAPK signal transduction pathway plays an essential role in cell cycle progression and can be activated by many growth factor/mitogenic pathways including estrogen. In several cell types, including MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, estradiol has been shown to rapidly increase MAPK activity (276). That this activation requires ER- α was demonstrated in cells via transient transfection experiments showing an absolute requirement of ER- α for activation and the addition of the antiestrogen ICI 182,780 blocked estrogen-induction of MAPK activation in MCF-7 cells (276). A recent report was able to show growth factor, but not estrogen-induced, activation of MAPK in MCF-7 cells (240). The discrepancy between this report and a previous report demonstrating estrogen activation of MAPK in MCF-7 cells (276) is unclear, but may be due to differences in the experimental conditions under which activation was assayed between the two papers, as Migliaccio and coworkers (276) used cells grown in estrogen-deplete conditions for one week, versus the use of serum-starved cells by Joel and coworkers (240).

Peptide growth factor signalling pathways can cross-talk with the ER- α . Indeed, it has been demonstrated that growth factors such as EGF can result in ligand-independent activation of ER- α (246). Several studies have demonstrated that overexpression of a growth factor, or its receptor, which can activate the MAPK cascade, or a component of the MAPK pathway (e.g., Raf or Ras) can result in estrogen-independent growth in cells in culture and in some cases tumourigenesis *in vivo* in the absence of estrogen. For example, overexpression of a constitutively active Raf kinase in MCF-7 cells allows for growth in the absence of estrogen (462) and MCF-7 cells stably transfected with the ras oncogene were able to form tumours *in vivo* in the absence of estrogen (429). These data demonstrate the importance of the MAPK pathway in cell growth regulation and likely tumourigenesis.

What role elevated MAPK activity might play in the estrogen-independent growth phenotype of T5-PRF cells is not clear. It is likely that elevated MAPK activity resulting in ligand-independent activation of the ER- α may allow maximal proliferation in the absence of estrogen. The transfection experiments using the MEK inhibitor PD 98059 suggest that the MAPK activity may play a role in the elevated basal ER- α activity seen in these cells, but may not account for all the increased basal activity. At a concentration of 50 μ M, PD 98059 can almost completely abolish the level of active dually phosphorylated MAPK protein (an approximately 85% decrease), whereas a similar concentration resulted in slightly less than 50% reduction in basal ER- α transcriptional activity. This suggests that other mechanisms, along with elevated MAPK, may contribute to the ligand-independent ER- α transcriptional activity. It is also likely that the residual dually phosphorylated MAPK protein remaining, even after treating cells with PD 98059, is sufficient to contribute to the basal ER- α activity.

These studies also demonstrate an inhibition of estrogen-dependent ER- α transcriptional activity after treating cells with PD 98059. This was of a similar magnitude as the effect on basal transcription (approximately 50%), supporting the hypothesis that MAPK plays an important role in both ligand-dependent and -independent ER- α transcriptional activity.

This research also suggests that the inhibition of MAPK through PD 98059 treatment

is associated with a reduction in immunoreactive ER- α protein levels. The mechanism involved in this is not known. It is likely that a reduction, or prevention of phosphorylation of ER- α on serine-118 via MAPK may cause increased turnover of the protein. Links between protein phosphorylation and protein turnover have been made. For example, researchers have demonstrated that phosphorylation of the transcription factor c-Jun by the MAPK, c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), increased the half-life of c-Jun (492). The decreased ER- α transcriptional activity after PD 98059 treatment may not be related to the decreased ER- α protein level as estrogen, as discussed in the Introduction, often can downregulate its own receptor levels, despite the fact that estrogen treatment results in increased ER- α transcriptional activity.

Elevated levels of MAPK activity and expression have been associated with the malignant phenotype and have been shown in breast tumours compared with normal tissue and benign breast conditions (270). Breast tumours also have been shown to contain elevated tyrosine kinase activities compared with benign breast tumours and normal breast tissues (267). These data suggest that an increase or deregulation of growth controlling signals, such as those contributed by MAPK, may be involved in the etiology and pathogenesis of breast cancer. During the course of breast cancer progression, tumours become hormone-independent and refractory to endocrine therapies directed at blocking the activity of ER- α . The development of estrogen-independent growth is believed to be an initial step in the progression to a hormone-independent phenotype, and estrogen-independent growth is a characteristic of a more aggressive breast cancer cell phenotype. The data shown support the hypothesis that elevated levels of MAPK activity are associated with increased ligand-

independent activity of the ER- α . Elevated MAPK activity may be one mechanism of estrogen-independent growth.

Conclusions

The research that contributes to this thesis support the hypothesis that the development of an estrogen-independent growth phenotype in human breast cancer cells is likely a multifactorial process. It is clear that in T5-PRF estrogen-nonresponsive human breast cancer cells, there are several changes that have been detected that can all likely contribute to an estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype (see Table 6). Studies have demonstrated the importance of cellular architecture contributed by the tissue matrix system to gene expression and that perturbations in this system can alter gene expression (328-330,493). This cellular framework serves not only as a structural entity but is likely intimately connected with all cellular processes including gene expression and signal transduction.

While these studies suggest an important link between NM-IF proteins, gene expression, signal transduction and the response of a cell to hormone treatment, it remains unclear what the initiating factor is. As a cell progresses from a hormone-responsive to a non-responsive growth phenotype it is unclear if a single initiating event common to all cells, or if a multitude of events in a single cell, or multiple but single events occur over a whole cell population, results in hormone-independent growth. In cases where the cells no longer express ER- α it is easier to visualize how this single event can result in hormone-independent growth. In the case where the cell continues to express the ER- α and many ER- α associated changes are present it becomes less clear as to what the initiating factor may be.

	Cell line	
	T5	T5-PRF
Growth response		
Estrogen	++	-
4-monohydroxytamoxifen*	++	++
ICI 164,384*	++	+
Basal receptor level		
Ε R -α	++	+
PR	+	++
Cytokeratin level		
Basal	+	+++
Estrogen	+++	+++
ICI 164,384	+	+++
4-monohydroxytamoxifen	+	+++
Basal ER-a transcriptional activity	-	++
ERd3-4 mRNA expression	-	++
MAPK activity	+	++

Table 6. Comparison of T5 and T5-PRF human breastcancer cell lines.

* refers to antagonist activity on cells grown in estrogen-replete conditions.

It is conceivable that deregulated splicing could occur during tumour progression. Recent research has demonstrated that splicing factors are phosphorylated and phosphorylation plays an important role in splice factor localization and activity (95,102). As well, Konig *et al* have demonstrated activation of signal transduction pathways can activate/influence alternative splicing (103). Using minigene constructs containing CD44 variant exon 5 (v5), these researchers found that the inclusion of v5 occurred with the activation of PKC (via TPA) or cotransfection of active ras in a T-lymphoma cell line that was shown to normally exclude v5. It may be that an increase in a signal transduction pathways such as Ras or PKC that can activate MAPK could initiate a series of changes involving ER- α variant expression through affecting splicing patterns. While it is not known if T5-PRF cells contain elevated Ras or PKC activity, it is of note that studies have demonstrated that approximately 70% of human breast tumours overexpress Ras protein (494) and, as discussed in the Introduction, numerous studies have implicated protein kinase signalling pathways in the development and progression of breast cancer.

An increase in MAPK activity could also affect the tissue matrix system by increasing cytokeratin expression. Data have demonstrated that activation of Ras and or Raf increases CK 18 expression (495). As well, cytokeratins are phosphoproteins and protein kinases including MAPK have been implicated in cytokeratin phosphorylation (496,497). While the function of phosphorylation of the cytokeratins is unclear, experimental data support a role in organization and solubility of the cytokeratins, as well as regulating their interactions with other proteins (497-499). Of interest is the fact that phosphorylation of CK 18 is essential for its interaction with 14-3-3 proteins (498), which have also been shown to directly interact

with Raf, and are thought to be required for its activity (500,501). Together these data further support a link between deregulated MAPK activity and changes to the tissue matrix system. T5-PRF cells overexpress cytokeratins compared to parental T5 cells and appear to have lost both estrogen and antiestrogen regulation of expression. This is in contrast to the reduction of the ligand-independent (basal) activity of the ER- α measured in the transient transfection analyses by ICI 164,384 treatment in T5-PRF cells. It may be that increased activity of a pathway such as MAPK can lead to increases in cytokeratin expression and 'short circuit' the need for ER- α regulation, accounting for the lack of effect of ICI 164,384 on the cytokeratin levels in T5-PRF cells.

Figure 39 describes a model which serves to demonstrate how the changes identified in T5-PRF cells may be involved in the development of an estrogen-nonresponsive growth phenotype. It can be envisioned that a change that results in the cell no longer requiring estrogen for growth (i.e., expression of a dominant-positive variant ER- α protein) can result in an increase in estrogen-regulated processes (i.e., MAPK activation, CK and PR expression). Alternatively, a deregulated and increased MAPK activity may result in not only increased ER- α activity and increased cytokeratin expression, but may also lead to altered splicing patterns of the ER- α . It is possible that any one of these changes would confer additional growth advantages to breast cancer cells and lead to further changes in gene expression that could ultimately result in estrogen-independent growth.



Figure 39. A. Estrogen-dependent human breast cancer cells. Ligand binding results in release of repressor proteins from the ER- α , phosphorylation of the receptor and interaction with NM, chromatin/ERE and coactivator/accessory proteins. B. Estrogen-independent human breast cancer cells. Elevated MAPK activity could result in altered variant ER- α expression and/or increased phosphorylation of the ER- α in the absence of ligand. Variant ER- α containing intact AF functions may sequester an ER- α repressor protein(s) and/or interact with the wild-type ER- α . Increased expression of NM-IF proteins may increase acceptor sites or promote increased interaction of ER- α with NM. Ligand-independent activation of the ER- α could further increase MAPK activity and result in an increased/deregulated expression of normally estrogen-regulated genes. A= accessory/acceptor protein, v = variant, NM = nuclear matrix, ER = estrogen receptor, GF = growth factor.

References

I. Parker, S.L., Tong, T., Bolden, S., and Wingo, P.A. Cancer statistics, 1997. CA Cancer J Clin, 47: 5-27, 1997.

2. World Health Organization The World Health Report 1998, 1998.

3. National Cancer Institute of Canada. Canadian Cancer Statistics 1998. Toronto, Canada, 1998.

4. World Health Organization The World Health Report 1997, 1997.

5. Borgen, P.I., Wong, G.Y., Vlamis, V., Potter, C., Hoffman, B., Kinne, D.W., Osborne, M.P., and McKinnon, W.M.P. Current management of male breast cancer: a review of 104 cases. Ann Surg. 215: 451-459, 1992.

6. Kelsey, J.L., Gammon, M.D., and John, E.M. Reproductive factors and breast cancer. Epidemiol Rev, 15: 36-47, 1993.

7. Trichopoulos, D., MacMahon, B., and Cole, P. Menopause and breast cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst, 48: 605-613, 1972.

8. Collaborative group on hormonal factors in breast cancer. Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53 297 women with breast cancer and 100 239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiological studies. Lancet, 347: 1713-1727, 1996.

9. Colditz, G.A. Relationship between estrogen levels, use of hormone replacement therapy, and breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 90: 814-823, 1998.

10. Huang, Z., Hankinson, S.E., Colditz, G.A., Stampfer, M.J., Hunter, D.J., Manson, J.E., Hennekens, C.H., Rosner, B., Speizer, F.E., and Willett, W.C. Dual effects of weight and weight gain on breast cancer risk. JAMA, 278: 1407-1411, 1997.

11. Ursin, G., Longnecker, M.P., Haile, R.W., and Greenland, S. A meta-analysis of body mass index and risk of premenopausal breast cancer. Epidemiology, 6: 137-141, 1995.

12. MacMahon, B., Cole, P., Lin, T.M., Lowe, C.R., Mirra, A.P., Ravnihar, B., Salver, E.J., Valaoras, V.G., and Yuasa, S. Age at first birth and breast cancer risk. Bull Wid Hith Org, 43: 209-221, 1970.

13. Hilakivi-Clarke, L., Clarke, R., and Lippman, M.E. Perinatal factors increase breast cancer risk. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 273-284, 1994.

14. Marcus, J.N., Watson, P., Page, D.L., and Lynch, H.T. Pathology and heredity of breast cancer in younger women. Monogr Natl Cancer Inst, 16: 23-34, 1994.

15. Claus, E.B., Risch, N., and Thompson, W.D. Genetic analysis of breast cancer in the cancer and steroid hormone study. Am J Hum Genet, 48: 232-242, 1991.

16. Miki, Y., Swensen, J., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Futreal, P.A., Harshman, K., Tavtigian, S., Liu, Q., Cochran, C., Bennett, L.M., Ding, W., Bell, R., Rosenthal, J., Hussey, C., Tran, T., McClure, M., Frye, C., Hattier, T., Phelps, R., Haugen-Strano, A., Katcher, H., Yakumo, K., Gholami, Z., Shaffer, D., Stone, S., Bayer, S., Wray, C., Bogden, R., Dayananth, P., Ward, J., Tonin, P., Narod, S., Bristow, P.K., Norris, F.H., Helvering, L., Morrison, P., Rosteck, P., Lai, M., Barrett, J.C., Lewis, C., Neuhausen, S., Cannon-Albright, L., Goldgar, D., Wiseman, R., Kamb, A., and Skolnick, M.H. A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science, 266: 66-71, 1994. 17. Easton, D.F., Bishop, D.T., Ford, D., Crockford, G.P., and the Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Genetic linkage analysis in familial breast and ovarian cancer: results from 214 families. Am J Human Genet, 52: 678-701, 1993.

18. Thompson, M.E., Jensen, R.A., Obermiller, P.S., Page, D.L., and Holt, J.T. Decreased expression of BRCA1 accelerates growth and is often present during sporadic breast cancer progression. Nature Genet, 9: 444-450, 1995.

19. Holt, J.T., Thompson, M.E., Szabo, C., Robinson-Benion, C., Arteaga, C.L., King, M.C., and Jensen, R.A. Growth retardation and tumour inhibition by BRCA1. Nature Genet, 12: 298-302, 1996.

20. Futreal, P.A., Liu, Q., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Cochran, C., Harshman, K., Tavtigian, S., Bennett, L.M., Haugen-Strano, A., Swensen, J., Miki, Y., Eddington, K., McClure, M., Fyre, C., Weaver-Feldhaus, J., Ding, W., Gholami, Z., Soderkvist, P., Terry, L., Jhanwar, S., Berchuck, A., Ingelhart, J.D., Marks, J., Ballinger, D.G., Barrett, J.C., Skolnick, M.H., Kamb, A., and Wiseman, R. BRCA1 mutations in primary breast and ovarian carcinomas. Science, 266: 120-122, 1994.

21. Wooster, R., Bignell, G., Lancaster, J., Swift, S., Seal, S., Mangion, J., Collins, N., Gregory, S., Gumbs, C., Micklem, G., Barfoot, R., Hamoudi, R., Patel, S., Rice, C., Biggs, P., Hashim, Y., Smith, A., Connor, F., Arason, A., Gudmundsson, J., Ficenec, D., Kelsell, D., Ford, D., Tonin, P., Bishop, D.T., Spurr, N.K., Ponder, B.A.J., Eeles, R., Peto, J., Devilee, P., Cornelisse, C., Lynch, H., Narod, S., Lenoir, G., Egilsson, V., Barkadottir, R.B., Easton, D.F., Bentley, D.R., Futreal, P.A., Ashworth, A., and Stratton, M.R. Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2. Nature, 378: 789-792, 1995.

22. Sharan, S.K., Morimatsu, M., Albrecht, U., Lim, D.-S., Regel, E., Dinh, C., Sands, A., Eichele, G., Hasty, P., and Bradley, A. Embryonic lethality and radiation hypersensitivity mediated by Rad51 in mice lacking Brca2. Nature, 386: 804-810, 1997.

23. Connor, F., Bertwistle, D., Mee, P.J., Ross, G.M., Swift, S., Grigorieva, E., Tybulewicaz, V.L., and Ashworth, A. Tumorigenesis and a DNA repair defect in mice with a truncating Brca2 mutation. Nature Genet, 17: 423-430, 1997.

24. Couch, F.J., DeShano, M.L., Blackwood, M.A., Calzone, K., Stopfer, J., Campeau, L., Ganguly, A., Rebbeck, T., and Weber, B.L. *BRCA1* mutations in women attending clinics that evaluate the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 336: 1409-1415, 1997.

25. Habel, L.A., Moe, R.E., Daling, J.R., Holte, S., Rossing, M.A., and Weiss, N.S. Risk of contralateral breast cancer among women with carcinoma in situ of the breast. Ann Surg, 225: 69-75, 1997.

26. Parker, R.G., Grimm, P., and Enstrom, J.E. Contralateral breast cancers following treatment for initial breast cancers in women. Am J Clin Oncol, 12: 213-216, 1989.

27. Land, C.E. Studies of cancer and radiation dose among atomic bomb survivors. The example of breast cancer. JAMA, 274: 402-407, 1995.

28. Ziegler, R.G., Hoover, R.N., Pike, M.C., Hildesheim, A., Nomura, A.M.Y., West, D.W., Wu-Williams, A.H., Kolonel, L.N., Horn-Ross, P.L., Rosenthal, J.F., and Hyer, M.B. Migration patterns and breast cancer risk in Asian-American women. J Natl Cancer Inst, 85: 1819-1827, 1993.

29. Potischman, N., Weiss, H.A., Swanson, C.A., Coates, R.J., Gammon, M.D., Malone, K.E., Brogan, D., Stanford, J.L., Hoover, R.N., and Brinton, L.A. Diet during adolescence and risk of breast cancer among young women. J Natl Cancer Inst, 90: 226-233, 1998.

_

30. Hunter, D.J., Spiegelman, D., Adami, H.-O., Beeson, L., van den Brandt, P.A., Folsom, A.R., Fraser, G.E., Goldbohm, R.A., Graham, S., Howe, G.R., Kushi, L.H., Marshall, J.R., McDermott, A., Miller, A.B., Speizer, F.E., Wolk, A., Yaun, S.-S., and Willett, W. Cohort studies of fat intake and the risk of breast cancer--a pooled analysis. N Engl J Med, 334: 356-361, 1996.

31. Wolk, A., Bergstrom, R., Hunter, D., Willett, W., Ljung, H., Holmberg, L., Bergkvist, L., Bruce, A., and Adami, H.-O. A prospective study of association of monounsaturated fat and other types of fat with risk of breast cancer. Arch Intern Med, 158: 41-45, 1998.

32. Howe, G.R., Hirohata, T., Hislop, T.G., Iscovich, J.M., Yuan, J.M., Katsouyanni, K., Lubin, F., Marubini, E., Modan, B., Rohan, T., Toniolo, P., and Shunzhang, Y. Dietary factors and risk of breast cancer: combined analysis of 12 case-control studies. J Natl Cancer Inst, 82: 561-569, 1990.

33. Chu, S.Y., Lee, N.C., Wingo, P.A., and Webster, L.A. Alcohol consumption and the risk of breast cancer. Am J Epidemiol, 130: 867-877, 1989.

34. Smith-Warner, S.A., Spiegelman, D., Yaun, S.S., van den Brandt, P.A., Folsom, A.R., Goldbohm, R.A., Graham, S., Holmberg, L., Howe, G.R., Marshall, J.R., Miller, A.B., Potter, J.D., Speizer, F.E., Willett, W.C., Wolk, A., and Hunter, D.J. Alcohol and breast cancer in women: a pooled analysis of cohort studies. JAMA, 279: 535-540, 1998.

35. Willett, W.C., Stampfer, M.J., Colditz, G.A., Rosner, B.A., Hennekens, C.H., and Speizer, F.E. Moderate alcohol consumption and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 316: 1174-1180, 1987.

36. Baum, M., Ziv, Y., and Colletta, A. Prospects for the chemoprevention of breast cancer. Br Med Bull, 47: 493-503, 1991.

37. McGuire, W.L. Hormone receptors: their role in predicting prognosis and response to endocrine therapy. Semin Oncol, 5: 428-433, 1978.

38. Bruning, P.F., Bonfrer, J.M., Paridaens, R., Nooij, M., Klijn, J.G., Beex, L.V., Bruynseels, J., and Piccart, M.J. Vorozole (R83842) in the treatment of postmenopausal advanced breast cancer: relationship of serum levels of vorozole and clinical results (a study of the EORTC Breast Cancer Cooperative Group). Anticancer Drugs, 9: 419-425, 1998.

39. Dowsett, M. and Lonning, P.E. Anastrozole--a new generation in aromatase inhibition: clinical pharmacology. Oncology, 54 Suppl 2: 11-14, 1997.

40. Kaufinann, M., Jonat, W., Kleeberg, U., Eiermann, W., Janicke, F., Hilfrich, J., Kreienberg, R., Albrecht, M., Weitzel, H.K., Schmid, H., Strunz, P., Schachner-Wunschmann, E., Bastert, G., and Maass, H., for the German Zoladex Trial Group. Goserelin, a depot gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonist in the treatment of premenopausal patients with metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 7: 1113-1119, 1989.

41. Santen, R.J., Manni, A., Harvey, H., and Redmond, C. Endocrine treatment of breast cancer in women. Endocr Rev, 11: 221-265, 1990.

42. Klijn, J.G.M., de Jong, F.H., Bakker, G.H., Lamberts, S.W.J., Rodenburg, C.J., and Alexieva-Figusch, J. Antiprogestins, a new form of endocrine therapy for human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 49: 2851-2856, 1989.

43. Kloosterboer, H.J., Deckers, G.H., and Schoonen, W.G. Pharmacology of two new very selective antiprogestins: Org 31710 and Org 31806. Hum Reprod, 9 Suppl 1: 47-52, 1994.

44. Jordan, V.C. Molecular mechanisms of antiestrogen action in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 41-52, 1994.

45. Satyaswaroop, P.G., Zaino, R.J., and Mortel, R. Estrogen-like effects of tamoxifen on human endometrial carcinoma transplanted into nude mice. Cancer Res, 44: 4006-4010, 1984.

46. Russell, T., Turner, B., Riggs, L., and Speisberg, T.C. Skeletal effects of estrogen. Endocr Rev, 15: 275-300, 1994.

47. Love, R.R., Wiebe, D.A., Feyzi, J.M., Newcomb, P.A., and Chappell, R.J. Effects of tamoxifen on cardiovascular risk factors in postmenopausal women after 5 years of treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst, 86: 1534-1539, 1994.

48. Furr, B.J.A. and Jordan, V.C. The pharmacology and clinical uses of tamoxifen. Pharmac Ther, 25: 127-205, 1984.

49. Pyrhonen, S., Valavaara, R., Modig, H., Pawlicki, M., Pienkowski, T., Gundersen, S., Bauer, J., Westman, G., Lundgren, S., Blanco, G., Mella, O., Nilsson, I., Hietanen, T., Hindy, I., Vuorinen, J., and Hajba, A. Comparison of toremifene and tamoxifen in post-menopausal patients with advanced breast cancer: a randomized double-blind, the 'nordic' phase III study. Br J Cancer, 76: 270-277, 1997.

50. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Systemic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy. 133 randomised trials involving 31,000 recurrences and 24,000 deaths among 75,000 women. Lancet, 339: 1-15, 1992.

51. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Systemic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy. 133 randomised trials involving 31,000 recurrences and 24,000 deaths among 75,000 women. Lancet, 339: 71-85, 1992.

52. Rutqvist, L.E., Cedermark, B., Glas, U., Mattsson, A., Skoog, L., Somell, A., Theve, T., Wilking, N., Askergren, J., Hjalmar, M.-L., Rotstein, S., Perbeck, L., and Ringborg, U. Contralateral primary tumors in breast cancer patients in a randomized trial of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst, 83: 1299-1306, 1991.

53. Fisher, B., Costantino, J.P., Wickerham, D.L., Redmond, C.K., Kavanah, M., Cronin, W.M., Vogel, V., Robidoux, A., Dimitrov, N., Atkins, J., Daly, M., Wieand, S., Tan-Chiu, E., Ford, L., Wolmark, N., and other National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Investigators. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: Report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. J Natl Cancer Inst, 90: 1371-1388, 1998.

54. Cummings, S.R., Norton, L., Eckert, S., Grady, D., Cauley, J., Knickerbocker, R., and et.al. Raloxifene reduces the risk of breast cancer and may decrease the risk of endometrial cancer in post-menopausal women. Two-year findings from the Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation (MORE) trial. [abstract]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol, 17: 2A, 1998.

55. Horwitz, K.B., McGuire, W.L., Pearson, O.H., and Segaloff, A. Predicting response to endocrine therapy in human breast cancer: a hypothesis. Science, 189: 726-727, 1975.

56. Leonessa, F., Boulay, V., Wright, A., Thompson, E.W., Brunner, N., and Clarke, R. The biology of breast tumor progression. Acquisition of hormone independence and resistance to cytotoxic drugs. Acta Oncol, 31: 115-123, 1992.

57. Clarke, R., Dickson, R.B., and Brunner, N. The process of malignant progression in human breast cancer. Ann

Oncol, 1: 401-407, 1990.

58. Muss, H.B. Endocrine therapy for advanced breast cancer: a review. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 21: 15-26, 1992.

59. Wakeling, A.E., Dukes, M., and Bowler, J. A potent specific pure antiestrogen with clinical potential. Cancer Res, 51: 3867-3873, 1991.

60. Wakeling, A.E. and Bowler, J. Novel antioestrogens without partial agonist activity. J Steroid Biochem, 31: 645-653, 1988.

61. DeFriend, D.J., Howell, A., Nicholson, R.I., Anderson, E., Dowsett, M., Mansel, R.E., Blamey, R.W., Bundred, N.J., Robertson, J.F., Saunders, C., Baum, M., Walton, P., Sutcliffe, F., and Wakeling, A.E. Investigation of a new pure antiestrogen (ICI 182780) in women with primary breast cancer. Cancer Res, 54: 408-414, 1994.

62. Howell, A., DeFriend, D., Robertson, J., Blamey, R., and Walton, P. Response to a specific antioestrogen (ICI 182780) in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer. Lancet, 345: 29-30, 1995.

63. Fuller, P.J. The steroid receptor superfamily: mechanisms of diversity. FASEB J, 5: 3092-3099, 1991.

64. Mosselman, S., Polman, J., and Dijkema, R. ERβ: identification and characterization of a novel human estrogen receptor. FEBS lett, 392: 49-53, 1996.

65. Kuiper, G.G.J.M., Enmark, E., Pelto-Huikko, M., Nilsson, S., and Gustafsson, J.A. Cloning of a novel estrogen receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 93: 5925-5930, 1996.

66. Greene, G.L., Gilna, P., Waterfield, M., Baker, A., Hort, Y., and Shine, J. Sequence and expression of human estrogen receptor complementary DNA. Science, 231: 1150-1154, 1986.

67. Green, S., Walter, P., Kumar, V., Krust, A., Bornert, J.-M., Argos, P., and Chambon, P. Human oestrogen receptor cDNA: sequence, expression and homology to v-erb-A. Nature, 320: 134-139, 1986.

68. Walter, P., Green, S., Greene, G., Krust, A., Bornert, J.-M., Jeltsch, J.-M., Staub, A., Jensen, E., Scrace, G., Waterfield, M., and Chambon, P. Cloning of the human estrogen receptor cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 82: 7889-7893, 1985.

69. Ponglikitmongkol, M., Green, S., and Chambon, P. Genomic organization of the human oestrogen receptor gene. EMBO J, 7: 3385-3388, 1988.

70. Tora, L., Mullick, A., Metzger, D., Ponglikitmongkol, M., Park, I., and Chambon, P. The cloned human oestrogen receptor contains a mutation which alters its hormone binding properties. EMBO J, 8: 1981-1986, 1989.

71. Keavency, M., Klug, J., Dawson, M.T., Nestor, P.V., Neilan, P.V., Forde, R.C., and Gannon, F. Evidence for a previously unidentified exon in the human oestrogen receptor gene. J Mol Endocrinol, 6: 111-115, 1991.

72. Grandien, K. Determination of transcription start sites in the human estrogen receptor gene and identification of a novel, tissue-specific, estrogen receptor-mRNA isoform. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 116: 207-212, 1996.

73. Weigel, R.J., Crooks, D.L., Iglehart, J.D., and deConinck, E.C. Quantitative analysis of the transcriptional start sites of estrogen receptor in breast carcinoma. Cell Growth Differen, 6: 707-711, 1995.

74. Grandien, K., Backdahl, M., Ljunggren, O., Gustafsson, J.-A., and Berkenstam, A. Estrogen target tissue determines alternative promoter utilization of the human estrogen receptor gene in osteoblasts and tumor cell lines. Endocrinology, 136: 2223-2229, 1995.

75. Fasco, M.J. Estrogen receptor mRNA splice variants produced from the distal and proximal promoter transcripts. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 138: 51-59, 1998.

76. Tora, L., White, J., Brou, C., Tasset, D., Webster, N., Scheer, E., and Chambon, P. The human estrogen receptor has two independent nonacidic transcriptional activation functions. Cell, 59: 477-487, 1989.

77. Kumar, V., Green, S., Stack, G., Berry, M., Jin, J.-R., and Chambon, P. Functional domains of the human estrogen receptor. Cell, 51: 941-951, 1987.

78. Schwabe, J.W.R., Neuhaus, D., and Rhodes, D. Solution structure of the DNA-binding domain of the oestrogen receptor. Nature, 348: 458-461, 1990.

79. Schwabe, J.W.R., Chapman, L., Finch, J.T., and Rhodes, D. The crystal structure of the estrogen receptor DNA-binding domain bound to DNA: How receptors discriminate between their response elements. Cell, 75: 567-578, 1993.

80. Kumar, V. and Chambon, P. The estrogen receptor binds tightly to its responsive element as a ligand-induced homodimer. Cell, 55: 145-156, 1988.

81. Ylikomi, T., Bocquel, M.T., Berry, M., Gronemeyer, H., and Chambon, P. Cooperation of proto-signals for nuclear accumulation of estrogen and progesterone receptors. EMBO J, 11: 3681-3694, 1992.

82. Norris, J.D., Fan, D., Kerner, S.A., and McDonnell, D.P. Identification of a third autonomous activation domain within the human estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 747-754, 1997.

83. Chambraud, B., Berry, M., Redeuilh, G., Chambon, P., and Baulieu, E.-E. Several regions of human estrogen receptor are involved in the formation of receptor-heat shock protein 90 complexes. J Biol Chem, 265: 20686-20689, 1990.

84. Montano, M.M., Muller, V., Trobaugh, A., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. The carboxy-terminal F domain of the human estrogen receptor: Role in the transcriptional activity of the receptor and the effectiveness of antiestrogens as estrogen antagonists. Mol Endocrinol, 9: 814-825, 1995.

85. Nielsen, D.A. and Shapiro, D.J. Insights into hormonal control of messenger RNA stability. Mol Endocrinol, 4: 953-956, 1990.

86. Saceda, M., Lippman, M.E., Chambon, P., Lindsey, R.L., Ponglikitmongkol, M., Puente, M., and Martin, M.B. Regulation of the estrogen receptor in MCF-7 cells by estradiol. Mol Endocrinol, 2: 1157-1162, 1988.

87. Read, L.D., Greene, G.L., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Regulation of estrogen receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein levels in human breast cancer cell lines by sex steroid hormones, their antagonists, and growth factors. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 295-304, 1989.

88. Saceda, M., Lippman, M.E., Lindsey, R.K., Puente, M., and Martin, M.B. Role of an estrogen receptor-dependent mechanism in the regulation of estrogen receptor mRNA in MCF-7 cells. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 1782-1787, 1989.

89. Santagati, S., Gianazza, E., Agrati, P., Vegeto, E., Patrone, C., Pollio, G., and Maggi, A. Oligonucleotide
squelching reveals the mechanism of estrogen receptor autologous down-regulation. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 938-949, 1997.

90. Saceda, M., Lindsey, R.K., Solomon, H., Angeloni, S.V., and Martin, M.B. Estradiol regulates estrogen receptor mRNA stability. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 66: 113-120, 1998.

91. Ree, A.H., Landmark, B.F., Walaas, S.I., Lahooti, H., Eikvar, L., Eskild, W., and Hansson, V. Down-regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid and protein levels for estrogen receptors by phorbol ester and calcium in MCF-7 cells. Endocrinology, 129: 339-344, 1991.

92. Ree, A.H., Knutsen, H.K., Landmark, B.F., Eskild, W., and Hansson, V. Down-regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) for the estrogen receptor (ER) by phorbol ester requires ongoing RNA synthesis but not protein synthesis. Is hormonal control of ER mRNA degradation mediated by an RNA molecule? Endocrinology, 132: 1810-1814, 1992.

93. Dauvois, S., Danielian, P.S., White, R., and Parker, M.G. Antiestrogen ICI 164,384 reduces cellular estrogen receptor content by increasing its turnover. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 89: 4037-4041, 1992.

94. Muller, V., Jensen, E.V., and Knabbe, C. Partial antagonism between steroidal and nonsteroidal antiestrogens in human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res, 58: 263-267, 1998.

94a. Nawaz, Z., Lonard, D.M., Dennis, A.P., Smith, C.L., and O'Malley, B.W. Proteasome-dependent degradation of the human estrogen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 96: 1858-1862,1999.

95. Misteli, T. and Spector, D.L. Protein phosphorylation and the nuclear organization of pre-mRNA splicing. Trends Cell Biol, 7: 135-138, 1997.

96. Lamm, G.M. and Lamond, A.I. Non-snRNP protein splicing factors. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1173: 247-265, 1993.

97. Wansink, D.G., Schul, W., van der Kraan, I., van Steensel, B., van Driel, R., and de Jong, L. Fluorescent labeling of nascent RNA reveals transcription by RNA polymerase II in domains scattered throughout the nucleus. J Cell Biol, 122: 283-293, 1993.

98. Chabot, B. Directing alternative splicing: cast and scenarios. Trends Genet, 12: 472-478, 1996.

99. Zahler, A.M., Neugebauer, K.M., Lane, W.S., and Roth, M.B. Distinct functions of SR proteins in alternative pre-mRNA splicing. Science, 260: 219-222, 1993.

100. Caceres, J.F., Stamm, S., Helfman, D.M., and Krainer, A.R. Regulation of alternative splicing *in vivo* by overexpression of antagonistic splicing factors. Science, 265: 1706-1709, 1994.

101. Hedley, M.L., Amrein, H., and Maniatis, T. An amino acid sequence motif sufficient for subnuclear localization of an arginine/serine-rich splicing factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 92: 11524-11528, 1995.

102. Mermoud, J.E., Cohen, P.T.W., and Lamond, A.I. Regulation of mammalian spliceosome assembly by a protein phosphorylation mechanism. EMBO J, 13: 5679-5688, 1994.

103. Konig, H., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. Coupling of signal transduction to alternative pre-mRNA splicing by a composite splice regulator. EMBO J, 17: 2904-2913, 1998.

104. Eckert, R. and Randall, D. Animal Physiology: Mechanisms and adaptations. In: Anonymous (ed.), pp.

448-456, New York: W.H. Freeman and Company. 1983.

105. Watts, C.K.W., Handel, M.L., King, R.J.B., and Sutherland, R.L. Oestrogen receptor gene structure and function in breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 41: 529-536, 1992.

106. Jensen, E.V., Suzuki, T., Kawashima, T., Stumpf, W.E., Jungblut, P.W., and DeSombre, E.R. A two-step mechanism for interaction of estradiol with rat uterus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 59: 632-638, 1968.

107. King, W.J. and Greene, G.L. Monoclonal antibodies localize oestrogen receptor in the nuclei of target cells. Nature, 307: 745-747, 1984.

108. Welshons, W.V., Lieberman, M.E., and Gorski, J. Nuclear localization of unoccupied oestrogen receptors. Nature, 307: 747-749, 1984.

109. Kladde, M.P., Xu, M., and Simpson, R.T. Direct study of DNA-protein interactions in repressed and active chromatin in living cells. EMBO J, 15: 6290-6300, 1996.

110. Kumar, V., Green, S., Staub, A., and Chambon, P. Localisation of the oestradiol-binding and putative DNA-binding domains of the human oestrogen receptor. EMBO J, 5: 2231-2226, 1986.

111. Barrack, E.R. Steroid hormone receptor localization in the nuclear matrix: interaction with acceptor sites. J Steroid Biochem, 27: 115-121, 1987.

112. McDonnell, D.P., Clemm, D.L., Hermann, T., Goldman, M.E., and Pike, J.W. Analysis of estrogen receptor function *in vitro* reveals three distinct classes of antiestrogens. Mol Endocrinol, 9: 659-669, 1995.

113. Beekman, J.M., Allan, G.F., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. Transcriptional activation by the estrogen receptor requires a conformational change in the ligand binding domain. Mol Endocrinol, 7: 1266-1274, 1993.

114. Pham, T.A., Elliston, J.F., Nawaz, Z., McDonnell, D.P., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. Antiestrogen can establish nonproductive receptor complexes and alter chromatin structure at target enhancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 88: 3125-3129, 1991.

115. Brzozowski, A.M., Pike, A.C.W., Dauter, Z., Hubbard, R.E., Bonn, T., Engstrom, O., Ohman, L., Greene, G.L., Gustafsson, J.-A., and Carlquist, M. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature, 389: 753-758, 1997.

116. Henttu, P.M., Kalkhoven, E., and Parker, M.G. AF-2 activity and recruitment of steroid receptor coactivator 1 to the estrogen receptor depend on a lysine residue conserved in nuclear receptors. Mol Cell Biol, 17: 1832-1839, 1997.

117. Macgregor, J.J. and Jordan, C.V. Basic guide to the mechanisms of antiestrogen action. Pharmacol Rev., 50: 151-196, 1998.

118. Murphy, C.S., Parker, C.J., McCauge, R., and Jordan, V.C. Structure-activity relationships of nonisomerizable derivatives of tamoxifen: Importance of hydroxyl group and side-chain positioning for biological activity. Mol Pharmacol, 39: 421-428, 1991.

119. Parker, M.G. Action of "pure" antiestrogens in inhibiting estrogen receptor action. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 131-137, 1993.

120. Watts, C.K.W., Sweeney, K.J., Warlters, A., Musgrove, E.A., and Sutherland, R.L. Antiestrogen regulation of cell cycle progression and cyclin D1 gene expression in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 95-105, 1994.

121. Katzenellenbogen, B.S., Norman, M.J., Eckert, R.L., Peltz, S.W., and Mangel, W.F. Bioactivities, estrogen receptor interactions, and plasminogen activator-inducing activities of tamoxifen and hydroxy-tamoxifen isomers in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 44: 112-119, 1984.

122. Jordan, V.C., Collins, M.M., Rowsby, L., and Prestwich, G. A monohydroxylated metabolite of tamoxifen with potent antiestrogenic activity. J Endocrinol, 73: 305-316, 1977.

123. Berry, M., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. Role of the two activating domains of the oestrogen receptor in the cell-type and promoter-context dependent agonistic activity of the anti-oestrogen 4-hydroxytamoxifen. EMBO J, 9: 2811-2818, 1990.

124. Sabbah, M., Gouilleux, F., Sola, B., Redeuilh, G., and Balieu, E.-E. Structural differences between the hormone and antihormone estrogen receptor complexes bound to the hormone response element. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 88: 390-394, 1991.

125. Tzukerman, M.T., Esty, A., Santiso-Mere, D., Danielian, P., Parker, M.G., Stein, R.B., Pike, J.W., and McDonneil, D.P. Human estrogen receptor transactivation capacity is determined by both cellular and promoter context and mediated by two functionally distinct intramolecular regions. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 21-30, 1994.

126. Dickson, R.B. and Lippman, M.E. Growth factors in breast cancer. Endocr Rev, 16: 559-589, 1995.

127. Murphy, L.C. and Dotzlaw, H. Endogenous growth factor expression in T-47D, human breast cancer cells, associated with reduced sensitivity to antiproliferative effects of progestins and antiestrogens. Cancer Res, 49: 599-604, 1989.

128. Noguchi, S., Motomura, K., Inaji, H., Imaoka, S., and Koyama, H. Down-regulation of transforming growth factor-α by tamoxifen in human breast cancer. Cancer, 72: 131-136, 1992.

129. Colletti, R.B., Roberts, J.D., Devlin, J.T., and Copeland, K.C. Effect of tamoxifen on plasma insulin-like growth factor I in patients with breast cancer. Cancer Res, 49: 1882-1884, 1989.

130. Knabbe, C., Lippman, M.E., Wakefield, L.M., Flanders, K.C., Kasid, A., Derynck, R., and Dickson, R.B. Evidence that transforming growth factor- β is a hormonally regulated negative growth factor in human breast cancer cells. Cell, 48: 417-428, 1987.

131. Knabbe, C., Kopp, A., Hilgers, W., Lang, D., Muller, V., Zugmaier, G., and Jonat, W. Regulation and role of TGFβ production in breast cancer. Ann NY Acad Sci, 784: 263-276, 1996.

132. Butta, A., MacLennan, K., Flanders, K.C., Sacks, N.P.M., Smith, I., McKinna, A., Dowsett, M., Wakefield, L.M., Sporn, M.B., Baum, M., and Colletta, A.A. Induction of transforming growth factor β_1 in human breast cancer *in vivo* following tamoxifen treatment. Cancer Res, 52: 4261-4264, 1992.

133. MacFarlane, J.K., Fleiszer, D., and Fazekas, A.G. Studies on estrogen receptors and regression in human breast cancer. Cancer, 45: 2998-3003, 1980.

134. Gorsch, S.M., Memoli, V.A., Stukel, T.A., Gold, L.I., and Arrick, B.A. Immunohistochemical staining for transforming growth factor beta 1 associates with disease progression in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 52: 6949-6952, 1992.

135. Koli, K.M., Ramsey, T.T., Ko, Y., Dugger, T.C., Brattain, M.G., and Arteaga, C.L. Blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling does not abrogate antiestrogen-induced growth inhibition of human breast carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem, 272: 8296-8302, 1997.

136. Wolf, D.M. and Jordan, V.C. Drug resistance to tamoxifen during breast cancer therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 27: 27-40, 1993.

137. Osborne, C.K., Coronado-Heinsohn, E.B., Hilsenbeck, S.G., McCue, B.L., Wakeling, A.E., McClelland, R.A., Manning, D.L., and Nicholson, R.I. Comparison of the effects of a pure steroidal antiestrogen with those of tamoxifen in a model of human breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 87: 746-750, 1995.

138. Gottardis, M.M., Jiang, S.Y., Jeng, M.H., and Jordan, V.C. Inhibition of tamoxifen-stimulated growth of an MCF-7 tumor variant in athymic mice by novel steroidal antiestrogens. Cancer Res, 49: 4090-4093, 1989.

139. Bowler, J., Lilley, T.J., Pittam, J.D., and Wakeling, A.E. Novel steroidal pure antiestrogens. Steroids, 54: 71-99, 1989.

140. Wakeling, A.E., Newboult, E., and Peters, S.W. Effects of antioestrogens on the proliferation of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. J Mol Endocrinol, 2: 225-234, 1989.

141. Gibson, M.K., Nemmers, L.A., Beckman, W.C.J., Davis, V.L., Curtis, W.S., and Korach, K.S. The mechanism of ICI 164,384 antiestrogenicity involves rapid loss of estrogen receptor in uterine tissue. Endocrinology, 129: 2000-2010, 1991.

142. Fawell, S.E., White, R., Hoare, S., Sydenham, M., Page, M., and Parker, M.G. Inhibition of estrogen receptor-DNA binding by the 'pure' antiestrogen ICI 164,384 appears to be mediated by impaired receptor dimerization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 87: 6883-6887, 1990.

143. Arbuckle, N.D., Dauvois, S., and Parker, M.G. Effects of antioestrogens on the DNA binding activity of oestrogen receptors in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res, 20: 3839-3844, 1992.

144. Metzger, D., Berry, M., Ali, S., and Chambon, P. Effect of antagonists on DNA binding properties of the human estrogen receptor *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Mol Endocrinol, 9: 579-591, 1995.

145. Dauvois, S., White, R., and Parker, M.G. The antiestrogen ICI 182780 disrupts estrogen receptor nucleocytoplasmic shuttling. J Cell Sci, 106: 1377-1388, 1993.

146. Walker, P., Germond, J.-E., Brown-Luedi, M., Givel, F., and Wahli, W. Sequence homologies in the region preceding the transcription initiation site of the liver estrogen-responsive vitellogenin and apo-VLDLII genes. Nucleic Acids Res, 12: 8611-8626, 1984.

147. Martinez, E., Givel, F., and Wahli, W. The estrogen-responsive element as an inducible enhancer: DNA sequence requirements and conversion to a glucocorticoid-responsive element. EMBO J, 6: 3719-3727, 1986.

148. Seiler-Tuyns, A., Walker, P., Martinez, E., Merillat, A.-M., Givel, F., and Wahli, W. Identification of estrogen-responsive DNA sequences by transient expression experiments in a human breast cancer cell line. Nucleic Acids Res, 14: 8755-8770, 1986.

149. Chang, T.-C., Nardulli, A.M., Lew, D., and Shapiro, D.J. The role of estrogen response elements in expression of the *Xenopus laevis* vitellogenin B1 gene. Mol Endocrinol, 6: 346-354, 1992.

150. Kato, S., Tora, L., Yamauchi, J., Masushige, S., Bellard, M., and Chambon, P. A far upstream estrogen

response element of the ovalbumin gene contains several half-palindromic 5'-TGACC-3' motifs acting synergistically. Cell, 68: 731-742, 1992.

151. Berry, M., Nunez, A.-M., and Chambon, P. Estrogen-responsive element of the human pS2 gene is an imperfectly palindromic sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 86: 1218-1222, 1989.

152. Savouret, J.F., Bailly, A., Misrahi, M., Rauch, C., Redeuilh, G., Chauchereau, A., and Milgrom, E. Characterization of the hormone responsive element involved in the regulation of the progesterone receptor gene. EMBO J, 10: 1875-1883, 1991.

153. Sathya, G., Li, W., Klinge, C.M., Anolik, J.H., Hilf, R., and Bambara, R.A. Effects of multiple estrogen responsive elements, their spacing, and location on estrogen response of reporter genes. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 1994-2003, 1997.

154. Slater, E.P., Redeuilh, G., and Beato, M. Hormonal regulation of vitellogenin genes: An estrogen-responsive element in the *Xenopus* A2 gene and a multihormonal regulatory region in the chicken II gene. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 386-396, 1991.

154a. Qin, C., Singh, P., and Safe, S. Transcriptional activation of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-4 by 17beta-estradiol in MCF-7 cells: role of estrogen receptor-Sp1 complexes.Endocrinology 140: 2501-2508, 1999.

155. Medici, N., Nigro, V., Abbondanza, C., Moncharmont, B., Molinari, A.M., and Puca, G.A. *In vitro* binding of the purified hormone-binding subunit of the estrogen receptor to oligonucleotides containing natural or modified sequences of an estrogen-responsive element. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 555-563, 1991.

156. Cowley, S.M., Hoare, S., Mosselman, S., and Parker, M.G. Estrogen receptors α and β form heterodimers on DNA. J Biol Chem, 272: 19858-19862, 1997.

157. Wei, L.L., Hawkins, P., Baker, C., Norris, B., Sheridan, P.L., and Quinn, P.G. The amino-terminal truncated progesterone receptor isoform, PRc, enhances progestin-induced transcriptional activity. Mol Endocrinol, 10: 1379-1387, 1996.

158. Gaub, M.-P., Bellard, M., Scheuer, I., Chambon, P., and Sassone-Corsi, P. Activation of the ovalbumin gene by the estrogen receptor involves the fos-jun complex. Cell, 63: 1267-1276, 1990.

159. Webb, P., Lopez, G.N., Uht, R.M., and Kushner, P.J. Tamoxifen activation of the estrogen receptor/AP-1 pathway: potential origin for the cell-specific estrogen-like effects of antiestrogens. Mol Endocrinol, 9: 443-456, 1995.

160. Yang, N.N., Venugopalan, M., Hardikar, S., and Glasebrook, A. Identification of an estrogen response element activated by metabolites of 17β -estradiol and raloxifene. Science, 273: 1222-1225, 1996.

161. Webster, N.J.G., Green, S., Jin, J.R., and Chambon, P. The hormone-binding domains of the estrogen and glucocorticoid receptors contain an inducible transcription activation function. Cell, 54: 199-207, 1988.

162. Danielian, P.S., White, R., Lees, J.A., and Parker, M.G. Identification of a conserved region required for hormone dependent transcriptional activation by steroid hormone receptors. EMBO J, 11: 1025-1033, 1992.

163. Barettino, D., Vivanco Ruiz, M.d.M., and Stunnenberg, H.G. Characterization of the ligand-dependent transactivation domain of thyroid hormone receptor. EMBO J, 13: 3039-3049, 1994.

164. Meyer, M.-E., Gronemeyer, H., Turcotte, B., Bocquel, M.-T., Tasset, D., and Chambon, P. Steroid hormone

receptors compete for factors that mediate their enhancer function. Cell, 57: 433-442, 1989.

165. Joab, I., Radanyi, C., Renoir, M., Buchou, T., Catelli, M.-G., Binart, N., Mester, J., and Baulieu, E.-E. Common non-hormone binding component in non-transformed chick oviduct receptors of four steroid hormones. Nature, 308: 850-853, 1984.

166. Pratt, W.B. and Toft, D.O. Steroid receptor interactions with heat shock protein and immunophilin chaperones. Endocr Rev, 18: 306-360, 1997.

167. Landel, C.C., Kushner, P.J., and Greene, G.L. The interaction of human estrogen receptor with DNA is modulated by receptor-associated proteins. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 1407-1419, 1994.

168. Segnitz, B. and Gehring, U. Subunit structure of the nonactivated human estrogen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 92: 2179-2183, 1995.

169. Wiech, H., Buchner, J., Zimmerman, R., and Jakob, U. Hsp90 chaperones protein folding in vitro. Nature, 358: 169-170, 1992.

170. Devin-Leclerc, J., Meng, X., Delahaye, F., Leclerc, P., Baulieu, E.-E., and Catelli, M.-G. Interaction and dissociation by ligands of estrogen receptor and hsp90: The antiestrogen RU 58668 induces a protein synthesis-dependent clustering of the receptor in the cytoplasm. Mol Endocrinol, 12: 842-854, 1998.

171. Lee, H.S., Aumais, J., and White, J.H. Hormone-dependent transactivation by estrogen receptor chimeras that do not interact with hsp90. Evidence for transcriptional repressors. J Biol Chem, 271: 25727-25730, 1996.

172. Klinge, C.M., Brolly, C.L., Bambara, R.A., and Hilf, R. Hsp70 is not required for high affinity binding of purified calf uterine estrogen receptor to estrogen response element DNA *in vitro*. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 63: 283-301, 1997.

173. Ciocca, D.R. and Luque, E.H. Immunological evidence for the identity between the hsp27 estrogen-regulated heat shock protein and the p29 estrogen receptor-associated protein in breast and endometrial cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 20: 33-42, 1991.

174. Hayward, J.R., Coffer, A.I., and King, R.J.B. Immunoaffinity purification and characterisation of p29-an estrogen receptor related protein. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 37: 513-519, 1990.

175. Cano, A., Coffer, A.I., Adatia, R., Millis, R.R., Rubens, R.D., and King, R.J.B. Histochemical studies with an estrogen receptor-related protein in human breast tumors. Cancer Res, 46: 6475-6480, 1986.

176. Elliston, J.F., Fawell, S.E., Klein-Hitpass, L., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., Parker, M.G., and O'Malley, B.W. Mechanism of estrogen receptor-dependent transcription in a cell-free system. Mol Cell Biol, 10: 6607-6612, 1990.

177. Ing, N.H., Beekman, J.M., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. Members of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily interact with TFIIB (\$300-II). J Biol Chem, 267: 17617-17623, 1992.

178. Sadovsky, Y., Webb, P., Lopez, G., Baxter, J.D., Fitzpatrick, P.M., Gizang-Ginsberg, E., Cavailles, V., Parker, M.G., and Kushner, P.J. Transcriptional activators differ in their response to overexpression of TATA-box-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol, 15: 1554-1563, 1995.

179. Jacq, X., Brou, C., Lutz, Y., Davidson, I., Chambon, P., and Tora, L. Human TAF₁₁30 is present in a distinct TFIID complex and is required for transcriptional activation by the estrogen receptor. Cell, 79: 107-117, 1994.

180. Lazennec, G., Ediger, T.R., Petz, L.N., Nardulli, A.M., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Mechanistic aspects of estrogen receptor activation probed with constitutively active estrogen receptors: Correlations with DNA and coregulator interactions and receptor conformational changes. Mol Endocrinol, *11*: 1375-1386, 1997.

181. Onate, S.A., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science, 270: 1354-1357, 1995.

182. Halachmi, S., Marden, E., Martin, G., MacKay, H., Abbondanza, C., and Brown, M. Estrogen receptor-associated proteins: Possible mediators of hormone-induced transcription. Science, 264: 1455-1458, 1994.

183. Smith, C.L., Nawaz, Z., and O'Malley, B.W. Coactivator and corepressor regulation of the agonist/antagonist activity of the mixed antiestrogen, 4-hydroxytamoxifen. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 657-666, 1997.

184. Lavinsky, R.M., Jepsen, K., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Mullen, T.-M., Schiff, R., Del-Rio, A.L., Ricote, M., Ngo, S., Gemsch, J., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Osborne, C.K., Glass, C.K., Rosenfeld, M.G., and Rose, D.W. Diverse signaling pathways modulate nuclear receptor recruitment of N-CoR and SMRT complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 95: 2920-2925, 1998.

185. Webb, P., Nguyen, P., Shinsako, J., Anderson, C., Feng, W., Nguyen, M.P., Chen, D., Huang, S.-M., Subramanian, S., McKinerney, E., Katzenellenbogen, B.S., Stallcup, M.R., and Kushner, P.J. Estrogen receptor activation function 1 works by binding p160 coactivator proteins. Mol Endocrinol, 12: 1605-1618, 1998.

186. Takeshita, A., Yen, P.M., Misiti, S., Cardona, G.R., Liu, Y., and Chin, W.W. Molecular cloning and properties of a full-length putative thyroid hormone receptor coactivator. Endocrinology, 137: 3594-3597, 1996.

187. Spencer, T.E., Jenster, G., Burcin, M.M., Allis, C.D., Zhou, J., Mizzen, C.A., McKenna, N.J., Onate, S.A., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature, 389: 194-198, 1997.

188. Gavazzo, P., Vergani, L., Mascetti, G.C., and Nicolini, C. Effects of histone acetylation on chromatin structure. J Cell Biochem, 64: 466-475, 1997.

189. Martinez-Balbas, M.A., Bannister, A.J., Martin, K., Haus-Seuffert, P., Meisterernst, M., and Kouzarides, T. The acetyltransferase activity of CBP stimulates transcription. EMBO J, 17: 2886-2893, 1998.

190. Imhof, A. and Wolffe, A.P. Transcription: Gene control by targeted histone acetylation. Curr Biol, 8: R422-R424, 1998.

191. Shibata, H., Spencer, T.E., Onate, S.A., Jenster, G., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B. Role of Co-activators and Co-repressors in the mechanism of steroid/thyroid receptor action. Recent Prog Hormone Res, 52: 141-165, 1997.

192. Voegel, J.J., Heine, M.J.S., Zechel, C., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. TIF2, a 160 kDa transcriptional mediator for the ligand-dependent activation function AF-2 of nuclear receptors. EMBO J, 15: 3667-3675, 1996.

193. Anzick, S.L., Kononen, J., Walker, R.L., Azorsa, D.O., Tanner, M.M., Guan, X.-Y., Sauter, G., Kallioniemi, O.-P., Trent, J.M., and Meltzer, P.S. AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science, 277: 965-968, 1997.

194. Chen, H., Lin, R.J., Schiltz, R.L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy, L., Privalsky, M.L., Nakatani, Y., and Evans, R.M. Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric

activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell, 90: 569-580, 1997.

195. Verrier, C.S., Roodi, N., Yee, C.J., Bailey, L.R., Jensen, R.A., Bustin, M., and Parl, F.F. High-mobility group (HMG) protein HMG-1 and TATA-binding protein-associated factor TAF(n)30 affect estrogen receptor-mediated transcriptional activation. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 1009-1019, 1997.

196. Ogawa, Y., Aizawa, S., Shirakawa, H., and Yoshida, M. Stimulation of transcription accompanying relaxation of chromatin structure in cells overexpressing high mobility group 1 protein. J Biol Chem, 270: 9272-9280, 1995.

197. Waga, S., Mizuno, S., and Yoshida, M. Chromosomal protein HMG1 removes the transcriptional block caused by the cruciform in supercoiled DNA. J Biol Chem, 265: 19424-19428, 1990.

198. Elton, T.S. and Reeves, R. Purification and postsynthetic modifications of Friend erythroleukemic cell high mobility group protein HMG-1. Anal Biochem, 157: 53-62, 1986.

199. Hanstein, B., Eckner, R., DiRenzo, J., Halachmi, S., Liu, H., Searcy, B., Kurokawa, R., and Brown, M. p300 is a component of an estrogen receptor coactivator complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 93: 11540-11545, 1996.

200. Smith, C.L., Onate, S.A., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. CREB binding protein acts synergistically with steroid receptor coactivator-1 to enhance steroid receptor-dependent transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 93: 8884-8888, 1996.

201. Ogryzko, V.V., Schiltz, R.L., Russanova, V., Howard, B.H., and Nakatani, Y. The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell, 87: 953-959, 1996.

202. Imhof, A., Yang, X.-J., Ogryzko, V.V., Nakatani, Y., Wolffe, A.P., and Ge, H. Acetylation of general transcription factors by histone acetyltransferases. Curr Biol, 7: 689-692, 1997.

203. Torchia, J., Rose, D.W., Inostroza, J., Kamei, Y., Westin, S., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. Nature, 387: 677-684, 1997.

204. Yang, X.-J., Ogryzko, V.V., Nishikawa, J.-i., Howard, B.H., and Nakatani, Y. A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. Nature, 382: 319-324, 1996.

205. Cavailles, V., Dauvois, S., Danielian, P.S., and Parker, M.G. Interaction of proteins with transcriptionally active estrogen receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA, 91: 10009-10013, 1994.

206. Cavailles, V., Dauvois, S., L'Horset, F., Lopez, G., Hoare, S., Kushner, P.J., and Parker, M.G. Nuclear factor RIP140 modulates transcriptional activation by the estrogen receptor. EMBO J, 14: 3741-3751, 1995.

207. L'Horset, F., Dauvois, S., Heery, D.M., Cavailles, V., and Parker, M.G. RIP-140 interacts with multiple nuclear receptors by means of two distinct sites. Mol Cell Biol, 16: 6029-6036, 1996.

208. Eng, F.C.S., Barsalou, A., Akutsu, N., Mercier, I., Zechel, C., Mader, S., and White, J.H. Different classes of coactivators recognize distinct but overlapping binding sites on the estrogen receptor ligand binding domain. J Biol Chem, 273: 28371-28377, 1998.

209. Thenot, S., Henriquet, C., Rochefort, H., and Cavailles, V. Differential interaction of nuclear receptors with the putative human transcriptional coactivator hTIF1. J Biol Chem, 272: 12062-12068, 1997.

210. Le Douarin, B., Zechel, C., Garnier, J.-M., Lutz, Y., Tora, L., Pierrat, P., Heery, D., Gronemeyer, H., Chambon, P., and Losson, R. The N-terminal part of TIF1, a putative mediator of the ligand-dependent activation

function (AF-2) of nuclear receptors, is fused to B-raf in the oncogenic protein T18. EMBO J, 14: 2020-2033, 1995.

211. Rubino, D., Driggers, P., Arbit, D., Kemp, L., Miler, B., Coso, O., Pagliai, K., Gray, K., Gutkind, S., and Segars, J. Characterization of Brx, a novel Dbl family member that modulates estrogen receptor action. Oncogene, 16: 2513-2526, 1998.

212. Feng, W., Ribeiro, R.C.J., Wagner, R.L., Nguyen, H., Apriletti, J.W., Fletterick, R.J., Baxter, J.D., Kushner, P.J., and West, B.L. Hormone-dependent coactivator binding to a hydrophobic cleft on nuclear receptors. Science, 280: 1747-1749, 1998.

213. Heery, D.M., Kalkhoven, E., Hoare, S., and Parker, M.G. A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature, 387: 733-736, 1997.

214. Westin, S., Kurokawa, R., Nolte, R.T., Wisely, G.B., McInerney, E.M., Rose, D.W., Milburn, M.W., Rosenfeld, M.G., and Glass, C.K. Interactions controlling the assembly of nuclear-receptor heterodimers and co-activators. Nature, 395: 199-202, 1998.

215. Nolte, R.T., Wisely, G.B., Westin, S., Cobb, J.E., Lambert, M.H., Kurokawa, R., Rosenfeld, M.W., Willson, T.M., Glass, C.K., and Milburn, M.V. Ligand binding and co-activator assembly of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-g. Nature, 395: 137-143, 1998.

216. Onate, S.A., Boonyaratanakornkit, V., Spencer, T.E., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., Edwards, D.P., and O'Malley, B.W. The steroid receptor coactivator-1 contains multiple receptor interacting and activation domains that cooperatively enhance the activation function 1 (AF1) and AF2 domains of steroid receptors. J Biol Chem, 273: 12101-12108, 1998.

217. Chen, J.D. and Evans, R.M. A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature, 377: 454-457, 1995.

218. Horlein, A.J., Naar, A.M., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Gloss, B., Kurokawa, R., Ryan, A., Kamei, Y., Soderstrom, M., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. Ligand-independent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature, 377: 397-404, 1995.

219. Zamir, I., Zhang, J., and Lazar, M.A. Stoichiometric and steric principles governing repression by nuclear hormone receptors. Genes Dev, 11: 835-846, 1998.

220. Heinzel, T., Lavinsky, R.M., Mullen, T.-M., Soderstrom, M., Laherty, C.D., Torchia, J., Yang, W.-M., Brard, G., Ngo, S.D., Davie, J.R., Seto, E., Eisenman, R.N., Rose, D.W., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature, 387: 43-48, 1997.

221. Alland, L., Muhle, R., Hou, H.J., Potes, J., Chin, L., Schreiber-Agus, N., and DePinho, R.A. Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature, 387: 49-55, 1997.

222. Laherty, C.D., Yang, W.-M., Sun, J.-M., Davie, J.R., Seto, E., and Eisenman, R.N. Histone deacetylates associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell, 89: 349-356, 1997.

223. Nagy, L., Kao, H.-Y., Chakravarti, D., Lin, R.J., Hassig, C.A., Ayer, D.E., Schreiber, S.L., and Evans, R.M. Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell, 89: 373-380, 1997.

224. Zhang, X., Jeyakumar, M., Petukhov, S., and Bagchi, M.K. A nuclear receptor corepressor modulates

transcriptional activity of antagonist-occupied steroid hormone receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 12: 513-524, 1998.

225. Jackson, T.A., Richer, J.K., Bain, D.L., Takimoto, G.S., Tung, L., and Horwitz, K.B. The partial agonist activity of antagonist-occupied steroid receptors is controlled by a novel hinge domain-binding coactivator L7/SPA and the corepressors N-CoR and SMRT. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 693-705, 1997.

226. Laherty, C.D., Billin, A.N., Lavinsky, R.M., Yochum, G.S., Bush, A.C., Sun, J.-M., Mullen, T.M., Davie, J.R., Rose, D.W., Glass, C.K., Rosenfeld, M.G., Ayer, D.E., and Eisenman, R.N. SAP30, a component of the mSin3 corepressor complex involved in N-CoR-mediated repression by specific transcription factors. Mol Cell, 2: 33-42, 1998.

227. Wood, J.R., Greene, G.L., and Nardulli, A.M. Estrogen response elements function as allosteric modulators of estrogen receptor conformation. Mol Cell Biol, 18: 1927-1934, 1998.

228. Zwijsen, R.M.L., Wientjens, E., Klompmaker, R., van der Sman, J., Bernards, R., and Michalides, R.J.A.M. CDK-independent activation of estrogen receptor by cyclin D1. Cell, 88: 405-415, 1997.

229. Porter, W., Saville, B., Hoivik, D., and Safe, S. Functional synergy between the transcription factor Sp1 and the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 1569-1580, 1997.

230. Zeiner, M. and Gehring, U. A protein that interacts with members of the nuclear hormone receptor family: identification and cDNA cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 92: 11465-11469, 1995.

231. Nirmala, P.B. and Thampan, R.V. A 55-kDa protein (p55) of the goat uterus mediates nuclear transport of the estrogen receptor. Arch Biochem Biophy, 319: 551-561, 1995.

232. Kato, S., Endoh, H., Masuhiro, Y., Kitamoto, T., Uchiyama, S., Sasaki, H., Masushige, S., Gotoh, Y., Nishida, E., Kawashima, H., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science, 270: 1491-1494, 1995.

233. Joel, P.B., Smith, J., Sturgill, T.W., Fisher, T.L., Blenis, J., and Lannigan, D.A. pp90^{mk1} regulates estrogen receptor-mediated transcription through phosphorylation of Ser-167. Mol Cell Biol, *18*: 1978-1984, 1998.

234. Castano, E., Vorojeikina, D.P., and Notides, A.C. Phosphorylation of serine-167 on the human oestrogen receptor is important for oestrogen response element binding and transcriptional activation. Biochem J, 326: 149-157, 1997.

235. Trowbridge, J.M., Rogatsky, I., and Garabedian, M.J. Regulation of estrogen receptor transcriptional enhancement by the cyclin A/Cdk2 complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 94: 10132-10137, 1997.

236. Arnold, S.F., Obourn, J.D., Jaffe, H., and Notides, A.C. Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor by mitogen-activated protein kinase and casein kinase II: consequence on DNA binding. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 55: 163-172, 1995.

237. Arnold, S.F., Obourn, J.D., Jaffe, H., and Notides, A.C. Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor on tyrosine 537 *in vivo* and by *src* family tyrosine kinases *in vitro*. Mol Endocrinol, 9: 24-33, 1995.

238. Arnold, S.F., Obourn, J.D., Jaffe, H., and Notides, A.C. Serine 167 is the major estradiol-induced phosphorylation site on the human estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 1208-1214, 1994.

239. Le Goff, P., Montano, M.M., Schodin, D.J., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor. Identification of hormone-regulated sites and examination of their influence on transcriptional

activity. J Biol Chem, 269: 4458-4466, 1994.

240. Joel, P.B., Traish, A.M., and Lannigan, D.A. Estradiol-induced phosphorylation of serine 118 in the estrogen receptor is independent of p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem, 273: 13317-13323, 1998.

241. Ali, S., Metzger, D., Bornert, J.-M., and Chambon, P. Modulation of transcriptional activation by ligand-dependent phosphorylation of the human oestrogen receptor A/B region. EMBO J, 12: 1153-1160, 1993.

242. Lahooti, H., White, R., Danielian, P.S., and Parker, M.G. Characterization of ligand-dependent phosphorylation of the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 182-188, 1994.

243. Denton, R.R., Koszewski, N.J., and Notides, A.C. Estrogen receptor phosphorylation. Hormonal dependence and consequence on specific DNA binding. J Biol Chem, 267: 7263-7268, 1992.

244. Aronica, S.M. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Stimulation of estrogen receptor-mediated transcription and alteration in the phosphorylation state of the rat uterine estrogen receptor by estrogen, cyclic adenosine monophosphate, and insulin-like growth factor-I. Mol Endocrinol, 7: 743-752, 1993.

245. Ignar-Trowbridge, D.M., Teng, C.T., Ross, K.A., Parker, M.G., Korach, K.S., and McLachlan, J.A. Peptide growth factors elicit estrogen receptor-dependent transcriptional activation of an estrogen-responsive element. Mol Endocrinol, 7: 992-998, 1993.

246. Bunone, G., Briand, P.-A., Miksicek, R.J., and Picard, D. Activation of the unliganded estrogen receptor by EGF involves the MAP kinase pathway and direct phosphorylation. EMBO J, 15: 2174-2183, 1996.

247. Weis, K.E., Ekena, K., Thomas, J.A., Lazennec, G., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Constitutively active human estrogen receptors containing amino acid substitutions for tyrosine 537 in the receptor protein. Mol Endocrinol, 10: 1388-1398, 1996.

248. Zhang, Q.-X., Borg, A., Wolf, D.M., Oesterreich, S., and Fuqua, S.A. An estrogen receptor mutant with strong hormone-independent activity from a metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res, 57: 1244-1249, 1997.

249. Arnold, S.F., Vorojeikina, D.P., and Notides, A.C. Phosphorylation of tyrosine 537 on the human estrogen receptor is required for binding to an estrogen response element. J Biol Chem, 270: 30205-30212, 1995.

250. Arnold, S.F., Obourn, J.D., Yudt, M.R., Carter, T.H., and Notides, A.C. In vivo and in vitro phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 52: 159-171, 1995.

251. Beatson, G.T. On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: suggestion for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. Lancet, 3: 104-107, 1896.

252. Jensen, E.V. and Jacobson, H.I. Basic guides to the mechanisms of estrogen action. Recent Prog Horm Res, 18: 387-408, 1962.

253. Apter, D., Reinila, M., and Vihko, R. Some endocrine characteristics of early menarche, a risk factor for breast cancer, are preserved into adulthood. Int J Cancer, 44: 783-787, 1989.

254. Lippman, M., Bolan, G., and Huff, K. The effects of estrogens and antiestrogens on hormone-responsive human breast cancer in long-term tissue culture. Cancer Res, 36: 4595-4601, 1976.

255. Russo, I.H. and Russo, J. Role of hormones in mammary cancer initiation and progression. J Mammary Gland Biol Neopl, 3: 49-61, 1998.

256. Jordan, V.C. Effect of tamoxifen (ICI 46,474) on initiation and growth of DMBA-induced rat mammary carcinomata. Eur J Cancer, 12: 419-424, 1976.

257. Gottardis, M.M. and Jordan, V.C. Antitumor actions of keoxifene and tamoxifen in the N-nitrosomethylurea-induced rat mammary carcinoma model. Cancer Res, 47: 4020-4024, 1987.

258. Jordan, V.C., Gottardis, M.M., Robinson, S.P., and Friedl, A. Immune-deficient animals to study "hormone-dependent" breast and endometrial cancer. J Steroid Biochem, 34: 169-176, 1989.

259. Soule, H.D. and McGrath, C.M. Estrogen responsive proliferation of clonal human breast carcinoma cells in athymic mice. Cancer Lett, 10: 177-189, 1980.

260. Levenson, A.S. and Jordan, V.C. MCF-7: The first hormone-responsive breast cancer cell line. Cancer Res, 57: 3071-3078, 1997.

261. Berthois, Y., Katzenellenbogen, J.A., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 83: 2496-2500, 1986.

262. Yager, J.D. and Liehr, J.G. Molecular mechanisms of estrogen carcinogenesis. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 36: 203-232, 1996.

263. Swaneck, G.E. and Fishman, J. Covalent binding of the endogenous estrogen 16α -hydroxyestrone to estradiol receptor in human breast cancer cells: Characterization and intracellular localization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 85: 7831-7835, 1988.

264. Schneider, J., Kinne, D., Fracchia, A., Pierce, V., Anderson, K.E., Bradlow, H.L., and Fishman, J. Abnormal oxidative metabolism of estradiol in women with breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 79: 3047-3051, 1982.

265. Schutze, N., Vollmer, G., Tiemann, I., Geiger, M., and Knuppen, R. Catecholestrogens are MCF-7 cell estrogen receptor agonists. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 46: 781-789, 1993.

266. Seger, R. and Krebs, E.G. The MAPK signaling cascade. FASEB J, 9: 726-735, 1995.

267. Hennipman, A., van Oirschot, B.A., Smits, J., Rijksen, G., and Stall, G.E.J. Tyrosine kinase activity in breast cancer, benign breast disease, and normal breast tissue. Cancer Res, 49: 516-521, 1989.

268. Chedin, M., Filhol, O., Duminy, C., Bolla, M., Benistant, C., Roche, S., Chambaz, E.M., and Cochet, C. Characterization of two different cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinases from human breast cancer. Carcinogenesis, 18: 1463-1472, 1997.

269. Ottenhoff-Kalff, A.E., Rijksen, G., van Beurden, E.A.C.M., Hennipman, A., Michels, A.A., and Staal, G.E.J. Characterization of protein tyrosine kinases from human breast cancer: involvement of the *c-src* oncogene product. Cancer Res, 52: 4773-4778, 1992.

270. Sivaraman, V., Wang, H.-y., Nuovo, G.J., and Malbon, C.C. Hyperexpression of mitogen-activated protein kinase in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest, 99: 1478-1483, 1997.

271. Cobb, M.H. and Goldsmith, E.J. How MAP kinases are regulated. J Biol Chem, 270: 14843-14846, 1995.

272. Chardin, P., Camonis, J.H., Gale, N.W., Van Aelst, L., Schlessinger, J., Wigler, M.H., and Bar-Sagi, D. Human Sos I: a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Ras that binds to GRB2. Science, 260: 1338-1346, 1993.

273. Payne, D.M., Rossomando, A.J., Martino, P., Erickson, A.K., Her, J.-H., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D.F., Weber, M.J., and Sturgill, T.W. Identification of the regulatory phosphorylation sites in pp42/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAP kinase). EMBO J, 10: 885-892, 1991.

274. Di Domenico, M., Castoria, G., Bilancio, A., Migliaccio, A., and Auricchio, F. Estradiol activation of human colon carcinoma-derived Caco-2 cell growth. Cancer Res, 56: 4516-4521, 1996.

275. Endoh, H., Sasaki, H., Maruyama, K., Takeyama, K.-i., Waga, I., Shimizu, T., Kato, S., and Kawashima, H. Rapid activation of MAP kinase by estrogen in the bone cell line. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 235: 99-102, 1997.

276. Migliaccio, A., Di Domenico, M., Castoria, G., de Falco, A., Bontempo, P., Nola, E., and Auricchio, F. Tyrosine kinase/p21^{an}/MAP-kinase pathway activation by estradiol-receptor complex in MCF-7 cells. EMBO J, 15: 1292-1300, 1996.

277. Watters, J.J., Campbell, J.S., Cunningham, M.J., Krebs, E.G., and Dorsa, D.M. Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: effects of estrogen on mitogen activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription. Endocrinology, 138: 4030-4033, 1997.

278. Bonapace, I.M., Addeo, R., Altucci, L., Cicatiello, L., Bifulco, M., Laezza, C., Salzano, S., Sica, V., Bresciani, F., and Weisz, A. 17β-Estradiol overcomes a G1 block induced by HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and fosters cell cycle progression without inducing ERK-1 and -2 MAP kinases activation. Oncogene, 12: 753-763, 1996.

279. Migliaccio, A., Piccolo, D., Castoria, G., Di Domenico, M., Bilancio, A., Lombardi, M., Gong, W., Beato, M., and Auricchio, F. Activation of the Src/p21^m/Erk pathway by progesterone receptor via cross-talk with estrogen receptor. EMBO J, 17: 2008-2018, 1998.

280. Chao, T.-S.O., Abe, M., Hershenson, M.B., Gomes, I., and Rosner, M.R. Src tyrosine kinase mediates stimulation of Raf-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase by the tumor promoter thapsigargin. Cancer Res, 57: 3168-3173, 1997.

281. Lippman, M.E. and Dickson, R.B. Mechanisms of growth control in normal and malignant breast epithelium. Recent Prog Horm Res, 45: 383-434, 1989.

282. Venter, D.J., Tuzi, N.L., Kumar, S., and Gullick, W.J. Overexpression of the c-erbB-2 oncoprotein in human breast carcinomas: immunohistological assessment correlates with gene amplification. Lancet, 2: 69-72, 1987.

283. King, C.R., Kraus, M.H., and Aaronson, S.A. Amplification of a novel v-erbB-related gene in a human mammary carcinoma. Science, 229: 974-976, 1985.

284. Berger, M.S., Locher, G.W., Saurer, S., Gullick, W.J., Waterfield, M.D., Groner, B., and Hynes, N.E. Correlation of *c-erbB-2* gene amplification and protein expression in human breast carcinoma with nodal status and nuclear grading. Cancer Res, 48: 1238-1243, 1988.

285. Muller, W.J., Sinn, E., Pattengale, P.K., Wallace, R., and Leder, P. Single-step induction of mammary adenocarcinoma in transgenic mice bearing the activated c-new oncogene. Cell, 54: 105-115, 1988.

286. Janes, P.W., Daly, R.J., deFazio, A., and Sutherland, R.L. Activation of the Ras signalling pathway in human breast cancer cells overexpressing *erbB*-2. Oncogene, 9: 3601-3608, 1994.

287. Fiddes, R.J., Janes, P.W., Sivertsen, S.P., Sutherland, R.L., Musgrove, E.A., and Daly, R.J. Inhibition of the MAP kinase cascade blocks heregulin-induced cell cycle progression in T-47D human breast cancer cells.

Oncogene, 16: 2803-2813, 1998.

288. Slamon, D.J., Godolphin, W., Jones, L.A., Holt, J.A., Wong, S.G., Keith, D.E., Levin, W.J., Stuart, S.G., Udove, J., Ullrich, A., and Press, M.F. Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science, 244: 707-712, 1989.

289. Elledge, R.M., Green, S., Ciocca, D., Pugh, R., Allred, D.C., Clark, G.M., Hill, J., Ravdin, P., O'Sullivan, J., Martino, S., and Osborne, C.K. HER-2 expression and response to tamoxifen in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: A Southwest Oncology Group Study. Clin Cancer Res, 4: 7-12, 1998.

290. Chrysogelos, S.A., Yarden, R.I., Lauber, A.H., and Murphy, J.A. Mechanisms of EGF receptor regulation in breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 227-236, 1994.

291. Klijn, J.G.M., Berns, P.M.J.J., Schimitz, P.I.M., and Foekens, J.A. The clinical significance of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) in human breast cancer. A review of 5232 patients. Endocr Rev, 13: 3-17, 1992.

292. Nicholson, S., Sainsbury, J.R.C., Halcrow, P., Chambers, P., Farndon, J.R., and Harris, A.L. Expression of epidermal growth factor receptors associated with lack of response to endocrine therapy in recurrent breast cancer. Lancet, 1: 182-185, 1989.

293. Nicholson, S., Halcrow, P., Sainsbury, J.R.C., Angus, B., Chambers, P., Farndon, J.R., and Harris, A.L. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFr) status associated with failure of primary endocrine therapy in elderly postmenopausal patients with breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 58: 810-814, 1988.

294. Davidson, N.E., Gelmann, E.P., Lippman, M.E., and Dickson, R.B. Epidermal growth factor receptor gene expression in estrogen receptor-positive and negative human breast cancer cell lines. Mol Endocrinol, 1: 216-223, 1987.

295. Murphy, L.C., Dotzlaw, H., Wong, M.S.J., Miller, T., Mrockowski, B., Gong, Y., and Murphy, L.J. Epidermal growth factor: receptor and ligand expression in human breast cancer. Sem Cancer Biol, 1: 305-315, 1990.

296. Dickson, R.B., Huff, K.K., Spencer, E.M., and Lippman, M.E. Induction of epidermal growth factor-related polypeptides by 17β-estradiol in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Endocrinology, 118: 138-142, 1986.

297. Dickson, R.B., McManaway, M.E., and Lippman, M.E. Estrogen-induced factors of breast cancer cells partially replace estrogen to promote tumor growth. Science, 232: 1540-1543, 1986.

298. Reynolds, F.H., Todaro, G.J., Fryling, C., and Stephenson, J.R. Human transforming growth factors induce tyrosine phosphorylation of EGF receptors. Nature, 292: 259-262, 1981.

299. Bates, S.E., Davidson, N.E., Valverius, E.M., Freter, C.E., Dickson, R.B., Tam, J.P., Kudlow, J.E., Lippman, M.E., and Salomon, D.S. Expression of transforming growth factor α and its messenger ribonucleic acid in human breast cancer: Its regulation by estrogen and its possible functional significance. Mol Endocrinol, 2: 543-555, 1988.

300. Sandgren, E.P., Luetteke, N.C., Palmiter, R.D., Brinster, R.L., and Lee, D.C. Overexpression of TGF α in transgenic mice: induction of epithelial hyperplasia, pancreatic metaplasia, and carcinoma of the breast. Cell, 61: 1121-1135, 1990.

301. Matsui, Y., Haher, S.A., Holt, J.T., Hogan, B.L.M., and Coffey, R.J. Development of mammary hyperplasia and neoplasia in MMTV-TGFα transgenic mice. Cell, 61: 1147-1155, 1990.

302. Coffey, R.J.J., Meise, K.S., Matsui, Y., Hogan, B.L.M., Dempsey, P.J., and Halter, S.A. Acceleration of mammary neoplasia in transforming growth factor α transgenic mice by 7,12-dimethylbenzanthracene. Cancer Res, 54: 1678-1683, 1994.

303. Ciardiello, F., McGeady, M.L., Kim, N., Basolo, F., Hynes, N., Langton, B.C., Yokozaki, H., Saeki, T., Elliot, J.W., Masui, H., Mendelsohn, J., Soule, H., Russo, J., and Salomon, D.S. Transforming growth factor- α expression is enhanced in human mammary epithelial cells transformed by an activated c-Ha-*ras* protooncogene but not by the c-*new* protooncogene, and overexpression of the transforming growth factor- α complementary DNA leads to transformation. Cell Growth Differen, 1: 407-420, 1990.

304. Clarke, R., Brunner, N., Katz, D., Glanz, P., Dickson, R.B., Lippman, M.E., and Kern, F.G. The effects of a constitutive expression of transforming growth factor- α on the growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 372-380, 1989.

305. Karey, K.P. and Sirbasku, D.A. Differential responsiveness of human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and T47D to growth factors and 17β-estradiol. Cancer Res, 48: 4083-4092, 1988.

306. Myal, Y., Shiu, R.P., Bhaumick, B., and Bala, M. Receptor binding and growth-promoting activity of insulin-like growth factors in human breast cancer cells (T-47D) in culture. Cancer Res, 44: 5486-5490, 1984.

307. Yee, D., Paik, S., Lebovic, G.S., Marcus, R.R., Favoni, R.E., Cullen, K.J., Lippman, M.E., and Rosen, N. Analysis of insulin-like growth factor 1 gene expression in malignancy: evidence for a paracrine role in human breast cancer. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 509-517, 1989.

308. Yee, D., Cullen, K.J., Paik, S., Perdue, J.F., Hampton, B., Schwartz, A., Lippman, M.E., and Rosen, N. Insulin-like growth factor II mRNA expression in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 48: 6691-6696, 1988.

309. Cullen, K.J., Yee, D., Sly, W.S., Perdue, J., Hampton, B., Lippman, M.E., and Rosen, N. Insulin-like growth factor receptor expression and function in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 50: 48-53, 1990.

310. Resnik, J.L., Reichart, D.B., Huey, K., Webster, N.J.G., and Seely, B.L. Elevated insulin-like growth factor I receptor autophosphorylation and kinase activity in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 58: 1159-1164, 1998.

311. Papa, V., Gliozzo, B., Clark, G.M., McGuire, W.L., Moore, D., Fujita-Yamaguchi, Y., Vigneri, R., Goldfine, I.D., and Pezzino, V. Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptors are overexpressed and predict a low risk in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 53: 3736-3740, 1993.

312. Stewart, A.J., Johnson, M.D., May, F.E.B., and Westley, B.R. Role of insulin-like growth factors and the type I insulin-like growth factor receptor in the estrogen-stimulated proliferation of human breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 265: 21172-21178, 1990.

313. Papa, V., Pezzino, V., Costantino, A., Belfiore, A., Giuffrida, D., Frittitta, L., Vannelli, G.B., Brand, R., Goldfine, I.D., and Vigneri, R. Elevated insulin receptor content in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest, 86: 1503-1510, 1990.

314. Milazzo, G., Giorgino, F., Damante, G., Sung, C., Stampfer, M.R., Vigneri, R., Goldfine, I.D., and Belifore, A. Insulin receptor expression and function in human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res, 52: 3924-3930, 1992.

315. Rasmussen, A.A. and Cullen, K.J. Paracrine/autocrine regulation of breast cancer by the insulin-like growth factors. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 47: 219-233, 1998.

316. Ignar-Trowbridge, D.M., Pimentel, M., Parker, M.G., McLachlan, J.A., and Korach, K.S. Peptide growth

factor cross-talk with the estrogen receptor requires the A/B domain and occurs independently of protein kinase C or estradiol. Endocrinology, 137: 1735-1744, 1996.

317. Getzenberg, R.H., Pienta, K.J., and Coffey, D.S. The tissue matrix: Cell dynamics and hormone action. Endocr Rev, 11: 399-417, 1990.

318. Moll, R., Franke, W.W., and Schiller, D.L. The catalog of human cytokeratins: Patterns of expression in normal epithelia, tumors and cultured cells. Cell, 31: 11-24, 1982.

319. Fey, E.G. and Penman, S. Tumor promoters induce a specific morphological signature in the nuclear matrix-intermediate filament scaffold of Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cell colonies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 81: 859-866, 1981.

320. Fey, E.G., Wan, K.M., and Penman, S. Epithelial cyoskeletal framework and nuclear matrix-intermediate filament scaffold: Three-dimensional organization and protein composition. J Cell Biol, 98: 1973-1984, 1984.

321. Pienta, K.J. and Coffey, D.S. Nuclear-cytoskeletal interactions: Evidence for physical connections between the nucleus and cell periphery and their alteration by transformation. J Cell Biochem, 49: 357-365, 1992.

322. Djabali, K., Portier, M.-M., Gros, F., Blobel, G., and Georgatos, S.D. Network antibodies identify nuclear lamin B as a physiological attachment site for peripheral intermediate filaments. Cell, 64: 109-121, 1991.

323. Georgatos, S.D. and Blobel, G. Lamin B constitutes an intermediate filament attachment site at the nuclear envelope. J Cell Biol, 105: 117-125, 1987.

324. Hozak, P., Sasseville, A.M.-J., Raymond, Y., and Cook, P.R. Lamin proteins form an internal nucleoskeleton as well as a peripheral lamina in human cells. J Cell Sci, 108: 635-644, 1995.

325. Martell, R.E., Strahler, J.R., and Simpson, R.U. Identification of lamin B and histones as 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃-regulated nuclear phosphoproteins in HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem, 267: 7511-7519, 1992.

326. Spencer, V.A., Coutts, A.S., Samuel, S.K., Murphy, L.C., and Davie, J.R. Estrogen regulates the association of intermediate filament proteins with nuclear DNA in human breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 273: 29093-29097, 1998.

327. Traub, P., Nelson, W.J., Kuhn, S., and Vorgia, C.E.S. The interaction *in vitro* of the intermediate filament protein vimentin with naturally occurring RNAs and DNAs. J Biol Chem, 258: 1456-1466, 1983.

328. Boudreau, N., Myers, C., and Bissell, M.J. From laminin to lamin: Regulation of tissue-specific gene expression by the ECM. Trends Cell Biol, 5: 1-4, 1995.

329. Seely, K.A. and Aggeler, J. Modulation of milk protein synthesis through alteration of the cytoskeleton in mouse mammary epithelial cells cultured on a reconstituted basement membrane. J Cell Physiol, 146: 117-130, 1991.

330. Blum, J.L. and Wicha, M.S. Role of the cytoskeleton in laminin induced mammary gene expression. J Cell Physiol, 135: 13-22, 1988.

331. Weaver, V.M., Petersen, O.W., Wang, F., Larabell, C.A., Briand, P., Damsky, C., and Bissell, M.J. Reversion of the malignant phenotype of human breast cancer cells in three-dimensional culture and *in vivo* by integrin blocking antibodies. J Cell Biol, 137: 231-245, 1997.

332. Berezney, R. and Coffey, D.S. Identification of a nuclear protein matrix. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 60: 1410-1417, 1974.

333. Cook, P.R. The nucleoskeleton and the topology of replication. Cell, 66: 627-635, 1991.

334. Getzenberg, R.H., Pienta, K.J., Ward, W.S., and Coffey, D.S. Nuclear structure and the three-dimensional organization of DNA. J Cell Biochem, 47: 289-299, 1991.

335. Huang, S. and Spector, D.L. Nascent pre-mRNA transcripts are associated with nuclear regions enriched in splicing factors. Genes Dev, 5: 2288-2302, 1991.

336. Carter, K.C., Bowan, D., Carrington, W., Fogarty, K., McNeill, J.A., Fay, F.S., and Lawrence, J.B. A three-dimensional view of precursor messenger RNA metabolism within the mammalian nucleus. Science, 259: 1330-1335, 1993.

337. Alexander, R.B., Greene, G.L., and Barrack, E.R. Estrogen receptors in the nuclear matrix: Direct demonstration using monoclonal antireceptor antibody. Endocrinology, 120: 1851-1857, 1987.

338. Getzenberg, R.H. and Coffey, D.S. Tissue specificity of the hormonal response in sex accessory tissues is associated with nuclear matrix protein patterns. Mol Endocrinol, 4: 1336-1342, 1990.

339. Fey, E.G. and Penman, S. Nuclear matrix proteins reflect cell type of origin in cultured human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 85: 121-125, 1989.

340. Dworetsky, S.I., Fey, E.G., Penman, S., Lian, J.B., and Stein, G.S. Progressive changes in the protein composition of the nuclear matrix during rat osteoblast differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 87: 4605-4609, 1990.

341. Partin, A.W., Getzenberg, R.H., Carmichael, M.J., Vindivich, D., Yoo, J., Epstein, J.I., and Coffey, D.S. Nuclear matrix protein patterns in human benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. Cancer Res, 53: 744-746, 1993.

342. Khanuja, P.S., Lehr, J.E., Soule, H.D., Gehani, S.K., Noto, A.C., Choudhury, S., Chen, R., and Pienta, K.J. Nuclear matrix proteins in normal and breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 53: 3394-3398, 1993.

343. Samuel, S.K., Minish, T.M., and Davie, J.R. Nuclear matrix proteins in well and poorly differentiated human breast cancer cell lines. J Cell Biochem, 66: 9-15, 1997.

344. Metzger, D.A. and Korach, K.S. Cell-free interaction of the estrogen receptor with mouse uterine nuclear matrix: Evidence of saturability, specificity, and resistance to KCl extraction. Endocrinology, *126*: 2190-2195, 1990.

345. Stein, G.S., van Wijnen, A.J., Stein, J.L., Lian, J.B., Bidwell, J.P., and Montecino, M. Nuclear architecture supports integration of physiological regulatory signals for transcription of cell growth and tissue-specific genes during osteoblast differentiation. J Cell Biochem, 55: 4-15, 1994.

346. Feuilloley, M. and Vaudry, H. Role of the cytoskeleton in adrenocortical cells. Endocr Rev, 17: 269-288, 1996.

347. Asch, H.L., Mayhew, E., Lazo, R.O., and Asch, B.B. Lipids noncovalently associated with keratins and other cytoskeletal proteins of mouse mammary epithelial cells in primary culture. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1034: 303-308, 1990.

348. Sarria, A.J., Panini, S.R., and Evans, R.M. A functional role for vimentin intermediate filaments in the metabolism of lipoprotein-derived cholesterol in human SW-13 cells. J Biol Chem, 267: 19455-19463, 1992.

349. Kannan, S., Balaram, P., Chandran, G.J., Pillai, M.R., Mathew, B., Nalinakumari, K.R., and Nair, M.K. Differential expression of cytokeratin proteins during tumour progression in oral mucosa. Epithelial Cell Biol, 3: 61-69, 1994.

350. Ferrero, M., Spyratos, F., Le Doussal, V., Desplaces, A., and Rouesse, J. Flow cytometric analysis of DNA content and keratins using CK7, CK8, CK18, CK19 and KL1 monoclonal antibodies in benign and malignant human breast tumors. Cytometry, 11: 716-724, 1990.

351. Nandi, S., Guzman, R.C., and Yang, J. Hormones and mammary carcinogenesis in mice, rats, and humans: A unifying hypothesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 92: 3650-3657, 1995.

352. Clarke, R., Skaar, T., Baumann, K., Leonessa, F., James, M., Lippman, J., Thompson, E.W., Freter, C., and Brunner, N. Hormonal carcinogenesis in breast cancer: cellular and molecular studies of malignant progression. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 237-248, 1994.

353. Horwitz, K.B. Mechanisms of hormone resistance in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 119-130, 1993.

354. Welshons, W.V. and Jordan, V.C. Adaptation of estrogen-dependent MCF-7 cells to low estrogen (phenol red-free) culture. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 23: 1935-1939, 1987.

355. Jiang, S.-Y., Wolf, D.M., Yingling, J.M., Chang, C., and Jordan, V.C. An estrogen receptor positive MCF-7 clone that is resistant to antiestrogens and estradiol. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 90: 77-86, 1992.

356. Katzenellenbogen, B.S., Kendra, K.L., Norman, M.J., and Berthois, Y. Proliferation, hormonal responsiveness, and estrogen receptor content of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in the short-term and long-term absence of estrogens. Cancer Res, 47: 4355-4360, 1987.

357. Clarke, R., Brunner, N., Katzenellenbogen, B.S., Thompson, E.W., Norman, M.J., Koppi, C., Paik, S., Lippman, M.E., and Dickson, R.B. Progression of human breast cancer cells from hormone-dependent to hormone-independent growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 86: 3649-3653, 1989.

358. Daly, R.J. and Darbre, P., D. Cellular and molecular events in loss of estrogen sensitivity in ZR-75-1 and T-47-D human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 50: 5868-5875, 1990.

359. Masamura, S., Santner, S.J., Heitjan, D.F., and Santen, R.J. Estrogen deprivation causes estradiol hypersensitivity in human breast cancer cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 80: 2918-2925, 1995.

360. Cho, H., NG, P.A., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Differential regulation of gene expression by estrogen in estrogen growth-independent and -dependent MCF-7 human breast cancer cell sublines. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 1323-1330, 1991.

361. van den Berg, H.W., Martin, J., and Lynch, M. High progesterone receptor concentration in a variant of the ZR-75-1 human breast cancer cell line adapted to growth in oestrogen free conditions. Br J Cancer, 61: 504-507, 1990.

362. Murphy, C.S., Pink, J.J., and Jordan, V.C. Characterization of a receptor-negative, hormone-nonresponsive clone derived from a T47D human breast cancer cell line kept under estrogen-free conditions. Cancer Res, 50: 7285-7292, 1990.

363. Murphy, C.S., Meisner, L.F., Wu, S.Q., and Jordan, V.C. Short- and long-term estrogen deprivation of T47D human breast cancer cells in culture. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 25: 1777-1788, 1989.

364. Brunner, N., Boulay, V., Fojo, A., Freter, C.E., Lippman, M.E., and Clarke, R. Acquisition of hormone-independent growth in MCF-7 cells is accompanied by increased expression of estrogen-regulated genes but without detectable DNA amplifications. Cancer Res, 53: 283-290, 1993.

365. Brunner, N., Frandsen, T.L., Holst-Hansen, C., Bei, M., Thompson, E.W., Wakeling, A.E., Lippman, M.E., and Clarke, R. MCF7/LCC2: A 4-hydroxytamoxifen resistant human breast cancer variant that retains sensitivity to the steriodal antiestrogen ICI 182,780. Cancer Res, 53: 3229-3232, 1993.

366. Brunner, N., Boysen, B., Jirus, S., Skaar, T.C., Holst-Hansen, C., Lippman, J., Frandsen, T., Spang-Thomsen, M., Fuqua, S.A.W., and Clarke, R. MCF7/LCC9: An antiestrogen-resistant MCF-7 variant in which acquired resistance to the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 182,780 confers an early cross-resistance to the nonsteroidal antiestroidal antiestrogen tamoxifen. Cancer Res, 57: 3486-3493, 1997.

367. Larsen, S.S., Madsen, M.W., Jensen, B.L., and Lykkesfeldt, A.E. Resistance of human breast-cancer cells to the pure steroidal anti-estrogen ICI 182,780 is not associated with a general loss of estrogen-receptor expression or lack of estrogen responsiveness. Int J Cancer, 72: 1129-1136, 1997.

368. Lykkesfeldt, A.E., Madsen, M.W., and Briand, P. Altered expression of estrogen-regulated genes in a tamoxifen-resistant and ICI 164,384 and ICI 182,780 sensitive human breast cancer cell line, MCF-7/TAM^R-1. Cancer Res, 54: 1587-1595, 1994.

369. Parl, F.F., Cavener, D.R., and Dupont, W.D. Genomic DNA analysis of the estrogen receptor gene in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 14: 57-64, 1989.

370. Karnik, P.S., Kulkarni, S., Liu, X.-P., Budd, G.T., and Bukowski, R.M. Estrogen receptor mutations in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer. Cancer Res, 54: 349-353, 1994.

371. Iwase, H., Greenman, J.M., Barnes, D.M., Hodgson, S., Bobrow, L., and Mathew, C.G. Sequence variants of the estrogen receptor (ER) gene found in breast cancer patients with ER negative and progesterone receptor positive tumors. Cancer Lett., 108: 179-184, 1996.

372. Roodi, N., Bailey, L.R., Kao, W.-Y., Verrier, C.S., Yee, C.J., Dupont, W.D., and Parl, F.F. Estrogen receptor gene analysis in estrogen receptor-positive and receptor-negative primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 87: 446-451, 1995.

373. Garcia, T., Sanchez, M., Cox, J.L., Shaw, P.A., Ross, J.B.A., Lehrer, S., and Schachter, B. Identification of a variant form of the human estrogen receptor with an amino acid replacement. Nucleic Acids Res, 17: 83641989.

374. Yaich, L., Dupont, W.D., Cavener, D.R., and Parl, F.F. Analysis of a *PvwII* restriction fragment-length polymorphism and exon structure of the estrogen receptor gene in breast cancer and peripheral blood. Cancer Res, *52*: 77-83, 1992.

375. Hill, S.M., Fuqua, S.A.W., Chamness, G.C., Greene, G.L., and McGuire, W.L. Estrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer associated with an estrogen receptor gene restriction fragment length polymorphism. Cancer Res, 49: 145-148, 1989.

376. Garcia, T., Lehrer, S., Bloomer, W.D., and Schachter, B. A variant estrogen receptor messenger ribonucleic acid is associated with reduced levels of estrogen binding in human mammary tumors. Mol Endocrinol, 2: 785-791, 1988.

377. Lehrer, S.P., Schmutzler, R.K., Rabin, J.M., and Schachter, B.S. An estrogen receptor genetic polymorphism and a history of spontaneous abortion-Correlation in women with estrogen receptor positive breast cancer but not in women with estrogen receptor negative breast cancer or in women without cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 175-180, 1993.

378. Koh, E.H., Ro, J., Wildrick, D.M., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Blick, M. Analysis of the estrogen receptor gene structure in human breast cancer. Anticancer Res, 9: 1841-1846, 1989.

379. Hopp, T.A. and Fuqua, S.A.W. Estrogen receptor variants. J Mammary Gland Biol Neopl, 3: 73-83, 1998.

380. Murphy, L.C., Leygue, E., Dotzlaw, H., Douglas, D., Coutts, A., and Watson, P.H. Oestrogen receptor variants and mutations in human breast cancer. Ann Med, 29: 221-234, 1997.

381. Smith, E.P., Boyd, J., Frank, G.R., Takahashi, H., Cohen, R.M., Specker, B., Williams, T.C., Lubahn, D.B., and Korach, K.S. Estrogen resistance caused by a mutation in the estrogen-receptor gene in a man. N Engl J Med, 331: 1056-1061, 1994.

382. Leygue, E.R., Watson, P.H., and Murphy, L.C. Estrogen receptor variants in normal human mammary tissue. J Natl Cancer Inst, 88: 284-290, 1996.

383. McGuire, W.L., Chamness, G.C., and Fuqua, S.A.W. Abnormal estrogen receptor in clinical breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 43: 243-247, 1992.

384. Leygue, E., Huang, A., Murphy, L.C., and Watson, P.H. Prevalence of estrogen receptor variant messenger RNAs in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 56: 4324-4327, 1996.

385. Murphy, L.C. and Dotzlaw, H. Variant estrogen receptor mRNA species detected in human breast cancer biopsy samples. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 687-693, 1989.

386. Fuqua, S.A.W., Fitzgerald, S.D., Allred, D.C., Elledge, R.M., Nawaz, Z., McDonnell, D.P., O'Malley, B.W., Greene, G.L., and McGuire, W.L. Inhibition of estrogen receptor action by a naturally occurring variant in human breast tumors. Cancer Res, 52: 483-486, 1992.

387. Zhang, Q.-X., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Fuqua, S.A.W., and Borg, A. Multiple spicing variants of the estrogen receptor are present in individual human breast tumors. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 59: 251-260, 1996.

388. Gotteland, M., Desauty, G., Delarue, J.C., Liu, L., and May, E. Human estrogen receptor messenger RNA variants in both normal and tumor breast tissues. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 112: 1-13, 1995.

389. Madsen, M.W., Reiter, B.E., and Lykkesfeldt, A.E. Differential expression of estrogen receptor mRNA splice variants in the tamoxifen resistant human breast cancer cell line, MCF-7/TAM^R-1 compared to the parental MCF-7 cell line. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 109: 197-207, 1995.

390. Pfeffer, U., Fecarotta, E., and Vidali, G. Coexpression of multiple estrogen receptor variant messenger RNAs in normal and neoplastic breast tissues and MCF-7 cells. Cancer Res, 55: 2158-2165, 1995.

391. Wang, Y. and Miksicek, R.J. Identification of a dominant negative form of the human estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 1707-1715, 1991.

392. Madsen, M.W., Reiter, B.E., Larsen, S.S., Briand, P., and Lykkesfeldt, A.E. Estrogen receptor messenger RNA splice variants are not involved in antiestrogen resistance in sublines of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 57: 585-589, 1997.

393. Erenburg, I., Schachter, B., Mira y Lopez, R., and Ossowski, L. Loss of an estrogen receptor isoform (ER a delta 3) in breast cancer and the consequences of its reexpression: interference with estrogen-stimulated properties of malignant transformation. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 2004-2015, 1997.

394. Koehorst, S.G.A., Cox, J.J., Donker, G.H., Lopes da Silva, S., Burbach, J.P.H., Thijssen, J.H.H., and Blankenstein, M.A. Functional analysis of an alternatively spliced estrogen receptor lacking exon 4 isolated from MCF-7 breast cancer cells and meningioma tissue. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 101: 237-245, 1994.

395. Pfeffer, U., Fecarotta, E., Arena, G., Forlani, A., and Vidali, G. Alternative splicing of the estrogen receptor primary transcript normally occurs in estrogen receptor positive tissues and cell lines. J Steroid Biochem Molec Bioł, 56: 99-105, 1996.

396. Pfeffer, U., Fecarotta, E., Castagnetta, L., and Vidali, G. Estrogen receptor variant messenger RNA lacking exon 4 in estrogen-responsive human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res, 53: 741-743, 1993.

397. Koehorst, S.G.A., Jacobs, H.M., Thijssen, J.H.H., and Blankenstein, M.A. Wild type and alternatively spliced estrogen receptor messenger RNA in human meningioma tissue and MCF7 breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 45: 227-233, 1993.

398. Huang, A., Leygue, E.R., Snell, L., Murphy, L.C., and Watson, P.H. Expression of estrogen receptor variant messenger RNAs and determination of estrogen receptor status in human breast cancer. Am J Pathol, 150: 1827-1833, 1997.

399. Fuqua, S.A.W., Fitzgerald, S.D., Chamness, G.C., Tandon, A.K., McDonnell, D.P., Nawaz, Z., O'Malley, B.W., and McGuire, W.L. Variant human breast tumor estrogen receptor with constitutive transcriptional activity. Cancer Res, 51: 105-109, 1991.

400. Zhang, Q.-X., Borg, A., and Fuqua, S.A.W. An exon 5 deletion variant of the estrogen receptor frequently coexpressed with wild-type estrogen receptor in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 53: 5882-5884, 1993.

401. Daffada, A.A.I., Johnston, S.R.D., Nicholls, J., and Dowsett, M. Detection of wild type and exon 5-deleted splice variant oestrogen receptor (ER) mRNA in ER-positive and -negative breast cancer cell lines by reverse transcription/polymerase chain reaction. J Mol Endocrinol, 13: 265-273, 1994.

402. Graham, M.L., Krett, N.L., Miller, L.A., Leslie, K.K., Gordon, D.F., Wood, W.M., Wei, L.L., and Horwitz, K.B. T47D_∞ cells, genetically unstable and containing estrogen receptor mutations, are a model for the progression of breast cancers to hormone resistance. Cancer Res, 50: 6208-6217, 1990.

403. Daffada, A.A.I. and Dowsett, M. Tissue-dependent expression of a novel splice variant of the human oestrogen receptor. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 55: 413-421, 1995.

404. Murphy, L.C., Wang, M., Coutts, A., and Dotzlaw, H. Novel mutations in the estrogen receptor messenger RNA in human breast cancers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 81: 1420-1427, 1996.

405. Pink, J.J., Wu, S.-Q., Wolf, D.M., Bilimoria, M.M., and Jordan, V.C. A novel 80 kDa human estrogen receptor containing a duplication of exons 6 and 7. Nucleic Acids Res, 24: 962-969, 1996.

406. Wang, M., Dotzlaw, H., Fuqua, S.A.W., and Murphy, L.C. A point mutation in the human estrogen receptor gene is associated with the expression of an abnormal estrogen receptor mRNA containing a 69 novel nucleotide insertion. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 44: 145-151, 1997.

407. Dotzlaw, H., Alkhalaf, M., and Murphy, L.C. Characterization of estrogen receptor variant mRNAs from

human breast cancers. Mol Endocrinol, 6: 773-785, 1992.

408. Montgomery, P.A., Scott, G.K., Luce, M.C., Kaufmann, M., and Benz, C.C. Human breast tumors containing non-DNA-binding immunoreactive (67 kDa) estrogen receptor. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 181-189, 1993.

409. Castles, C.G., Fuqua, S.A.W., Klotz, D.M., and Hill, S.M. Expression of a constitutively active estrogen receptor variant in the estrogen receptor-negative BT-20 human breast cancer cell line. Cancer Res, 53: 5934-5939, 1993.

410. Pink, J.J., Jiang, S.-Y., Fritsch, M., and Jordan, V.C. An estrogen-independent MCF-7 breast cancer cell line which contains a novel 80-kilodalton estrogen receptor-related protein. Cancer Res, 55: 2583-2590, 1995.

411. Scott, G.K., Kushner, P., Vigne, J.-L., and Benz, C.C. Truncated forms of DNA-binding estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest, 88: 700-706, 1991.

412. Moncharmont, B., Ramp, G., de Goeij, C.C.J., and Sluyser, M. Comparison of estrogen receptors in hormone-dependent and hormone-independent Grunder strain mouse mammary tumors. Cancer Res, 51: 3483-3848, 1991.

413. Raam, S., Robert, N., Pappas, C.A., and Tamura, H. Defective estrogen receptors in human mammary cancers: their significance in defining hormone dependence. J Natl Cancer Inst, 80: 756-761, 1988.

414. Desai, A.J., Luqmani, Y.A., Walters, J.E., Coope, R.C., Dagg, B., Gomm, J.J., Pace, P.E., Rees, C.N., Thirunavukkarasu, V., Shousha, S., Groome, N.P., Coombes, R., and Ali, S. Presence of exon 5-deleted oestrogen receptor in human breast cancer: functional analysis and clinical significance. Br J Cancer, 75: 1173-1184, 1997.

415. Traish, A.M., Al-Fadhli, S., Klinge, C., Kounine, M., and Quick, T.C. Identification of structurally altered estrogen receptors in human breast cancer by site-directed monoclonal antibodies. Steroids, 60: 467-474, 1995.

416. Leygue, E., Murphy, L., and Watson, P. Triple primer-polymerase chain reaction: A new way to quantify truncated mRNA expression. Am J Pathol, 148: 1097-2103, 1995.

417. Murphy, L.C., Hilsenbeck, S.G., Dotzlaw, H., and Fuqua, S.A.W. Relationship of clone 4 estrogen receptor variant mRNA expression to some known prognostic variables in human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 1: 115-159, 1995.

418. Daffada, A.A.I., Johnston, S.R.D., Smith, I.E., Detre, S., King, N., and Dowsett, M. Exon 5 deletion variant estrogen receptor messenger RNA expression in relation to tamoxifen resistance and progesterone receptor/pS2 status in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 55: 288-293, 1995.

419. Rea, D. and Parker, M.G. Effects of an exon 5 variant of the estrogen receptor in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 56: 1556-1563, 1996.

420. Fuqua, S.A.W., Allred, D.C., Elledge, R.M., Krieg, S.L., Benedix, M.G., Nawaz, Z., O'Malley, B.W., Greene, G.L., and McGuire, W.L. The ER-positive/PgR-negative breast cancer phenotype is not associated with mutations within the DNA binding domain. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 191-202, 1993.

421. Fuqua, S.A.W. and Wolf, D.M. Molecular aspects of estrogen receptor variants in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 35: 233-241, 1995.

422. Klotz, D.M., Castles, C.G., Fuqua, S.A.W., Spriggs, L.L., and Hill, S.M. Differential expression of wild-type and variant ER mRNAs by stocks of MCF-7 breast cancer cells may account for differences in estrogen responsiveness. Biochem Biophys Res Comm, 210: 609-615, 1995.

423. Pink, J.J., Fritsch, M., Bilimoria, M.M., Assikis, V.J., and Jordan, V.C. Cloning and characterization of a 77-kDa oestrogen receptor isolated from a human breast cancer cell line. Br J Cancer, 75: 17-27, 1997.

424. El-Tanani, M.K.K. and Green, C.D. Two separate mechanisms for ligand-independent activation of the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 11: 928-937, 1997.

425. Aronica, S.M. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Progesterone receptor regulation in uterine cells: Stimulation by estrogen, cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate, and insulin-like growth factor I and suppression by antiestrogens and protein kinase inhibitors. Endocrinology, 128: 2045-2052, 1991.

426. Oka, H., Chatani, Y., Hoshino, R., Ogawa, O., Kakehi, Y., Terachi, T., Okada, Y., Kawaichi, M., Kohno, M., and Yoshida, O. Constitutive activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases in human renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res, 55: 4182-4187, 1995.

427. Cho, H. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Synergistic activation of estrogen receptor-mediated transcription by estradiol and protein kinase activators. Mol Endocrinol, 7: 441-452, 1993.

428. Lahooti, H., Thorsen, T., and Aakvaag, A. Modulation of mouse estrogen receptor transcription activity by protein kinase C 8. J Mol Endocrinol, 20: 245-259, 1998.

429. Kasid, A., Lippman, M.E., Papageorge, A.G., Lowy, D.R., and Gelmann, E.P. Transfection of v-ras^H DNA into MCF-7 human breast cancer cells bypasses dependence on estrogen for tumorigenicity. Science, 228: 725-728, 1985.

430. Berns, E.M.J.J., van Staveren, I.L., Klijn, J.G.M., and Foekens, J.A. Predictive value of SRC-1 for tamoxifen response of recurrent breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 48: 87-92, 1998.

431. Ottaviano, Y.L., Issa, J.-P., Parl, F.F., Smith, H.S., Baylin, S.B., and Davidson, N.E. Methylation of the estrogen receptor gene CpG island marks loss of estrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 54: 2552-2555, 1994.

432. Barrett-Lee, P.J., Travers, M.T., McClelland, R.A., Luqmani, Y., and Coombes, R.C. Characterization of estrogen receptor messenger RNA in human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 47: 6653-6659, 1987.

433. Lapidus, R.G., Ferguson, A.T., Ottaviano, Y.L., Parl, F.F., Smith, H.S., Weitzman, S.A., Baylin, S.B., Issa, J.-P.J., and Davidson, N.E. Methylation of estrogen and progesterone receptor gene 5' CpG islands correlates with lack of estrogen and progesterone receptor gene expression in breast tumors. Clin Cancer Res, 2: 805-810, 1996.

434. Ferguson, A.T., Lapidus, R.G., Baylin, S.B., and Davidson, N.E. Demethylation of the estrogen receptor gene in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer cells can reactivate estrogen receptor gene expression. Cancer Res, 55: 2279-2283, 1995.

435. deConinck, E.C., McPherson, L.A., and Weigel, R.J. Transcriptional regulation of estrogen receptor in breast carcinomas. Mol Cell Biol, 15: 2191-2196, 1995.

436. McPherson, L.A., Baichwal, V.R., and Weigel, R.J. Identification of ERF-1 as a member of the AP2 transcription factor family. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 94: 4342-4347, 1997.

437. Clarke, R.B., Howell, A., Potten, C.S., and Anderson, E. Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast. Cancer Res, 57: 4987-4991, 1997.

438. Johnston, S.R.D., Saccani-Jotti, G., Smith, I.E., Slater, J., Newby, J., Coppen, M., Ebbs, S.R., and Dowsett, M. Changes in estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, and pS2 expression in tamoxifen-resistant human breast cancer. Cancer Res, 55: 3331-3338, 1995.

439. Gottardis, M.M. and Jordan, V.C. Development of tamoxifen-stimulated growth of MCF-7 tumors in athymic mice after long-term antiestrogen administration. Cancer Res, 48: 5183-5187, 1988.

440. Osborne, C.K., Coronado, E., Allred, D.C., Wiebe, V., and DeGregorio, M. Acquired tamoxifen resistance: correlation with reduced breast tumor levels of tamoxifen and isomerization of *trans*-4-hydroxytamoxifen. J Natl Cancer Inst, 83: 1477-1482, 1991.

441. Herman, M.E. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Response-specific antiestrogen resistance in a newly characterized MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line resulting from long-term exposure to *trans*-hydroxytamoxifen. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 59: 121-134, 1996.

442. Howell, A., Dodwell, D.J., Anderson, H., and Redford, J. Response after withdrawal of tamoxifen and progestogens in advanced breast cancer. Ann. Oncol., 3: 611-617, 1992.

443. Canney, P.A., Griffiths, T., Latief, T.N., and Priestman, T.J. Clinical significance of tamoxifen withdrawal response. Lancet, *i*: 301987.

444. Murphy, C.S., Langan-Fahey, S.M., McCague, R., and Jordan, V.C. Structure-function relationships of hydroxylated metabolites of tamoxifen that control the proliferation of estrogen-responsive T47D breast cancer cells *in vitro*. Mol Pharmacol, 38: 737-743, 1990.

445. Wiebe, V.J., Osborne, C.K., McGuire, W.L., and DeGregorio, M.W. Identification of estrogenic tamoxifen metabolite(s) in tamoxifen-resistant human breast tumors. J Clin Oncol, 10: 990-994, 1992.

446. Langan-Fahey, S.M., Tormey, D.C., and Jordan, V.C. Tamoxifen metabolites in patients on long-term adjuvant therapy for breast cancer. Eur J Cancer, 26: 883-888, 1990.

447. Wolf, D.M., Langan-Fahey, S.M., Parker, C.J., McCague, R., and Jordan, V.C. Investigation of the mechanisms of tamoxifen-stimulated breast tumor growth with nonisomerizable analogues of tamoxifen and metabolites. J Natl Cancer Inst, 85: 806-812, 1993.

448. Osborne, C.K., Jarman, M., McCague, R., Coronado, E.B., Hilsenbeck, S.G., and Wakeling, A.E. The importance of tamoxifen metabolism in tamaxifen-stimulated breast tumour growth. Chemother. Pharmacol., 34: 89-95, 1994.

449. Murphy, L.C. and Sutherland, R.L. A high-affinity binding site for the antioestrogens, tamoxifen and CI 628, in immature rat uterine cytosol which is distinct from the oestrogen receptor. J Endocr, 91: 155-161, 1981.

450. Faye, J.-C., Jozan, S., Redeuilh, G., Baulieu, E.-E., and Bayard, F. Physicochemical and genetic evidence for specific antiestrogen binding sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 80: 3158-3162, 1983.

451. Pavlik, E.J., Nelson, K., Srinivasan, S., Powell, D.E., Kenady, D.E., DePriest, P.D., Gallion, H.H., and van Nagell, J.R. Resistance to tamoxifen with persisting sensitivity to estrogen: possible mediation by excessive antiestrogen binding site activity. Cancer Res, 52: 4106-4112, 1992.

452. Fujimoto, N. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Alteration in the agonist/antagonist balance of antiestrogens by activation of protein kinase A signaling pathways in breast cancer cells: Antiestrogen selectivity and promoter dependence. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 296-304, 1994.

453. Montano, M.M., Ekena, K., Krueger, K.D., Keller, A.L., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Human estrogen receptor ligand activity inversion mutants: receptors that interpret antiestrogens as estrogens and estrogens as antiestrogens and discriminate among different antiestrogens. Mol Endocrinol, 10: 230-242, 1996.

454. Wolf, D.M. and Jordan, V.C. The estrogen receptor from a tamoxifen stimulated MCF-7 tumour variant contains a point mutation in the ligand binding domain. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 31: 129-138, 1994.

455. Daly, R.J., King, R.J.B., and Darbre, P.D. Interaction of growth factors during progression towards steroid independence in T-47-D human breast cancer cells. J Cell Biochem, 43: 199-211, 1990.

456. Kienhuis, C.B.M., Sluyser, M., de Goeij, C.C.J., Koenders, P.G., and Benraad, T.J. Epidermal growth factor receptor levels increase but epidermal growth factor receptor ligand levels decrease in mouse mammary tumors during progression from hormone dependence to hormone independence. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 26: 289-295, 1993.

457. van Agthoven, T., van Agthoven, T.L.A., Portengen, H., Foekens, J.A., and Dorssers, L.C.J. Ectopic expression of epidermal growth factor receptor induces hormone independence in ZR-75-1 human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 52: 5082-5088, 1992.

458. Valverius, E.M., Velu, T., Shankar, V., Ciardiello, F., Kim, N., and Salomon, D.S. Over-expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human breast cancer cells fails to induce an estrogen-independent phenotype. Int J Cancer, 46: 712-718, 1990.

459. Miller, D.L., El-Ashry, D., Cheville, A.L., Liu, Y., McLeskey, S.W., and Kern, F.G. Emergence of MCF-7 cells overexpressing a transfected epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) under estrogen-deplete conditions: Evidence for a role of EGFR in breast cancer growth and progression. Cell Growth Differen, 5: 1263-1274, 1994.

460. Dickson, R.B., Kasid, A., Huff, K.A., Bates, S.E., Knabbe, C., Bronzert, D., Gelmann, E.P., and Lippman, M.E. Activation of growth factor secretion in tumorigenic states of breast cancer induced by 17β-estradiol or v-Ha-ras oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA, 84: 837-841, 1987.

461. Kasid, A., Knabbe, C., and Lippman, M.E. Effect of v-ras^H oncogene transfection on estrogen-independent tumorigenicity of estrogen-dependent human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res, 47: 5733-5738, 1987.

462. El-Ashry, D., Miller, D.L., Kharbanda, S., Lippman, M.E., and Kern, F.G. Constitutive Raf-1 kinase activity in breast cancer cells induces both estrogen-independent growth and apoptosis. Oncogene, 15: 423-435, 1997.

463. Soule, H.D., Maloney, T.M., Wolman, S.R., Peterson, W.D., Brenz, R., McGrath, C.M., Russo, J., Pauley, R.J., Jones, R.F., and Brooks, S.C. Isolation and characterization of a spontaneously immortalized human breast eipthelial cell line, MCF-10. Cancer Res, 50: 6075-6086, 1990.

464. Laemmli, U.K. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature, 227: 680-685, 1970.

465. O'Farrell, P.H. High resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins. J Biol Chem, 250: 4007-4021, 1975.

466. Doucet, J.-P. and Trifaro, J.-M. A discontinous and highly porous sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide slab gel system of high resolution. Anal Biochem, 168: 265-271, 1988.

467. Heukeshoven, J. and Dernick, R. Simplified method for silver staining of proteins in polyacrylamide gels and mechanism of silver staining. Electrophoresis, 6: 103-112, 1985.

468. Delcuve, G.P. and Davie, J.R. Westerm blotting and immunochemical detection of histones electrophoretically resolved on acid-urea-triton- and sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gels. Anal Biochem, 200: 339-341, 1991.

469. Graham, F.L. and van der Eb, A.J. A new technique for the assay of infectivity of human adenovirus 5 DNA. Virology, 52: 456-467, 1973.

470. Kingston, R. Harvest and assay for chloramphenicol acetyltransferase. Current protocols in molecular biology, 1: 963-966, 1989.

471. Rosenthal, N. Identification of regulatory elements of cloned genes with functional assays. Methods in Enzymology, 152: 704-720, 1987.

472. Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F., and Sambrook, J. Molecular cloning. A laboratory manual. Second edition. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York: 1989.

473. Upender, M., Raj, L., and Weir, M. Rapid method for the elution and analysis of PCR products separated on high resolution acrylamide gels. BioTechniques, 18: 33-34, 1995.

474. Mansour, S.J., Matten, W.T., Hermann, A.S., Candia, J.M., Rong, S., Fukasawa, K., Vande Woude, G.F., and Ahn, N.G. Transformation of mammalian cells by constitutively active MAP kinase kinase. Science, 265: 966-970, 1994.

475. Kirsch, T.M., Miller-Diener, A., and Litwack, G. The nuclear matrix is the site of glucocorticoid receptor complex action in the nucleus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 137: 640-648, 1986.

476. Greulich, H. and Erikson, R.L. An analysis of Mek1 signaling in cell proliferation and transformation. J Biol Chem, 273: 13280-13288, 1998.

477. Alessi, D.R., Cuenda, A., Cohen, P., Dudley, D.T., and Saltiel, A.R. PD 098059 is a specific inhibitor of the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem, 270: 27489-27494, 1995.

478. Sapino, A., Pietribiasi, F., Bussolati, G., and Marchisio, P.C. Estrogen- and tamoxifen-induced rearrangement of cytoskeletal and adhesion structures in breast cancer MCF-7 cells. Cancer Res, 46: 2526-2531, 1986.

479. Kronenberg, M.S. and Clark, J.H. Changes in keratin expression during the estrogen-mediated differentiation of rat vaginal epithelium. Endocrinology, 117: 1480-1489, 1985.

480. Choi, I., Hoeksema, J., Gudas, L.J., and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Transcriptional regulation by estrogen of keratin 19 gene expression, a marker gene for tumor progression in estrogen receptor-positive human breast cancer cells. Endocrine Society, *Abstract P1-11*: 1998.

481. Kuang, W.W., Thompson, D.A., Hoch, R.V., and Weigel, R.J. Differential screening and suppression subtractive hybridization identified genes differentially expressed in an estrogen receptor-positive breast carcinoma cell line. Nucleic Acids Res, 26: 1116-1123, 1998.

482. Yang, G.P., Ross, D.T., Kuang, W.W., Brown, P.O., and Weigel, R.J. Combining SSH and cDNA microarrays for rapid identification of differentially expressed genes. Nucleic Acids Res, 27: 1517-1523, 1999.

483. Trask, D.K., Band, V., Zajchowski, D.A., Yaswen, P., Suh, T., and Sager, R. Keratins as markers that distinguish normal and tumor-derived mammary epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 87: 2319-2323, 1990.

484. Green, J.A., Carthew, P., Heuillet, J.E., Simpson, J.L., and Manson, M.M. Cytokeratin expression during AFB,-induced carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis, 11: 1175-1182, 1990.

485. Brotherick, I., Robson, C.N., Browell, D.A., Shenfine, J., White, M.D., Cunliffe, W.J., Shenton, B.K., Egan, M., Webb, L.A., Lunt, L.G., Young, J.R., and Higgs, M.J. Cytokeratin expression in breast cancer: phenotypic changes associated with disease progression. Cytometry, 32: 301-308, 1998.

486. van Agthoven, T., van Agthoven, T.L.A., Dekker, A., Foekens, J.A., and Dorssers, L.C.J. Induction of estrogen independence of ZR-75-1 human breast cancer cells by epigenetic alterations. Mol Endocrinol, 8: 1474-1483, 1994.

487. White, R., Fawell, S.E., and Parker, M.G. Analysis of oestrogen receptor dimerisation using chimeric proteins. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol, 40: 333-341, 1991.

488. Chaidarun, S.S. and Alexander, J.M. A tumor-specific truncated estrogen receptor splice variant enhances estrogen-stimulated gene expression. Mol Endocrinol, 12: 1355-1366, 1998.

489. Elgort, M.G., Zou, A., Marschke, K.B., and Allegretto, E.A. Estrogen and estrogen receptor antagonists stimulate transcription from the human retinoic acid receptor- α l promoter via a novel sequence. Mol Endocrinol, 10: 477-487, 1996.

490. Sukovich, D.A., Mukherjee, R., and Benfield, P.A. A novel, cell-type-specific mechanism for estrogen receptor-mediated gene activation in the absence of an estrogen-responsive element. Mol Cell Biol, 14: 7134-7143, 1994.

491. Langlois, M.-F., Zanger, K., Monden, T., Safer, J.D., Hollenberg, A.N., and Wondisford, F.E. A unique role of the β -2 thyroid hormone receptor isoform in negative regulation by thyroid hormone. Mapping of a novel amino-terminal domain important for ligand-independent activation. J Biol Chem, 272: 24927-24933, 1997.

492. Musti, A.M., Treier, M., and Bohmann, D. Reduced ubiquitin-dependent degradation of c-Jun after phosphorylation by MAP kinases. Science, 275: 400-402, 1997.

493. Zambetti, G., Ramsey-Ewing, A., Bortell, R., Stein, G., and Stein, J. Disruption of the cytoskeleton with cytochalasin D induces c-fos gene expression. Exp Cell Res, 192: 93-101, 1991.

494. Thor, A., Ohuchi, N., Hand, P.H., Callahan, R., Weeks, M.O., Theillet, C., Lidereau, R., Escot, C., Page, D.L., Vilasi, V., and Schlom, J. Biology of disease: ras gene alterations and enhanced levels of ras p21 expression in a spectrum of benign and malignant human mammary tissues. Lab Invest, 55: 603-615, 1986.

495. Pankov, R., Umezawa, A., Maki, R., Der, C.J., Hauser, C.A., and Oshima, R.G. Oncogene activation of human keratin 18 transcription via the Ras signal transduction pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 91: 873-877, 1998.

496. Ku, N.-O. and Omary, M.B. Phosphorylation of human keratin 8 *in vivo* at conserved head domain serine 23 and at epidermal growth factor-stimulated tail domain serine 431. J Biol Chem, 272: 7556-7564, 1997.

497. Ku, N.-O. and Omary, M.B. Identification of the major physiologic phosphorylation site of human keratin 18: potential kinases and a role in filament reorganization. J Cell Biol, 127: 161-171, 1994.

498. Ku, N.-O., Liao, J., and Omary, M.B. Phosphorylation of human keratin 18 serine 33 regulates binding to 14-3-3 proteins. EMBO J, 17: 1892-1906, 1998.

499. Zhou, X., Liao, J., Hu, L., Feng, L., and Omary, M.B. Characterization of the major physiologic phosphorylation site of human keratin 19 and its role in filament organization. J Biol Chem, 274: 12861-12866, 1999.

500. Tzivion, G., Luo, Z., and Avruch, J. A dimeric 14-3-3 protein is an essential cofactor for Raf kinase activity. Nature, 394: 88-92, 1998.

501. Freed, E., Symons, M., Macdonald, S.G., McCormick, F., and Ruggieri, R. Binding of 14-3-3 proteins to the protein kinase Raf and effects on its activation. Science, 265: 1713-1716, 1994.